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The HSBC Group

HSBC is one of the world’s largest banking and financial services organisations. With around 7,200 offices
in both established and faster-growing markets, HSBC aims to be where the growth is, connecting customers
to opportunities, enabling businesses to thrive and economies to prosper and, ultimately, helping people
to fulfil their hopes and realise their ambitions.

HSBC serves around 89 million customers through four global businesses: Retail Banking and Wealth
Management, Commercial Banking, Global Banking and Markets, and Global Private Banking.
Its network covers 85 countries and territories in six geographical regions: Europe, Hong Kong, Rest of
Asia-Pacific, Middle East and North Africa, North America and Latin America. The HSBC Group’s aim
is to be acknowledged as the world’s leading international bank.

Listed on the London, Hong Kong, New York, Paris and Bermuda stock exchanges, shares in HSBC Holdings plc
are held by over 220,000 shareholders in 132 countries and territories.

In 2011, HSBC’s reported profit before tax was USD 21,872 million and the underlying pre-tax profit was
USD 17,696 million. Profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company was USD 16,797 million.
Group total assets were USD 2,555 billion at 31 December 2011.

Geographical distribution of results - Contribution to profit before tax:

Year ended 31 December 2011

USDm %
Europe 4,671 21.3
Hong Kong 5,823 26.6
Rest of Asia Pacific 7,471 34.2
Middle East and North Africa 1,492 6.8
North America 100 0.5
Latin America 2,315 10.6
Profit before tax 21,872 100.0

AUTORITE
DES MARCHES FINANCIERS

AIXIF

This Registration Document was registered with the Autorité des Marchés Financiers on 25 April 2012 in accordance
with Article 212-13 of its General Regulation. It may be used in support of a financial transaction when supplemented
by a Transaction Note that has received approval from the Autorité des Marchés Financiers. This document has been
prepared by the issuer and is binding on its signatories.
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HSBC FRANCE

In 2011, HSBC France once again proved the relevance
of its universal banking model. In France, Retail Banking
and Wealth Management, Private Banking, Commercial
Banking and Global Banking and Markets activities
capitalised on the HSBC Group’s strengths — its leading
international presence, its solid financial position and its
innovation in banking and technology.

The businesses of HSBC France
and developments in its organisation
and structures

Principal activities

HSBC France’s strategy is based on a universal banking
model and relies on a comprehensive range of services
aimed at a business and retail clientele wishing to benefit
from the infrastructure and network of the HSBC
Group, one of the world’s leading financial institu-
tions. Its business activities are organised into four
business units.

Retail Banking and Wealth Management includes
Personal Financial Services and Asset Management and
Insurance activities. Personal Financial Services offers
individual services to personal and business customers
with a holistic approach to their financial needs.
Capitalising on the HSBC Group strengths, HSBC
in France continues its expansion policy in its target
segment, wealth management. With a strong presence
in the largest French cities, with almost 320 branches,
including 32 HSBC Premier Centres and direct banking
services, HSBC in France is supported by teams of
experts specialised according to customer profile and
proposals meeting our customers’ aspirations: HSBC
Premier and HSBC Advance, as well as for their private
or professional needs.

Private Banking offers products and services tailored
to the needs of resident and international high-net-worth
individuals, through the expertise of its discretionary
and advisory management teams and strong synergies
with HSBC France’s other business lines, particu-
larly with Commercial Banking and Global Banking.

Commercial Banking offers an extensive range of
domestic and international products and services pro-
viding daily support to businesses ranging from very
small enterprises to multinationals. It is supported by a
recognised expertise in accompanying businesses in their
international development, particularly in emerging
markets, by the HSBC network throughout the world,
by specialists in Cash management, Trade services and
Factoring, by a domestic network specialised by type
and size of business (10 Corporate Banking Centres,
51 “Centres d’ Affaires Entreprises” dedicated to SMEs
and 15 “Péles Entrepreneurs” dedicated to very small
enterprises) and by direct banking services for very
small enterprises and associations.
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HSBC'’s global and local scale makes it an ideal
partner for large corporations and institutional inves-
tors, their projects and transactions, both in France and
worldwide. HSBC offers a complete range of services
both in Global Markets and Global Banking activities.

2014 Strategic Plan

In 2011, HSBC France reiterated its aim to develop
as a universal bank, through its 2014 Strategic Plan,
presented on 5 July. This plan is in line with that of the
HSBC Group and follows on from the strategy adopted
by HSBC France in 2005, which aims to accelerate
its growth while improving efficiency by:

— focusing on wealth management for personal
customers;

— Dbolstering international connectivity for business
customers;

— strengthening Global Banking and Markets
positioning in Paris as a strategic hub for the
HSBC Group; and

— strengthening synergies between businesses.

With this plan, HSBC France is aiming for greater
efficiency by simplifying procedures and adapting
the organisational structure of each business line.
Implementation will not involve any forced redun-
dancies. Furthermore, performances will be improved on
the basis of a generally more competent organisational
structure, made possible by an unprecedented training
drive. More than 1,500 employees are to undergo train-
ing, primarily in commercial and reception activities.

In Retail Banking and Wealth Management, the
plan aims to:

— improve the investment and advice offering in multi-
management, discretionary management, advisory
management, annuities solutions and brokerage
platform to support the long-term investment needs
of customers, particularly within the framework
of preparations for retirement;

— further develop the wealth management expertise of
staff, particularly within HSBC Premier, providing
customers with products and services tailored
to their individual expectations;

— develop the bank’s branch network, opening
25 new branches by 2015, as well as addressing the
demand for multi-channel services and increasing
HSBC France’s Premier customer base by a third.

HSBC France aims to accelerate growth of its Private
Banking activity in France through the opening of
three new regional offices (bringing the network to six
private banking regional offices), strengthening sales
teams and increasing the synergies between the different
businesses, in particular Commercial Banking.



Commercial Banking aims to continue to strengthen
the international capabilities by increasing the number
of customer managers with an international focus, by
strengthening payments and cash management and
trade services teams dedicated to international and
by developing the direct banking model, offering
dedicated customer managers, longer branch opening
hours and attractive banking packages for small
business clients.

The Strategic Plan aims to consolidate the Global
Banking and Markets platform so that it is able to fulfil
its role as a strategic platform for Continental Europe
and a centre of excellence in euro products and equity
derivatives, in particular by increasing synergies with
other countries and broadening the products offered
to large corporate clients.

Further simplification of the HSBC France group

Main changes to organisational structures within

the HSBC France group

The strategic review undertaken by the HSBC Group
in early 2010 on the Asset Management business,
led, in France, to the merging of the main entities
having the status of asset management company. On
30 June 2011, these groupings resulted in the merger
of the company Sinopia — Société de Gestion with the
company Sinopia Asset Management and then, the
merger of the company Halbis Capital Management
(France) and Sinopia Asset Management with HSBC
Global Asset Management (France).

Prior to these mergers, the company Sinopia Asset
Management completed, within the HSBC Group, the
sale of two subsidiaries: Sinopia Asset Management
(Asia-Pacific) Limited and Sinopia Asset Management
(UK) Limited.

In order to step up its expansion among high net
worth clients, enhance synergies between Private
Banking and other business lines, and improve profit-
ability by means of better allocation and sharing of
resources, HSBC France sought to alter the organisa-
tional structure of its Private Banking business in 2011.

As far as organisation is concerned, this strategy
led in particular to the creation of a Private Banking
department within HSBC France, keeping the
HSBC Private Bank brand, to the transfer to the
HSBC network of some HSBC Private Bank France
customers and commercial staff in charge of these
customers and to the transfer of the functional reporting
of HSBC Private Wealth Managers to HSBC Global
Asset Management (France).

1 See Note I of the Parent company financial statements, page 183.

2 See page 89.

The legal merger of HSBC Private Bank France
with HSBC France took place on 31 October 2011
and the operational merger is planned for the second
quarter of 2012.

Further streamlining of the HSBC France group

The programme to simplify the HSBC France group
structures also continued, with the aim of dissolving
units that no longer serve a purpose and selling or
merging structures within the group in order to optimise
the organisation by business line.

The bank’s performance in 2011

The economic climate grew steadily worse in 2011.
During the first quarter, in line with the end of 2010,
there were encouraging signs of an economic upturn
(improvement in economic growth, rise in the stock
markets, etc.) but as of the second quarter, the economic
climate was affected by concerns over the sovereign debt
situation in the southern eurozone countries.

Despite repeated intervention from the eurozone
governments, the European Central Bank and the
International Monetary Fund, which resulted in various
stabilisation mechanisms — in particular the European
Financial Stability Facility (EFSF) — the financial crisis
escalated and affected the weakest countries first:
Greece, Ireland and Portugal in the Spring, Italy and
Spain in the Summer and then other countries, including
France and Austria, towards the end of the year.

Concerns over the long-term credit-worthiness
of eurozone countries led to a significant increase in
volatility and a decrease in liquidity in the sovereign
debt markets.

HSBC in France achieved a very satisfactory
performance in all banking and asset management
activities. Nevertheless the bank’s results were penalised
by the Rates business as France is the HSBC Group’s
global platform for euro government bonds which
suffered from the eurozone crisis, particularly since the
majority of its positions are marked to market.

HSBC France’s performance is analysed below
from three different angles:

— the individual financial statements of HSBC
France, prepared in accordance with the principal
accounting policies applicable to credit institutions
in France!;

— the consolidated financial statements of the HSBC
France group, prepared in accordance with IFRS
accounting rules as defined in Note 12 of the
consolidated financial statements;
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— HSBC in France, which also includes the Paris
branch of HSBC Bank plc!, which is engaged in
equity derivatives activities among others, as well
as subsidiaries HSBC Assurances Vie (France) and
HSBC Assurances IARD (France).

Financial results of HSBC France (parent company)
HSBC France reported a loss before tax of
EUR -129 million in 2011, compared with
EUR 681 million the previous year, although the
2010 profit before tax includes a EUR 237 million
gain on the sale of the Champs-Elysées headquarters.

Net operating income fell by 27 per cent compared
with 2010, to EUR 1,495 million.

Retail Banking achieved an excellent commercial
performance in 2011. HSBC France attracted more than
45,000 new to bank Premier customers and continued
to support its Business clients, with further growth in
medium and long-term lending.

For Global Banking and Markets, 2011 showed
an uneven performance across business lines. Global
Banking reported further growth in results, driven
by excellent business momentum in Mergers and
Acquisitions (M&A) and Lending, whilst in Global
Markets, the Rates business was significantly affected
by the sovereign debt crisis in Europe.

Operating expenses were virtually unchanged from
the previous year (+0.1 per cent). Restructuring costs
recognised in 2011 were higher than the various specific
items recognised in 2010 (such as the exceptional tax on
market professionals’ performance costs). Excluding
these specific items, the cost base remained under
tight control.

The gradual deterioration in the economic envi-
ronment had no material impact on the cost of risk,
with loan impairment charges and other credit risk
provisions down by 21 per cent to EUR 112 million.

Profit attributable to shareholders therefore

amounted to EUR 27 million in 2011 compared with
EUR 624 million in 2010.

HSBC France's consolidated results (legal entities)
The HSBC France group reported a profit before tax
of EUR 59 million compared with EUR 512 million
the previous year, which included an exceptional gain
of EUR 141 million.

Net operating income amounted to EUR 1,781 million,
decreasing by 24 per cent compared with 2010, due to
a sharp rise in volatility and lack of liquidity in euro-
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denominated sovereign debt markets. However Retail
Banking and Global Banking achieved a continued
improvement in profitability despite the worsening
market environment during the second half of the year.

The deteriorating economic climate has yet had no
significant impact on loan impairment charges, which
fell by 11 per cent compared with 2010, to EUR 109
million.

Net profit attributable to shareholders of the parent
company amounted to EUR 123 million, a decrease of
73 per cent compared with 2010.

HSBC France continued its efforts to optimise
its use of capital, but the resulting reduction in risk-
weighted assets was more than offset by business
growth and a significant rise in market risk-weighted
assets, due mainly to the introduction of the new
Basel 2.5 rules (CRD?3) on Stressed Value at Risk.
Total risk-weighted assets under ACP (Autorité de
contréle prudentiel) regulatory rules therefore rose
from EUR 33.5 billion to EUR 36.9 billion. This
increase can be broken down into credit risk-weighted
assets which fell by EUR 1.3 billion, operational
risk-weighted assets decreasing by EUR 0.3 billion
and market risk-weighted assets which increased
by EUR 5 billion, of which EUR 4 billion due to
Basel 2.5. requirements. After a dividend payout
of EUR 118 million, the Core Tier One ratio stood
at 10.7 per cent, which is well above the regulatory
minimum.

The liquidity ratio further improved from 122 per
cent to 152 per cent, which is well above the French
regulatory requirements, illustrating the importance
placed by the HSBC Group on prudent balance sheet
management. The customer deposits to customer loans?
ratio improved from 85 per cent to 92 per cent.

Estimated Impact of the Basel committee’s

new rules on the bank

As most of the new standards proposed by the Basel
committee have not yet been adopted at European level,
their impact is hard to assess and subject to some
uncertainty. Moreover, since the estimates below are
based on our positions at 31 December 2011, they do
not factor in future trends in HSBC France’s balance
sheet, nor the potential mitigating effects of any future
adjustments to our business model.

For information, HSBC France’s current assump-
tions show that the stricter rules governing the defini-
tion of regulatory capital requirements should have
a limited impact, representing less than 10 per cent
of its regulatory capital.

1 Which receives, in the form of fees, the results of derivative transactions booked in London but initiated in France.
2 Excluding repurchase agreements, reverse repurchase agreements and settlement accounts.



The impact is expected to be more significant on
risk-weighted assets.

However, HSBC France had approximately
EUR 1 billion of excess capital at 31 December 2011,
and should therefore have no difficulty in meeting
stricter Basel I11 regulatory requirements whilst main-
taining a sustained dividend payout capacity.

Contribution of France to the results

of HSBC Group operations?

HSBC’s operations in France, which also include the
insurance and equity derivatives businesses, reported
a profit before tax of EUR 191 million, decreasing by
70 per cent compared with 2010. This deterioration,
linked with Global Markets rate activities managing
euro sovereign debts, masks the satisfactory growth
achieved by Retail Banking, Commercial Banking and
Global Banking. Profit before tax excluding Global
Markets activities amounted to EUR 448 million,
increasing by 5 per cent compared to 2010.

Loan impairment charges and other credit risk
provisions, excluding impairment of Greek sovereign
debt held by the insurance subsidiary, amounted to
EUR 109 million, improving by 10 per cent compared
with 2010. In addition, net cost of risk of the Greek
sovereign debt portfolio held by the Insurance business
was limited to EUR 0.6 million as 97 per cent of the
increased impairment charges were passed on to
policyholders. Cost of risk amounted to 0.30 per cent
of loans outstanding compared to 0.38 per cent in 2010.

Operating expenses were down by 5 per cent to
EUR 1,747 million thanks to a policy of strict cost
discipline. The amount of exceptional items recognised
in 2011 such as restructuring costs related to the
2014 Strategic Plan, can be compared to that of 2010
(exceptional tax on market professionals’ performance
costs and various litigation provisions). The reported
cost efficiency ratio stood at 85 per cent due to the
negative impact of Global Markets activities.

Performance by global business

Retail Banking and Wealth Management

As part of the definition of its strategic objectives
announced in May 2011, and to offer clients a more inte-
grated Wealth Management proposition, the HSBC Group

1 By assessing capital requirements at 8 per cent of risk-weighted assets.

opted to consolidate into a single line of business all
Personal Financial Services, including life insurance
products and Asset Management. The latter was previously
part of the Global Banking and Markets business line.

Retail Banking and Wealth Management reported
a profit before tax of EUR 50 million, down by 52 per
cent compared with 2010. This decrease was mainly due
to the impact of IFRS accounting (valuation of non-
qualifying hedges and volatile items in the Insurance
business — particularly PVIF > movements) as well as
restructuring costs related to the 2014 Strategic Plan.
Adjusted for these items, profit before tax has increased
significantly.

In line with previous years, 2011 saw further
growth in the deposit base, increasing by 11 per cent
to EUR 12.3 billion. Net new money flowed mainly
into savings accounts in a climate of relatively low
interest rates, reflecting growth in the “Premier”
segment, where HSBC France attracted more than
45,000 new to bank customers, increasing the number
of Premier customers by 10 per cent to 369,000. The
total number of Retail Banking customers has increased
by 4 per cent to 823,000. The network renovation
plan has continued, with 95 branches renovated
atend 2011.

Life insurance premiums amounted to EUR 2 billion
and grew by 8 per cent compared with 2010, with
significant growth in both euro and unit-linked
investments. This performance was well above the Life-
Insurance market average in France, which suffered a
decline of about 14 per cent over the period*. Mortgages
outstanding remained stable at EUR 10.8 billion.

Asset Management, whose results are now included
in Retail Banking and Wealth Management, reorganised
its business under the single HSBC Global Asset
Management brand name to leverage HSBC’s strong
brand name and to develop a more coherent range of
customer products and improve its efficiency. The foreign
subsidiaries Sinopia Asset Management (Asia Pacific)
Limited and Sinopia Asset Management (UK) Limited
were sold within the HSBC Group during the first half of
the year. The sale of these subsidiaries, the escalation of
the crisis in the second half of the year and the widespread
slump in the stock market indexes resulted in a 25 per cent
decrease in assets under management and distribution
over the year, which amounted to EUR 70 billion at

2 The comments on pages 5 to 7 relate to the contribution of France to the results of HSBC Group operations, which includes:

— the HSBC France group, including the results of entities legally owned by HSBC France but located outside France (mainly Asset
Management businesses held abroad, CMSL in the United Kingdom), that is to say the legal scope in its entirety, and also the Paris Branch
of HSBC Bank plc, which is engaged in equity derivative activities, as well as HSBC Assurances Vie (France) and HSBC Assurances IARD
(France), to the exclusion of the costs of funding and the debt on acquisition recognised by HSBC Bank plc Paris Branch;

— dynamic money market funds in which the HSBC France group has a controlling interest, consolidated since the 1* quarter of 2008.

The financial figures are presented according to the IFRS as adopted by the HSBC Group.

3 PVIF ( Present Value of In Force) is calculated under IFRS rules applied by the HSBC Group and corresponds to the present value of

expected P&L flows of insurance contracts.

4 Fédération Frangaise des Sociétés d’Assurances (FFSA), December 2011.
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end December 2011. HSBC in France has continued to
develop synergies with the HSBC Group as illustrated
by the growth of assets in the World Selection Fund
(73 per cent increase compared to 2010; total assets now
amount to EUR 459 million).

Retail Banking assets under management have
increased from EUR 30.4 to 31.1 billion.
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Loan impairment charges fell by 9 per cent in 2011
thanks to a strong risk management policy, bringing the
loan loss rate down to 0.8 per cent of the loans book.

Despite restructuring costs related to the 2014
Strategic Plan, operating expenses fell by 1 per cent,
further improving the cost efficiency ratio from 68 per
cent to 65 per cent.

Commercial Banking

After a slight upturn in the first quarter of 2011, the
financial crisis gradually began to spread to the real
economy and burdened the economic climate. In this
adverse environment, Commercial Banking reported
a profit before tax of EUR 138 million, displaying a
significant increase of 35 per cent compared with 2010.
Average annual growth rate over the last three years
was circa 30 per cent.

Net operating income rose by 4 per cent. This
increase stemmed mainly from growth in interest income
on deposits (mainly due to a 14 per cent growth in sight
deposit balances, now amounting to EUR 10.7 billion),
banking fees on services and transactions, and growth
in the factoring business, which reported a 32 per cent
increase in revenues over the year; HSBC is now among
the top ten players in the French factoring market '.

HSBC France also continued to finance the French
economy through an active lending policy. Its medium
and long-term loans outstanding grew by 10 per cent
over the year, to EUR 7.6 billion. Total customer loans
increased by 10 per cent since 2010 to EUR 10.1 billion.

Commercial Banking’s strategy focuses primarily
on its ability to provide companies with cross-border
solutions and, in this context, the number of referrals
from and to the HSBC Group rose to 948 in 2011,
increasing by 56 per cent compared with 2010.
Trade Services activities also displayed a significant
growth of its revenues: +23 per cent compared to
2010. Commercial Banking has continued to develop
synergies and has increased Global Banking and
Markets revenues with Corporate clients by 78 per
cent. It has also further developed its Corporate
Banking customer base (clients with a turnover of
over EUR 30 million) to over 5,900, increasing by 7 per
cent compared with 2010. The number of Business
Direct clients (the direct branch specialised in small
businesses) was multiplied by 2.5.

Global Banking and Markets

Global Banking and Markets was affected by the
impacts of the sovereign debt crisis in the eurozone
during the second half of the year, resulting in a pre-tax
loss of EUR -129 million compared with a profit of
EUR 271 million in 2010.

Concerns over the eurozone government bond
issues, particularly since July, led to a significant
widening in credit spreads on sovereign bonds and an
increase in their volatility.

HSBC maintains a strong market position in these
activities, ranking as the second bookrunner in public
sector debt issues?. In addition, other Global Markets
activities, particularly structured rate derivatives
and structured equity derivatives, achieved a good
performance in the first half of the year due to
sustained customer demand. HSBC ranked fifth on
corporate debt issues?. HSBC has further reduced
its exposure to eurozone sovereign risks. At the end
of the year, exposure to sovereign risk of peripheral
eurozone countries is limited, to around 0.5 per cent
of HSBC France’s balance sheet.

Global Banking revenues before loan impairment
charges increased by 10 per cent, mainly driven by
growth in revenues from mergers and acquisitions, real
estate and leveraged finance activities, all of which
benefited from renewed demand in the second half
of the year. Revenues from operations with French
clients abroad rose by +18 per cent compared with
2010. HSBC France ended the year ranked second
in merger and acquisition deals announced in 20113
and in convertible bonds issues? and it ranked fourth
on rights issues?.

Loan impairment charges fell to almost one third
of the 2010 level, mainly due to releases of previously
accounted provisions and a low loss rate in 2011.

1 Association Frangaise des Sociétés Financieres rankings for the first nine months of 2011.

2 Dealogic Bondware league tables at end December 201 1.
3 Merger Market league tables at end December 2011.



Operating expenses fell sharply due to a decrease
in performance costs and non-recurrence of the excep-
tional tax on market professionals’ performance costs
paid in 2010.

Private Banking

Private Banking profit before tax amounts to
EUR 11 million, decreasing by 15 per cent compared
with 2010, which was supported by relatively good
market conditions and non-recurring elements.

Results were affected by difficult conditions in the
stock markets and concerns over sovereign debt in
various eurozone countries. In addition, the exit from
the Private Banking perimeter of HSBC Private Wealth
Managers and LGI contributed to a decrease in assets
under management and related revenues. On a constant
perimeter basis, net operating income amounted to
EUR 74 million, increasing by 3 per cent compared
to 2010, while assets under management decreased by
only -5 per cent.

In a difficult market environment, Private Banking
achieved strong commercial momentum by strength-
ening synergies with the HSBC France network
and finding new sources of growth, particularly
through life insurance products, whose revenues
rose to EUR 10.2 million, increasing by 17 per cent
compared to 2010.

Private Banking succeeded in improving its
profitability thanks to tight control of costs, which
were down significantly from the previous year. The
cost efficiency ratio therefore improved by a further
3 points.

Proposed resolutions

The Board of Directors has drawn up the following
resolutions to be presented at the Ordinary General
Meeting on 15 May 2012.

In Resolution 1, the Board proposes that the share-
holders, having read the Board’s management report,
the Auditors’ report on the financial statements and
the reports of the Chairman and the Auditors on the
practices of the Board and internal control and risk
management procedures, approve the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2011 as
well as the transactions reflected in those statements
or summarised in those reports.

Resolution 2 concerns the allocation of the 2011
net profit of EUR 26,504,366.97. Along with retained
earnings of EUR 2,876,979,281.99, the profit available
for distribution amounts to EUR 2,903,483,648.96.
The dividend to be paid to the shareholders would
be EUR 118,016,197.25. Therefore, retained earnings
would amount to EUR 2,785,467,451.71. The dividend
would be payable from 15 May 2012, after deduc-
tion of the interim dividend decided by the Board on
26 July 2011 and paid to shares issued as of that date.

Resolution 3 proposes that the shareholders
approve the consolidated financial statements at
31 December 2011 so as to comply with Article
L. 225-100 of the French Commercial Code, after
having heard the Statutory Auditors’ report on
consolidated financial statements.

Resolution 4 proposes that the shareholders approve
the related party agreements covered by Article L. 225-38
of the French Commercial Code, after having heard
the Auditors’ report on these agreements.

Resolution 5 proposes that the shareholders ratify the
Board’s co-optation on 22 February 2012 of Mr Antonio
Simoes as Director, to replace Mr Christophe de Backer
who has resigned.

Resolutions 6 to 9 propose that the shareholders
renew the directorships of Ms Brigitte Taittinger,
Mr Stuart Gulliver, Mr Philippe Houzé and Mr Antonio
Simoes for a term of four years ending with the Annual
General Meeting that will be called to approve the
financial statements of the year ending in 2015.

Resolution 10 proposes that the shareholders take
note of the expiry of term of office of Mr Gilbert
Landau as Director.

Resolutions 11 to 14 propose that the shareholders, on
one hand, re-elect the statutory auditor BDO France —
Léger & Associés and the alternate auditor Mr Frangois
Allain and, on the other hand, appoint KPMG Audit
FS 2 as statutory auditor and KPMG Audit FS 1 as
alternate auditor to replace respectively KPMG S.A.
and Mr Gérard Gaultry, who are retiring by rotation.

The 15" and last resolution is intended to grant full
powers to the bearer of an original, a copy or an excerpt
of the minutes of this General Meeting to carry out
the required formalities.
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Senior Executives

Directors and members of the Executive Committee

Jean Beunardeau

Chief Executive Officer, Head of Global Banking and Markets France.

Age 50. Graduated from Ecole Polytechnique, Telecom engineer and Master of Economy, he
began his career at the Ministry of Finance, mainly at the Treasury. He became Technical Advisor
to the Prime Minister in 1995. He joined HSBC France in 1997 in Corporate Finance and became
Managing Director in 2000. He is appointed co-Head of CIBM mainly in charge of Corporate
and Investment Banking in March 2004. In 2005, he is appointed Senior Corporate Vice-President.
In September 2007, he is appointed Head of Global Banking and Markets. On 1 February 2010,
he is appointed Deputy CEO and Deputy to the CEO, in addition to his current role as Head
of Global Banking and Markets France. In November 2010, he is appointed Head of Global
Banking, Continental Europe, HSBC Group. Since 10 January 2012, he has been appointed
CEO of HSBC France and retains his role as Head of Global Banking and Markets France.

Gilles Denoyel

Deputy Chief Executive Officer, Deputy to the CEO, Chief Risk Officer.

Age 57. Graduate of the Ecole des Mines de Paris, the Institut d’Etudes Politiques and the Ecole
Nationale d’Administration. In 1981, he was appointed “Inspecteur des Finances” (Financial
Controller) at the Ministry of Finance. In 1985, he entered the French Treasury, where he
successively held responsibilities on the Interministerial Committee for Industrial Reconstruction
(CIRI) and in the Insurance Department, before being put in charge of the French Privatisation
Programme. In June 1996, he joined HSBC France as Chief Financial Officer. He became General
Secretary, in charge of Logistics and Operations in 1998 and was appointed Senior Corporate
Vice-President for Finance in March 2000. In March 2004, he was appointed Deputy Chief
Executive Officer of HSBC France, in charge of support functions and finance support services.
In January 2006, he was appointed Deputy Chief Executive Officer of HSBC France, in charge
of Asset Management activities, Insurance activities and non-finance support services. Since
September 2007, he has been responsible for all risk management and control activities, and
also for relations with the regulatory supervisors. Since 10 January 2012, he has been appointed
Deputy to the CEO.

Philippe Pontet

Chairman Investment Banking.

Age 69. He joined HSBC France in 2005 as Vice-Chairman of Corporate Finance Europe.
In February 2005, he was appointed member of HSBC France’s Board. At the end of August 2007,
he was appointed member of HSBC’s European Advisory council. Over the last 30 years he
has held a number of leading positions in the French banking and industrial sectors, including
Chairman and CEO of the banking group Crédit Industriel et Commercial; Chairman and
CEO of Framatome; and Chairman of AREVA prior to joining HSBC in January 2005. Since
September 2007, he has been Chairman Investment Banking.




Other members of the Executive Committee

Anne-Lise Bapst

Head of Communication

Miguel Barrieras

Head of Commercial Banking

Marine de Bazelaire

Head of Corporate Sustainability

Xavier Boisseau

Head of Global Markets

Loic Bonnat

Chief Operating Officer, Global Banking

Anne-Catherine Colleau

Head of Operational Risk and Internal Control

Laurent Facque

Head of Compliance

Matthieu Kiss

Chief Financial Officer HSBC France and Chief Financial Officer
for Continental Europe, as of March 2011

Marc de Lapérouse

Head of Legal HSBC France and Head of Legal for Continental Europe

Mathilde Lemoine

Chief Economist and Market Strategy

Nathalie Léonard

Head of Tax

Philippe Moiroud

Chief Operating Officer, Global Banking and Markets

Francois Mongin

Head of Group Audit France

Stephen Pascoe

Head of Retail Banking and Wealth Management

Emmanuel Rémy

Chief Credit Officer

Pierre Ruhlmann

HSBC Technology and Services Officer (CTSO) HSBC France
and Deputy CTSO for Continental Europe, as of March 2011

Alexandra Serizay

Head of Strategy and Organisation

Laurent Tignard

Head of Asset Management

Jean-Pierre Wiedmer

Head of Insurance




HSBC FRANCE

Composition of the Board of Directors

Composition of the Board of Directors of HSBC France on 1 March 2012

Stuart Gulliver Born in 1959
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2009. Term ends: 20122,

Principal position:

Group Chief Executive, HSBC.

Chairman of the Board of Directors, HSBC France. Member of the HSBC France Nomination and Remuneration
Committee.

Other directorships in the HSBC Group:

Chairman, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited. Director, HSBC Holdings plc. Directorships
expired in 2011: Chairman, HSBC Private Banking Holdings (Suisse) SA. Member of the Supervisory Board and
Deputy Chairman, HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG.

Other directorships outside of the HSBC Group:
Trustee, Special Boat Service Association. Directorships expired in 2011: Trustee, Future Hope. Member, International
Adpvisors Board of President Arroyo of Philippines. Member, Heart of the City of London Limited.

Résumé:

British nationality. Executive Director of HSBC Holdings plc since May 2008, joined HSBC in 1980. Head of
Treasury and Capital Markets in Asia-Pacific from 1996 to 2002. Head of Global Markets from 2002 to 2003 and
Co-Head of Global Banking and Markets from 2003 to May 2006. Appointed a Group General Manager of the
HSBC Group in 2000 and a Group Managing Director in 2004. Chairman Europe and Middle East and Head of
Global Businesses in 2010. Group Chief Executive Officer since 1 January 2011.

Peter Boyles Born in 1955
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2007. Last re-elected: 2009.Term ends: 2013.

Principal position:

Chief Executive Officer, Continental Europe, HSBC Group.

Regional Head of Commercial Banking, Europe, HSBC Group (since 1 April 2012).
Deputy Chairman, HSBC France.

Other directorships in the HSBC Group:
Chairman, HSBC Bank plc A.S.. Director, HSBC Bank Malta plc. Director, HSBC Bank plc. Member of the
Supervisory Board, HSBC Trinkaus & Burkhardt AG.

Other directorship outside of the HSBC Group:
Member of the Supervisory Board, S.A. des Galeries Lafayette.

Résumé:

British nationality. Joined HSBC in 1975 and held various roles in the Middle East, Hong Kong and Asia. In 2000,
appointed Senior Corporate Vice-President, Corporate and Transactional Banking for HSBC in France, helping
manage the integration of CCF into the Group. Appointed as Group General Manager, became Group Head
of Human Resources in 2006. From September 2007 to January 2010, Chief Executive Officer of HSBC France.
Since 1 February 2010, Chief Executive Officer, Continental Europe for the HSBC Group and Deputy Chairman
of HSBC France.

Jean Beunardeau Born in 19623
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2008. Last re-elected: 2010. Term ends: 2014.

Principal position:
Chief Executive Officer, HSBC France (since 10 January 2012).
Head of Global Banking and Markets, France.

Other directorships in the HSBC Group:

Chairman of the Board, HSBC Global Asset Management (France) (since 10 February 2012). Director, Valeurs
Mobilieres Elysées (formerly Nobel). Directorship expired in 2011: Chairman of the Board, Fonciére Elysées.
Directorship expired in 2012: Director, HSBC Real Estate Leasing (France).

Other directorships outside of the HSBC Group:
Chairman, X-Banque. Director, Institut de la Gestion Déléguée. Directorship expired in 2011: Director, Amicale
des Anciens Eléves de Polytechnique.

1 As far as their directorship at HSBC France is concerned, the address of HSBC France’s Directors and Senior Executives
is the company’s registered office, 103, avenue des Champs-Elysées — 75419 Paris Cedex 08 — France.

2 Director standing for re-election at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 15 May 2012.

3 Résumé available on page 8.
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Gilles Denoyel Born in 1954"
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2004. Last re-elected: 2010. Term ends: 2014.

Principal position:

Deputy CEO, Deputy to the CEO, Chief Risk Officer, HSBC France.

Other directorships in the HSBC Group:

Vice-Chairman, HSBC Assurances Vie (France). Director, HSBC Assurances IARD (France). Director, HSBC Global
Asset Management (France) (permanent representative of HSBC France) (since 10 February 2012). Directorships
expired in 2011: Director, Halbis Capital Management (France). Director, Sinopia Asset Management. Member
of the Supervisory Board, HSBC Private Bank France.

Other directorships outside of the HSBC Group:
Director, DCNS. Director, Fonds de Garantie des Dépots. Director, MEDEF (permanent representative of HSBC
France). Treasurer, Association Frangaise des Banques. Chairman, Groupement des Banques Etrangéres en France.

Evelyne Cesari Born in 1949
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2000. Last re-elected: 2008. Term ends: 2012.
Director elected by employees.

Principal position:

Commercial manager, HSBC REIM.

Résumé:

Joined HSBC France in 1967.

Michel Gauduffe Born in 1959
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2008. Term ends: 2012.
Director elected by employees.

Principal position:

Deputy Head of HSBC Limoges branch, HSBC France.

Other directorships in the HSBC Group:
Deputy Chairman of the Board, Institution de Prévoyance Vernet. Deputy Chairman of the Board, Institut de Gestion
des Retraites Supplémentaires de la Caisse de Retraites HSBC France.

Other directorships outside of the HSBC Group:
Director, AGIRA. Member of the Supervisory Board, France Actionnariat Fonds.

Résumé:

Joined HSBC France in 1981.

Philippe Houzé Born in 1947
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 1999. Last re-elected: 2008. Term ends: 20122,
Independent Director. Chairman of the HSBC France Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Principal position:
Chairman of the Management Board, Groupe Galeries Lafayette.

Other directorships®:

Independent Director, HSBC Bank plc. Director, Casino, Guichard-Perrachon. Chairman, Union du Grand
Commerce de Centre-Ville (UCV). Member of the Board of Directors, National Retail Federation (NRF-USA).
Elected member, Chambre de Commerce et d’Industrie de Paris.

Résumeé:

Director of Galeries Lafayette since 1974. Chairman of Monoprix since 1994. Vice-President of the Conseil National
du Commerce since 1991. Chairman of UCV and member of the Chambre de Commerce et d’Industrie de Paris
since 2005.

1 Résumé available on page 8.
2 Director standing for re-election at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 15 May 2012.
3 For the most part, appointments held in companies which do not belong to the group in which the Director holds his principal position.
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HSBC FRANCE

Composition of the Board of Directors (continued)

Thierry Jacquaint Born in 1964
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2008. Term ends: 2012.
Director elected by employees.

Principal position:

Supervisor, HSBC Marseille Borely branch, HSBC France.

Résumé:

Joined HSBC France in 1993.

Igor Landau Born in 1944
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2002. Last re-elected: 2008. Term ends: 2012.
Independent Director.

Other directorships:
Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Adidas AG. Director, Sanofi-Aventis. Member of the Supervisory Board,
Allianz AG.

Résumé:

After several years with McKinsey, he joined Rhéne-Poulenc in 1975 as assistant to the General Manager of the
Health Division. In 1987, he was appointed Member of Rhdne-Poulenc Group’s Executive Committee and General
Manager of the Health Division and then in 1992, CEO of Rhone-Poulenc Group. After the merger with Hoechst,
he was a member of the Management Board of Aventis from 1999 to 2002 and then Chairman of the Management
Board until 30 August 2004. Since then, he has been a Director of Sanofi-Aventis.

Anne Méaux Born in 1954
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2011. Term ends: 2015.
Independent Director.

Principal position:
Chairman, Image Sept.

Other directorships:
Chairman, Com Sept Finance. Managing Director, Anne Méaux Conseil. Member of the Advisory Committee,
Women’s Forum. Deputy Chairman, Association Force Femmes.

Résumé:

Attached to the press relations department of the Elysée Palace from 1976 to 1981 then Communication Officer
for Valéry Giscard d’Estaing, former President of the French Republic and for the UDF parliamentary group in
the French National Assembly from 1981 to 1986. From 1986 to 1988, Communication Officer to the cabinet of
Alain Madelin (French Ministry of Industry). Since 1988, Chairman of Image Sept which she founded in 1988.

Thierry Moulonguet Born in 1951
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2009. Term ends: 2013.
Independent Director. Chairman of the HSBC France Audit and Risk Committee.

Principal position:

Senior Adviser, Oddo Corporate Finance (since May 2011).

Other directorships:
Director, Fimalac. Director, Fitch Rating Group Inc, Groupe Lucien Barriére (since May 2011), SsangYong Motor
CO. Ltd. (since 3 September 2011), Valéo (since 8 June 2011).

Résumé:

After having held several positions in the French public service, he joined the Finance Department of Renault in 1991.
From 1999 to 2003, Senior Vice-President, Chief Financial Officer, Member of the Executive Committee and of the
Board of Directors of Nissan. Until 30 June 2010, Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Officer of Renault
Group, and then, until 31 March 2011, Director and Special Adviser to the President of the Renault-Nissan Alliance.
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Philippe Pontet Born in 1942
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2005. Last re-elected: 2007. Term ends: 2015.

Principal position:
Chairman Investment Banking, HSBC France.

Other directorship in the HSBC Group:
Director, Valeurs Mobiliéres Elysées (formerly Nobel).

Philippe Purdy Born in 1958
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2004. Last re-elected: 2008.Term ends: 2012.
Director elected by employees.

Principal position:

Customer service, HSBC Mandelieu branch, HSBC France.

Résumé:

Joined HSBC France in 1982.

Marcel Roulet Born in 1933
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 1996. Last re-elected: 2009. Term ends: 2013.
Independent Director.

Other directorships:
Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Gimar Finances SCA. Censor, Eurazeo. Directorship expired in 2011: Director,
France Télécom.

Résumé:

Ingénieur général des Télécommunications. Honorary Chairman of France Télécom. Chairman of France Télécom
from 1991 to 1995. Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of Thomson from 1996 to 1997 and Thomson CSF (now
Thales) from 1996 to 1998.

Peter Shawyer Born in 1950
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2005. Last re-elected: 2009. Term ends: 2013.

Independent Director. Member of the HSBC France Audit and Risk Committee.

Other directorships:

Independent Director, Member of the Audit Committee and Member of the Risk Committee, HSBC Bank plc.
Chairman, British International Holdings Limited. Chairman, Ingenious Media Holdings. Chairman, Ingenious
Asset Management Limited. Director, Ingenious Asset Management International Limited. Director, FP Holdings
Limited. Directorships expired in 2011: Director, Ingenious Solar UK VCT 1 plc.

Résumé:
British nationality. He dedicated his entire career to Deloitte & Touche. He was Managing Partner and member of
the Executive Committee at Deloitte & Touche in London until 2004.

Antonio Simoes Born in 1975
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2012. Term ends: 20122,

Principal position:

Head of Retail Banking and Wealth Management, Europe, HSBC Group (since 1 January 2012).

Other directorships in the HSBC Group:
Director, HSBC Bank plc (since 1 February 2012). Director, HSBC Bank A.S. (since 24 January 2012).

Résumé:

Portugese nationality. Joined HSBC in 2007 from McKinsey & Co, where he was a Partner in the London office.
From 2007 to 2011, Head of Group Strategy and M&A activities and, from 2009, responsible for Planning and Chief
of Staff to the Group CEO. Appointed Group General Manager in 2011. From 1 Januray 2012, Group General
Manager, Head of Retail Banking and Wealth Management, Europe.

1 Résumé available on page 8.
2 Director standing for re-election at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 15 May 2012.
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HSBC FRANCE

Composition of the Board of Directors (continued)

Brigitte Taittinger Born in 1959
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2008. Term ends: 2012 1.
Independent Director.

Principal position:

Chairman and CEO, Annick Goutal.

Other directorships:
Director, Ensemble Orchestral de Paris. Director, Opéra Comique.

Résumeé:
Advertising Manager for Publicis from 1984 to 1988. Marketing Department of Groupe du Louvre from 1988
to 1990. Chairman and CEO of Annick Goutal since 1991.

Jacques Veyrat Born in 1962
Holds 1 HSBC France share. First elected: 2009. Term ends: 2013.
Independent Director. Member of the HSBC France Nomination and Remuneration Committee.

Principal position:

Chairman, Impala SAS.

Other directorships:

Director, Direct Energie. Director, Imerys, ID Logistics Group (since 22 June 2011), Powéo (since 30 September
2011). Member of the Supervisory Board, Eurazeo. Directorships expired in 2011: Chairman and CEO, Louis
Dreyfus SAS. Chairman of the Supervisory Board, Kurosawa BV.

Résumé:

After having held various positions of responsibility in several French ministries, he joined the Louis Dreyfus Group
in 1995. In 1998, he set up LDCom, renamed Neuf Telecom in 2004 and Neuf Cegetel in 2005. In April 2008, he
left Neuf Cegetel when it was sold to SFR. In May 2008, he was appointed Chairman of the Louis Dreyfus Group.
In 2011, he left the Louis Dreyfus Group and created the Impala Group.

1 Director standing for re-election at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 15 May 2012.

14



Directorships held' by the members of the Board of Directors (composition at 10 January 2012)

Information as at 31 December of each year from the year of appointment to the HSBC France Board of Directors

Director’s name

First Term

Principal position elected ends 201 2010 2009 2008 2007
Stuart Gulliver 2009 20122 Directorships Directorships  Directorships in - -
Group Chief in the HSBC inthe HSBC the HSBC Group:
Executive, HSBC. Group: Group: Chairman:
Chairman of the Chairman: Chairman: HSBC France.
Board of Directors, HSBC France, HSBC France, Director: HSBC
HSBC France. The Hongkong HSBC Private Holdings plc,
and Shanghai Banking Holdings The Hongkong
Banking (Suisse) SA. and Shanghai
Corporation Director: HSBC Banking
Limited. Holdings plc, The Corporation
Director: HSBC Hongkong and Limited, HSBC
Holdings plc. Shanghai Banking Bank plc, HSBC
Corporation  Private Banking
Directorships Limited. Holdings
outside of the Member of the (Suisse) SA.
HSBC Group: Supervisory Member of the
Trustee: Special Board and Supervisory
Boat Service  Deputy Chairman: Board and
Association. HSBCTrinkaus Deputy
& Burkhardt AG. Chairman:
HSBCTrinkaus
Directorships & Burkhardt AG.
outside of the
HSBC Group: Directorships
Trustee: outside of the
Future Hope, HSBC Group:
Special Boat Trustee:
Service Future Hope.
Association. Member:
Member: International
International ~ Advisors Board
Advisors Board of President
of President Arroyo of
Arroyo of Philippines.
Philippines,
Heart of the
City of London
Limited.
Peter Boyles 2007 2013  Directorships in Directorships in Directorships Directorships Directorships

Chief Executive
Officer, Continental
Europe,

HSBC Group.
Deputy Chairman,
HSBC France.

the HSBC Group:
Director and
Deputy
Chairman:
HSBC France.
Chairman:
HSBC Bank A. S.
Director:

HSBC Bank
Malta plc,

HSBC Bank plc.
Member of the
Supervisory
Board: HSBC
Trinkaus &
Burkhardt AG.

Directorship
outside of the
HSBC Group:

Member of the
Supervisory
Board: S.A.
des Galeries
Lafayette.

the HSBC Group:
Director and
Deputy
Chairman:
HSBC France.
Chairman:
HSBC Bank A. S.
Director:

HSBC Bank
Malta plc,

HSBC Bank plc.
Member of the
Supervisory
Board: HSBC
Trinkaus &
Burkhardt AG.

Directorship
outside of the
HSBC Group:

Member of the
Supervisory
Board: S.A.
des Galeries
Lafayette.

in the HSBC
Group:

Director and CEO:
HSBC France.

Directorship
outside of the
HSBC Group:

Member of the
Supervisory
Board: S.A.
des Galeries
Lafayette.

in the HSBC
Group:

in the HSBC
Group:

Director and CEQ: Director and CEO:

HSBC France.

HSBC France.

1 Primarily appointments held in companies which do not belong to the group in which the Director holds his principal position.
2 Director standing for re-election at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 15 May 2012.
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HSBC FRANCE

Composition of the Board of Directors (continued)

Director’s name
Principal position

First Term

elected ends

2011

2010

2009

2008

2007

Jean Beunardeau
Chief Executive
Officer, HSBC France
(since 10 January
2012).

Head of Global
Banking and Markets,
France.

16

2008 2014

Directorships in
the HSBC Group:
Director and
Deputy CEO:
HSBC France.
Director: Valeurs
Mobilieres
Elysées, HSBC
Global Asset
Management
(France)
(permanent
representative
of HSBC
France),

HSBC Real
Estate Leasing
(France).

Directorships
outside of the
HSBC Group:
Chairman:
X-Banque.
Director:
Institut de

la Gestion
Déléguée.

Directorships in
the HSBC Group:
Director and
Deputy CEO:
HSBC France.
Chairman of the
Board: Fonciéere
Elysées.
Director:

Nobel, HSBC
Global Asset
Management
(France)
(permanent
representative
of HSBC
France),

HSBC Real
Estate Leasing
(France).

Directorships
outside of the
HSBC Group:
Chairman:
X-Banque.
Director:
Amicale

des Anciens
Eleves de
Polytechnique,
Institut de

la Gestion
Déléguée.

Directorships in
the HSBC Group:
Director:

HSBC France,
HSBC Epargne
Entreprise,
Nobel, HSBC
Global Asset
Management
(France)
(permanent
representative
of HSBC France).
Chairman of the
Board: Fonciére
Elysées.

Directorships
outside of the
HSBC Group:
Director:
X-Banque,
Amicale

des Anciens
Eléves de
Polytechnique,
Institut de

Directorships in
the HSBC Group:
Director:

HSBC France,
HSBC Epargne
Entreprise,
Nobel, HSBC
Global Asset
Management
(France)
(permanent
representative
of HSBC France).
Chairman of the
Board: Fonciére
Elysées.

Directorships
outside of the
HSBC Group:
Director:
X-Banque,
Amicale

des Anciens
Eleves de
Polytechnique,
Institut de la

la Gestion Gestion Déléguée.

Déléguée.



Director’s name First Term
Principal position elected ends 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Gilles Denoyel 2004 2014  Directorships in Directorshipsin  Directorshipsin  Directorshipsin  Directorships in
Deputy CEO, the HSBC Group:  the HSBC Group: the HSBC Group: the HSBC Group: the HSBC Group:
Deputy to the CEO, Director and Director and Director and Director and Director and
Chief Risk Officer, Deputy CEO: Deputy CEO: Deputy CEO: Deputy CEO: Deputy CEO:
HSBC France. HSBC France. HSBC France. HSBC France. HSBC France. HSBC France.
Vice-Chairman: Vice-Chairman: Vice-Chairman: Vice-Chairman:  Vice-Chairman:
HSBC HSBC HSBC HSBC Erisa.
Assurances Vie Assurances Vie Assurances Vie Assurances Vie Director: Erisa
(France). (France). (France). (France). IARD, HSBC
Director: Director: Director: Director: Investments
HSBC Assurances Halbis Capital Halbis Capital Halbis Capital (France),
IARD (France), Management Management, Management, HSBC Epargne
HSBC (France), HSBC HSBC Entreprise,
Global Asset HSBC Assurances Assurances Assurances Sinopia Asset
Management IARD (France), IARD (France), IARD (France), Management.
(France). HSBC HSBC HSBC Global Member of the
Global Asset Global Asset Asset Supervisory
Directorships Management Management Management Board: HSBC
outside of the (France), (France), (France), Private Bank
HSBC Group: Sinopia Asset Sinopia Asset Sinopia Asset France.
Director: DCNS, Management. Management. Management.
Fonds de Member of the Member of the Member of the Directorships
Garantie des Supervisory Supervisory Supervisory outside of the
Dépots, MEDEF Board: HSBC Board: HSBC Board: HSBC HSBC Group:
(permanent Private Bank Private Bank Private Bank Director: DCN,
representative France. France. France. Fonds de
of HSBC Garantie des
France). Directorships Directorships Directorships Dépots.
Chairman: outside of the outside of the outside of the Chairman:
Groupement HSBC Group: HSBC Group: HSBC Group: Groupement
des Banques Director: DCNS, Director: DCNS, Director: Société des Banques
Etrangéres en Fonds de Fondsde  de Financement Etrangéres en
France. Garantie des Garantie des de I'Economie France.
Treasurer: Dépots, MEDEF  Dépdts, MEDEF Francaise, Member of the
Association (permanent (permanent DCNS, Fonds Board and
Francgaise des representative representative  de Garantie des Treasurer:
Banques.  of HSBCFrance).  of HSBC France). Dépots, MEDEF Association
Chairman: Chairman: (permanent Frangaise des
Groupement Groupement representative Banques.
des Banques des Banques of HSBC France). Member of the
Etrangéres Etrangéres Chairman: Orientation
en France. en France. Groupement Committee:
Treasurer: Member of the des Banques Euronext.
Association Board and Etrangéres
Francaise des Treasurer: en France.
Banques. Association Member of the
Francaise des Board and
Banques. Treasurer:
Member of the Association
Orientation Francgaise des
Committee: Banques.
Euronext. Member of the
Orientation
Committee:
Euronext.
Evelyne Cesari 2000 2012  Director elected Director elected  Director elected  Director elected  Director elected

Commercial
manager,
HSBC REIM.

by employees:
HSBC France.

by employees:
HSBC France

by employees:
HSBC France.

by employees:
HSBC France

by employees:
HSBC France
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HSBC FRANCE

Composition of the Board of Directors (continued)

Director’s name First Term
Principal position elected ends 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Michel Gauduffe 2008 2012  Directorships in Directorshipsin  Directorshipsin  Directorships in -
Deputy Head of the HSBC Group:  the HSBC Group: the HSBC Group: the HSBC Group:
HSBC Limoges Director elected Director elected  Director elected  Director elected
branch, HSBC France. by employees: by employees: by employees: by employees:
HSBC France. HSBC France. HSBC France. HSBC France.
Vice-Chairman Vice-Chairman Chairman of Chairman of
of the Board: of the Board: the Board: the Board:
Institution Institution Institution de Institution de
de Prévoyance de Prévoyance Prévoyance Prévoyance
Vernet; Institut Vernet; Institut Vernet. Vernet.
de Gestion des de Gestion des Member of the
Retraites Sup- Retraites Sup- Directorship Supervisory
plémentaires de  plémentaires de outside of the Board: HSBC
la Caisse la Caisse HSBC Group: France Sécurité
de Retraites de Retraites  Director: AGIRA. Régularité
HSBC France. HSBC France. Equilibre
Dynamique.
Directorship Directorship
outside of the outside of the Directorship
HSBC Group: HSBC Group: outside of the
Director: AGIRA.  Director: AGIRA. HSBC Group:
Member of the Director: AGIRA.
Supervisory
Board: France
Actionnariat
Fonds.
Philippe Houzé 1999 2012 Directorships Directorships  Chairman of the  Chairman of the  Chairman of the

Chairman of the in the HSBC
Management Board, Group:
Groupe Independent
Galeries Lafayette. Director:
HSBC France,

HSBC Bank plc.

Directorships
outside of the
HSBC Group:
Chairman of the
Management
Board: Groupe
Galeries
Lafayette.
Director: Casino,
Guichard-
Perrachon.
Chairman:
Union du Grand
Commerce de
Centre-Ville
(UCV), Member
of the Board

of Directors:
National Retail
Federation
(NRF-USA).
Elected member:
Chambre de
Commerce

et d'Industrie
de Paris.

in the HSBC
Group:
Independent
Director:

HSBC France,
HSBC Bank plc.

Directorships
outside of the
HSBC Group:
Chairman of the
Management
Board: Groupe
Galeries
Lafayette.
Director: Casino,
Guichard-
Perrachon.
Chairman:
Union du Grand
Commerce de
Centre-Ville
(UCV), Member
of the Board

of Directors:
National Retail
Federation
(NRF-USA).
Elected member:
Chambre de
Commerce

et d'Industrie
de Paris.

Management
Board: Groupe
Galeries
Lafayette.
Director: Casino,
Guichard-
Perrachon.
Vice-Chairman:
Union du Grand
Commerce de
Centre-Ville
(UCV), Member
of the Board

of Directors:
National

Retail Federation
(NRF-USA).
Elected member:
Chambre de
Commerce

et d’Industrie

de Paris.

1 Director standing for re-election at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 15 May 2012.
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Management
Board: Groupe
Galeries
Lafayette.
Director: Casino,
Guichard-
Perrachon.
Member of the
Executive
Board: MEDEF
Member: Union
du Grand
Commerce de
Centre-Ville
(ucv),
Association
Internationale
des Grands
Magasins,
Board of Directors
National Retail
Federation
(NRF-USA).
Elected member:
Chambre de
Commerce

et d’Industrie

de Paris.

Management
Board: Groupe
Galeries
Lafayette.
Director: Casino,
Guichard-
Perrachon,
Société
d’Exploitation
du Palais des
Congreés de
Paris.

Member of the
Executive
Board: MEDEF.
Member:
Union du Grand
Commerce de
Centre-Ville
(ucv),
Association
Internationale
des Grands
Magasins,
Board of
Directors
National Retail
Federation
(NRF-USA).
Elected member:
Chambre de
Commerce

et d’Industrie
de Paris.



Director’s name First Term
Principal position elected ends 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Thierry Jacquaint 2008 2012  Director elected Director elected Director elected  Director elected -
Supervisor, by employees: by employees: by employees: by employees:
HSBC Marseille HSBC France HSBC France HSBC France HSBC France
Borely branch,
HSBC France.
Igor Landau 2002 2012  Chairman ofthe = Chairman of the  Chairman of the Director: Director:
Company Director. Supervisory Supervisory Supervisory Sanofi-Aventis.  Sanofi-Aventis.
Board: Adidas Board: Board: Member of the Member of the
AG. Adidas AG. Adidas AG. Supervisory Supervisory
Director: Director: Director: Board: Adidas- Board: Adidas-
Sanofi-Aventis. Sanofi-Aventis. Sanofi-Aventis. Salomon, Salomon,
Member of the Member of the Member of the Allianz AG. Allianz AG.
Supervisory Supervisory Supervisory
Board: Board: Board:
Allianz AG. Allianz AG. Allianz AG.
Anne Méaux 2011 2015 Chairman: Image - - - -
Chairman, Sept, Com Sept
Image Sept. Finance.
Managing
Director: Anne
Méaux Conseil.
Member of
the Advisory
Committee:
Women's
Forum.
Deputy Chairman:
Association
Force Femmes.
Thierry Moulonguet 2009 2013 Director: Fimalac, Director: Fimalac, Director: RCI - -
Senior Advisor, Fitch Rating Fitch Rating  Banque, Renault
Oddo Corporate Group Inc, Group Inc. Retail Group.
Finance. Groupe Lucien
Barriére,
SsangYong
Motor Co. Ltd,
Valéo.
Philippe Pontet 2005 2015 Directorships Directorships Directorships Directorships Directorships
Chairman in the in the in the in the in the
Investment Banking, HSBC Group: HSBC Group: HSBC Group: HSBC Group: HSBC Group:
HSBC France. Director: HSBC Director: HSBC Director: HSBC Director: Director:
France, Valeurs France, Nobel. France, Nobel. HSBC France, HSBC France.
Mobilieres Nobel.
Elysées.
Philippe Purdy 2004 2012  Director elected Director elected  Director elected  Director elected  Director elected
Customer service, by employees: by employees: by employees: by employees: by employees:
HSBC Mandelieu HSBC France. HSBC France. HSBC France. HSBC France. HSBC France.
branch, HSBC France.
Marcel Roulet 1996 2013 Chairman of Chairman of Chairman of  Chairman of the  Chairman of the
Company Director. the Supervisory  the Supervisory  the Supervisory Supervisory Supervisory
Board: Board: Board: Board: Board:
Gimar Finances Gimar Finances ~ Gimar Finances ~ Gimar Finances  Gimar Finances
SCA. Censor: SCA. SCA. SCA. SCA.
Eurazeo. Member of Member of the Member of the
Director:  the Supervisory Supervisory Supervisory
France Télécom. Board: Board: Board:
Censor: Eurazeo. Eurazeo. Eurazeo.
Eurazeo. Director: Director: Director:
FranceTélécom.  FranceTélécom, Thomson,Thales
Censor:Thomson. Thales (permanent
(permanent representative
representative of TSA),
of TSA).  FranceTélécom.
Censor: Censor:
Cap Gemini, Cap Gemini.
Thomson.
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Director’s name First Term
Principal position elected ends 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Peter Shawyer 2005 2013 Independent Independent Independent Independent Independent
Company Director. Director and Director and Director and Director and Director and
member of member of member of member of member of
the Audit the Audit the Audit the Audit the Audit
Committee: Committee: Committee: Committee: Committee:
HSBC Bank plc. HSBC Bank plc. HSBC Bank plc. HSBC Bank plc.  HSBC Bank plc.
Chairman: British  Chairman: British  Chairman: British Chairman: British Independent
International International International International Director and
Holdings Holdings Holdings Holdings Chairman of
Limited, Limited, Limited, Limited, the Audit
Ingenious Ingenious  Ingenious Media  Ingenious Media Committee:
Media Holdings, = Media Holdings, Holdings. Holdings. Silverjet plc.
Ingenious Asset Ingenious Asset Director:
Management Management Ingenious
Limited. Limited. Media plc.
Director: Chairman:
Ingenious Solar British
UKVCT 1 plc. International
Holdings
Limited.

Brigitte Taittinger
Chairman and CEO,
Annick Goutal.

2008 2012° Chairman and
CEO: Annick
Goutal.
Director:
Ensemble
Orchestral de
Paris, Opéra
Comique.

Chairman and
CEO: Annick
Goutal.
Director:
Ensemble
Orchestral de
Paris, Opéra
Comique.

Chairman and
CEO: Annick
Goutal
Director:
Ensemble
Orchestral de
Paris, Opéra
Comique.
Member of the
Board:
Ensemble
Intercontemporain.

Chairman and
CEO:

Annick Goutal.
Director: Ensem-
ble Orchestral
de Paris, Opéra
Comique.
Member of the
Board:
Ensemble
Intercontemporain.

Jacques Veyrat
Chairman,
Impala SAS.

2009 2013 Chairman Impala
SAS.

Director: Direct

Energie, Imerys,

ID Logistics

Group, Poweo.

Member of the

Supervisory

Board: Eurazeo.

Chairman and
CEO: Louis
Dreyfus SAS.
Director: Direct
Energie, Imerys.
Member of the
Supervisory
Board: Eurazeo.
Chairman of the
Supervisory
Board:
Kurosawa BV.

Chairman and
CEO: Louis
Dreyfus SAS.
Director: Direct
Energie, Imerys.
Member of the
Supervisory
Board: Eurazeo.
Chairman of the
Supervisory
Board:
Kurosawa BV.

1 Director standing for re-election at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 15 May 2012.
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Chairman’s report on corporate governance and internal control
and risk management procedures

Under the Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial
Code, the Chairman of the Board of Directors of any
French company issuing financial instruments admitted
for trading on a regulated market is required to report to
shareholders annually on the composition of the Board
of Directors and application of the principle of balanced
representation of men and women on the Board, the
preparation and organisation of the Board's work, the
internal control and risk management procedures and any
restrictions on the powers of the Chief Executive Officer.
This report is attached to the report referred to in Articles
L.225-100, L.225-102, L.225-102-1 and L. 233-26.

Lam pleased to present my report in this respect for the
year ended 31 December 2011. Management is responsible
for defining and implementing adequate and effective
internal control and risk management procedures with
oversight by the Board of Directors. This report has been
drawn up in close collaboration with the main divisions
concerned and in association with the external auditors.

This report was submitted to the Audit and Risk
Committee on 16 February 2012 and approved by the
Board of Directors on 22 February 2012.

The internal control and risk management regulations
and procedures described herein apply to HSBC France
and to all its consolidated subsidiaries.

CHAIRMAN'S REPORT
ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Corporate Governance Code

In accordance with law no. 2008-649 of 3 July 2008
concerning the adaptation to French law of Directive
2006/46/EC of 14 June 2006, the company shall, as a
priority, refer to the Corporate Governance Code
for listed companies published in December 2008,
and amended in April 2010, by the AFEP and the
MEDETF, taking account of its status as an unlisted
subsidiary, in preparing the report required under
Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code.
This code may be viewed at the head office.

The HSBC Group attaches a great deal of impor-
tance to respecting corporate governance rules, both
for itself and for its subsidiaries. However, as HSBC
France is a2 99.9 per cent owned subsidiary of the HSBC
Group and as its capital securities are not admitted to
trading on a regulated market, some principles of the
Corporate Governance Code have been adapted as for
example some of the duties of the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee. HSBC France’s Board of
Directors therefore no longer decides on share award
plans as the shares awarded to HSBC France employees
are now HSBC shares. HSBC France applies the British
corporate governance rules (the Combined Code on
Corporate Governance) referred to by parent company

HSBC Holdings plc in certain areas, in particular as
regards share awards.

Other exceptions to the compliance with the
Corporate Governance Code’s recommendations for
listed companies are specified below in this Report.

Board of Directors

Composition of the Board
At 31 December 2011, the Board of Directors had
18 members, including:

— the Chairman of the Board of Directors; the Deputy
Chairman; the Chief Executive Officer; two Deputy
Chief Executive Officers;

— the Investment Banking Chairman;

— eight Directors having no special relationship with
the company and who may be deemed independent
with respect to all criteria defined in the AFEP/
MEDETF report, particularly regarding banking
relationships; however, two of their numbers have
been serving as a Director for more than twelve years.
Nonetheless, the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee found that this criterion alone did not
call into question their independence of judgement
vis-a-vis the company, even though it constitutes
an exception to the criteria defined in the AFEP/
MEDETF report;

— four Directors elected or re-elected by the employees
in 2008 for a term of four years, in accordance with
the provisions of the French order of 21 October
1986.

Three Directors are non-French nationals. Other
than Directors elected by employees, the Board com-
prises two women and 12 men. The average age of the
Directors in office is 57.9.

In 2011, the Board’s composition changed as follows:

— on4 May 2011, the Annual General Meeting (AGM)
renewed the term of office of Philippe Pontet for a
period of four years;

— on 31 October 2011, the General Meeting appointed
Anne Méaux as a Director for a period of four years.

In accordance with the recommendations of
the AFEP-MEDEF report, the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee has examined the position
of the Director whose term of office expired at the
AGM on 4 May 2011, and proposed that the Board
vote to re-appoint him, taking into account his skills
and active contribution to the work done by the Board.

Since the AGM held on 12 April 2000, the Directors’
term of office has been four years. The expiry dates
of the terms of office are staggered so as to ensure a
smooth transition when they are renewed.
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The Board’s work in 2011

As a general rule, before each Board meeting, Directors
receive an agenda together with the draft minutes of
the previous Board meeting. In the week prior to the
meeting, they also receive background information on
agenda items and, a few days ahead of the meeting, a
summary of key financial indicators. In the case of
highly confidential issues, which cannot be disclosed in
advance, the information is provided during the meeting
itself. Furthermore, Directors are regularly advised of
significant events affecting the company and receive
the relevant documents.

The Board of Directors met five times during 2011,
with an average attendance rate of more than 96 per
cent compared with 91 per cent in 2010:

— 15 February 2011 (attendance rate: 100 per cent);
— 4 May 2011 (attendance rate: 88.2 per cent);

— 1 July 2011 (attendance rate: 100 per cent);

— 26 July 2011 (attendance rate: 94.1 per cent);

— 22 November 2011 (attendance rate: 100 per cent).

In 2011, the Board of Directors reviewed the quar-
terly, half-yearly and annual financial statements and
approved the half-yearly and annual accounts. During
each meeting, the Board reviewed operations and results
for each business line. It also reviewed the banks’ liquid-
ity situation and, at the meeting held on 15 February
2011, the Board approved the budget for 2011.

At each of its meetings, the Board of Directors
examined the group’s results, business growth and
position for each of its activities. It was informed
on a regular basis by the Chairman of the Board of
Directors, who is also Chief Executive Officer of the
HSBC Group, of the HSBC Group’s development and
results, as well as its latest news. Independent Directors
shared with the Board their view of the economic situ-
ation and economic conditions in their business sector.

The Board of Directors conducted a review of the
proposed Strategic Plan for the period from 2011 to
2014, which concerns all HSBC France business lines
and fits in with the HSBC Group’s strategy presented on
11 May 2011 (meeting on 1 July 2011). It then reviewed
progress made in this plan at the meetings of 26 July
and 22 November 2011.

With respect to changes to organisational structures,
the Board of Directors approved the mergers, with
HSBC Global Asset Management (France), of Halbis
Capital Management and Sinopia Asset Management,
after the latter absorbed Sinopia - Société de Gestion
(meeting on 4 May 2011), in keeping with the restruc-
turing of the Asset Management business lines, of
which the Board had been informed. The Board of
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Directors approved the decision made by the Annual
General Meeting of HSBC Covered Bonds (France)
for this subsidiary to opt for “société de financement de
Uhabitat” status (meeting on 4 May 2011). At its meeting
on 26 July 2011, the Board of Directors approved the
project of merger by absorption of HSBC Private Bank
France with HSBC France. The merger was then decided
by HSBC France’s Combined General Meeting on
31 October 2011.

At each meeting, the Board of Directors discussed
the consequences on the bank’s activities of the crisis
affecting the eurozone sovereign debts. It examined
the group’s situation with regard to risks: credit risk,
market risk with, in particular, monitoring of expo-
sure to eurozone government bonds, results of the
internal stress tests conducted by HSBC France, as
well as litigation, compliance, operational risks and
information security risk. It was informed of the main
projects of regulatory changes and of their impacts on
HSBC France. At each of its meetings, the Board of
Directors examined the risk appetite statement making
it possible to assess performance as regards the level
of risk accepted by the Board.

At its meeting on 4 May 2011, the Board reviewed
the Annual Report prepared in accordance with Articles
42,43 and 43-1 of regulation 97-02, sent to the Autorité
de contréle prudentiel, and the findings, follow-up
letters and replies following the audits carried out by
the Autorité de contréle prudentiel and the investiga-
tions conducted by the Autorité des Marchés Financiers
(AMF). It approved the Chairman’s report on corporate
governance and internal control and risk management
procedures (meeting on 15 February 2011). It also
examined the mediator’s report concerning his activity
during 2010 (meeting on 4 May 2011).

In the area of human resources, the Board was
informed of the procedures in place to prevent psy-
chosocial risk and of the remuneration policy (meeting
on 26 July 2011). It was also informed of the results of
the “Global People Survey” (meeting on 22 November
2011), which measures every year the commitment of
HSBC Group employees. This survey was conducted
during the summer of 2011.

At the meeting on 26 July 2011, HSBC France’s
substainability policy and its key initiatives were
commented.

The work of the Board Committees was set out
in periodic, detailed reports from their respective
Chairmen and debated during Board meetings. Within
this framework, the Board was kept informed about the
various points of action identified by the Audit and Risk
Committee, particularly as regards Finance IT Projects
and taking account of risks in its remuneration policy.



Apart from these major issues, the Board also
discussed various other issues which are legally its
responsibility.

Board meeting held on 10 January 2012

Following the resignation of Christophe de Backer,
HSBC France Chief Executive Officer, from his duties,
the Board of Directors appointed, on 10 January 2012:

— Jean Beunardeau as Chief Executive Officer of
HSBC France; he will retain responsibility for
Global Banking and Markets in France;

— Gilles Denoyel as Deputy Chief Executive Officer
of HSBC France; he will remain Chief Risk Officer,
and responsible for relations with regulators.

Board committees

Nomination and Remuneration Committee

Composition of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee

Chairman:
— Philippe Houzé Appointed 1999
(independent) and November 2009
as Chairman

Members:

— Stuart Gulliver Appointed November 2009

— Jacques Veyrat Appointed February 2010

In 2009, the Board appointed Stuart Gulliver as
a member of the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee because although he is Chairman of the
Board of Directors, he is not an executive officer
of HSBC France and receives no remuneration or
directors’ fees from HSBC France for serving in his
capacity as Chairman of the Board. He can therefore
be deemed to be independent for purposes of giving his
opinion on HSBC France’s remuneration policy and
discussing the remuneration of its Executive Directors.
Moreover, he lends the Committee his experience in
the area of compensation of financial market pro-
fessionals, among others, and his knowledge of the
rules defined by the HSBC Group. He can also make
valuable contributions in drawing up succession plans
for the management team.

The Nomination and Remuneration
Committee’s missions
The Committee’s main tasks are as follows:

— making proposals to the Board of Directors regard-
ing the appointment of Directors and members
and Chairmen of the Board’s specialist committees

according to the desired balance in the composition
of the Board as well as to the specific skills and
reputation of the applicants;

— proposing a Chairman and a CEO to the Board,
and proposing Deputy CEOs to the Board on the
CEO’s recommendation, for succession planning
purposes or in the event of a vacancy;

— examining all remuneration of Executive Directors;

making proposals and recommendations to the
Board concerning remuneration, pension and
protection plans, additional pension contributions,
benefits in kind and various cash entitlements of
Executive Directors;

— making recommendations on Directors’ remu-
neration and, in particular, the distribution of
Directors’ fees;

— issuing opinions and recommendations on the
executive remuneration policy and particularly
on the remuneration structure;

— 1in accordance with regulation 97-02, carrying out an
annual review of the remuneration policy and more
particularly, the share of variable compensation paid
to market professionals and Executive Directors,
to ensure that they are consistent with the HSBC
Group’s policy and comply with French standards;

— making preparations for the Board’s examination
of corporate governance issues.

The Committee’s recommendations on Executive
Directors’ remuneration are presented after prior
approval by the Remuneration Committee of HSBC
Holdings plc.

Moreover, in carrying out these duties and respon-
sibilities, the Committee may consult any adviser or
expert as it deems appropriate.

The Nomination and Remuneration Committee’s
work in 2011

The Committee met twice in 2011, with an attendance
rate of 100 per cent. Its main work was as follows:

— it made proposals to the Board on renewing the term
of office of one Director in the Annual General
Meeting. A proposal was made to renew the term
of office of Philippe Pontet (Director since 2005)
(meeting on 15 February 2011);

— it made proposals to the Board on changes in the
Board’s composition and on the appointment of a
new independent Director: Anne Méaux (meeting
on 26 July 2011);

— it made proposals to the Board on increasing
Directors’ fees (meeting on 15 February 2011);
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— it made proposals to the Board to carry out an
internal Board assessment, with approval of the
questionnaire (meeting on 15 February 2011) and
review of the assessment’s findings (meeting on
26 July 2011);

— it made proposals to the Board to confirm a pension
liability in respect of a former Chief Executive
(meeting on 26 July 2010);

— it made proposals to allow the Board to approve, in
agreement with HSBC Holdings plc, the terms of the
2011 remuneration of Christophe de Backer, Jean
Beunardeau and Gilles Denoyel, setting out the fixed
and variable elements of their remuneration and
the number of shares without performance condi-
tions, to be awarded to them (see section “Directors’
remuneration”) (meeting on 15 February 2011);

— areview of HSBC’s general remuneration policy
in France, taking into account new remuneration
regulations concerning in particular risk control
and the contribution of the Risk Management and
Compliance departments to the process for deter-
mining bonuses (meeting on 15 February 2011).

The Chairman of the Committee reported to the
Board on its work at the Board meetings on 15 February
and 26 July 2011. All of the Committee’s work was
submitted to the Board for approval.

Audit and Risk Committee

Composition of the Audit and Risk Committee
Chairman:

— Thierry Moulonguet Appointed
(independent) July 2009 and May 2010
as Chairman
Member:
— Peter Shawyer Appointed May 2005
(independent)

In order to comply with the HSBC Group rules,
which provide that the Audit Committee is made up
of three independent Directors, HSBC France is
endeavouring to find another independent Director
to become a member of the Audit and Risk Committee.

As of this date, the two Committee members are
highly qualified in the areas of finance and accounting,
in risk analysis and in internal control, as they have
in the past served in the capacity of audit committee
member, finance director or auditor.

The Audit and Risk Committee’s missions

The Audit and Risk Committee’s main duties are defined
in the Board’s internal rules. Following the changes
decided in November 2010, to include assignments
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related to monitoring the risk management policy,
procedures and systems, in accordance with the provi-
sions of the law on banking and financial regulation of
22 October 2010, the Board of Directors, in its meeting
on 15 February 2011, decided to change the name
of the Committee to Audit and Risk Committee. In
November 2011, the committee’s duties were reviewed
mainly to combine its responsibilities into two distinct
categories, namely audit and risk:

— key responsibilities in relation to audit:

* examining the integrity of the financial state-
ments submitted to the Board of Directors in
order to ensure that the data and information
provided give a true and fair view of the com-
pany’s operations and position,

» reviewing financial and accounting policies and
practices,

» reviewing and discussing with management the
effectiveness of internal control systems relating
to financial reporting,

* monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the
internal audit function, considering the major
findings of internal investigations and manage-
ment’s response, and ensuring that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has
appropriate positioning,

» discussing with the external Auditors the financial
statements, the scope of audits, restatements
made, compliance with accounting principles,
market rules, legal and regulatory requirements,
and the impact of any changes in accounting
principles and practices,

* making recommendations to the Board of
Directors regarding the appointment, renewal
or removal of external Auditors, their fees and
any other issues concerning their duties,

« assessing the independence and objectivity of
external Auditors, including supervision of the
turnover of the signing partners and the effective-
ness of the audit process,

* applying the code of conduct and the HSBC Group
policy concerning the provision of non-audit
services by the external Auditors,

« reviewing the external Auditors’ management
letter together with management’s response to
it, and to monitor the implementation of recom-
mendations made in the letter,

* ensuring compliance of the company and
its subsidiaries with directives issued by the
supervisory authorities and with regulations
applicable to them;



— key responsibilities in relation to risk:

» overseeing and advising the Board on all high-
level risk related matters,

» advising the Board on risk appetite and tolerance
in determining strategy,

* examining regular reports on risk manage-
ment related to the group’s activity, the way in
which risks are controlled and monitored by
Management, and on emerging risks,

* advising the Board and/or the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee on alignment of remu-
neration with risk appetite,

» examining the effectiveness of the group’s risk
management framework internal control systems,

* approving the appointment and removal of the
chief risk officer and ensuring of his effective role,

* reviewing any issue which arises from any report
from internal audit, the external Auditors’ annual
report and any queries raised by the external
Auditors, and responses from management,
which relates to the management of risk or
internal control,

e examining management reports and statements
on the internal control system.

The Committee meets the external Auditors and
the Head of internal audit in private at least once per
year to ensure that there are no unresolved issues or
concerns. In carrying out these duties and responsibili-
ties, the Committee may consult any adviser or expert
as it deems appropriate.

To give itself sufficient time to review the accounts
before they are reviewed by the Board, the Audit and Risk
Committee generally meets four days before the Board.

As required under the HSBC Group rules, the Audit
and Risk Committee provides a half-yearly certificate
to the Audit Committee and Risk Committee of HSBC
Bank plc, HSBC France’s direct shareholder, confirm-
ing, in particular, that the accounts were reviewed by
the Committee and that the internal control system
seems to be appropriate.

The Audit and Risk Committee’s work in 2011
The Audit and Risk Committee met four times in 2011,

with an attendance rate of 100 per cent, compared with
87.5 per cent in 2010:

— 11 February 2011 (attendance rate: 100 per cent);

29 April 2011 (attendance rate: 100 per cent);

25 July 2011 (attendance rate: 100 per cent);

18 November 2011 (attendance rate: 100 per cent).

Each meeting was also attended by the external
Auditors, the Deputy Chairman, the Deputy CEO in
charge of risk, the Chief Financial Officer, the Chief
Accounting Officer and the Head of Audit. The Chief
Executive Officer and the two Deputy Chief Executive
Officers of HSBC France attended Committee meetings
to answer any questions. HSBC France executives also
attend Committee meetings covering any subjects
falling under their responsibility. Paul Lawrence,
Head of HSBC Group Internal Audit, attended the
Committee meeting on 18 November 2011. Audit
and Risk Committee members met with the external
Auditors in private sessions prior to the Board meetings
held to review the half-yearly and year-end accounts
(meetings of 11 February and 25 July 2011).

Against a backdrop of financial crisis, affecting
in particular the eurozone sovereign debts, but also
in compliance with regulation 97-02 and Basel II, the
Committee dedicated again in 2011 a substantial part
of its work to the review of major risks. It monitors
the organisation of the risk control system on a regular
basis.

In each of its meetings, the Audit and Risk
Committee continued to review major risks with each
of the persons in charge of controlling these risks, in
particular:

— credit risk, with an individual review of major expo-
sures, changes in and optimisation of risk-weighted
assets, and the provisioning policy for all credit risks.
It gave its assent to the new large credit exposure
policy (meeting on 25 July 2011);

— market risk, including market risk trends compared
with limits, the fixing of limits, control instruments
and procedures in place. It specifically reviewed the
bank’s exposure to the eurozone government bonds
and the results of the stress tests conducted on market
risk. It was informed of the review of controls to
prevent rogue trading (meeting on 18 November 2011);

— legal and litigation risks;
— operational risks;
— information security risks.

The Committee was informed, at each of its meetings,
of the progress of the work undertaken by the
Operational Risk and Internal Control Department.
It reviewed the risk mapping updated by all the business
lines (meetings on 29 April and 18 November 2011).
It examined, at each of its meetings, the dashboard
concerning the bank’s risk appetite, particularly the
indicators failing to comply with the established
objectives. Having familiarised itself at the meeting
on 11 February 2011 with the procedures governing
stress-testing exercises and, in particular, the objectives

25



HSBC FRANCE

Chairman’s report on corporate governance and internal control

and risk management procedures (continued)

of the testing programme, the various types of exercise,
the governance structure of these tests and associated
regulatory requirements, the Committee reviewed
the results of these stress-testing exercises at each of
its meetings. The Committee was also informed of
the implementation of a system designed to identify
emerging risks (meeting on 11 February 2011).

In 2011, the Audit and Risk Committee continued
to watch closely the progress of the Basel II project.
Thus it was very regularly informed of the progress
of the tasks carried out within the framework of the
second phase of the transition to the advanced IRBA
method for calculating Exposure At Default (EAD).

In accordance with regulation 97-02 and profes-
sional standards, at its meeting on 11 February 2011,
the Committee reviewed the links between risk and
remuneration policy and, in particular, the involvement
of Risk Management in remuneration policy and taking
account of risks in determining remunerations.

At its meeting on 29 April 2011, it reviewed the
Annual Report to the Autorité de contréle prudentiel
on risk monitoring and measurement, in accordance
with regulation 97-02.

The second aspect of the Committee’s work involved
an in-depth review of the annual, half-yearly and
quarterly financial statements prior to their presentation
to the Board. The Audit and Risk Committee reviewed
the parent-company and consolidated accounts and
analysed the impact of changes in the accounting scope
of consolidation on the results. The 2010 consolidated
financial statements were presented according to IFRS,
with a distinction drawn between the legal and French
managerial scope of consolidation'. Parent company
financial statements for 2010 were presented according
to French GAAP. The Committee discussed the choices
made by the company and presented by Finance
Department in drawing up its financial statements.
The external Auditors commented on their management
letter and aspects subject to particular attention at the
time of preparing the 2010 financial statements (meeting
on 11 February 2011). They presented their limited review
on the financial statements at 31 March 2011, 30 June 2011
and 30 September 2011 (meetings on 29 April, 25 July
and 18 November 2011). The Committee discussed the
audit programme and the external Auditors’ budget
for 2011. The Committee also examined, at each of its
meetings, the bank’s regulatory and liquidity ratios and
its liquidity and funding situation. The FSA’s conclusions
concerning liquidity management at HSBC France were
presented at the meeting on 29 April 2011.

The last aspect of the Committee’s work was internal
audit, internal control, compliance and relations with the
regulatory authorities. The Audit and Risk Committee

1 See footnote 2 page 5.
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looked at the results of controls conducted on financial
statements. Within this framework, it reviewed the work
carried out as part of the application of Sarbanes Oxley:
the list of procedures concerned and its development,
identified weaknesses, their impact and monitoring. In
the Insurance business, a specific presentation was given
to the Committee on Sarbanes Oxley (meeting on 29 April
2011). It reviewed the points raised in the quarterly suspense
account reconciliation certificates prepared at the request of
the HSBC Group and in the Auditors’ management letters
follow-up. The Committee also verified the adequacy of
provisions for identified risks. At the meeting on 29 April
2011, the proposed change of accounting information
system was presented to the Committee, which at sub-
sequent meetings was informed of progress made in the
work being carried out.

It also regularly examined internal audit work and
reviewed the main audit assignments, particularly
those deemed insufficient. It was informed about audit
recommendations, progress in implementing them
and the monitoring of the recommendations not yet
implemented. It approved the 2011 annual audit plan.
The Committee was informed of the new internal audit
organisational structure within the HSBC Group, the
resulting new internal audit charter (meeting on 29 April
2011) and the signing of a master agreement with other
French banks relating to the audit of common suppliers
(meeting on 18 November 2011).

As part of compliance controls, the Committee
reviewed quarterly compliance certificates, which state
the main procedural breaches. It approved the AMF
Annual Report on the organisation and operation of
the investment services control system, along with the
Annual Report on cheque controls (regulation 2002-01).
It examined the compliance action plan for 2011.

The Committee was informed of the findings of
various audits carried out by the AMF and the Autorité
de controle prudentiel and of the action plans initiated
to implement their recommendations. It reviewed the
Chairman’s report on internal control and risk manage-
ment procedures (meeting on 11 February 2011) and the
Annual Report to the Autorité de contréle prudentiel on the
functioning of the internal control systems (permanent
control and periodic control), as required under CRBF
regulation 97-02 (meeting on 29 April 2011).

Finally, the Committee was regularly informed of the
various regulatory reforms adopted or under discussion,
particularly regarding capital requirement and liquidity
risk management (Capital Requirements Directive 4
(CRD4) and Basel I1I), systemic institutions, derivatives,
ring-fencing of Retail Banking and initial estimations
of their impact on HSBC France.



The Chairman of the Audit and Risk Committee
reported on the key points of the Committee’s work at
the Board meetings held on 15 February, 4 May, 26 July
and 22 November 2011.

Compensation

Compensation and advantages of Executive Directors

Remuneration policy

The remuneration of Executive Directors is adopted
each year by the Board of Directors upon the
recommendation by the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee, after approval by the Remuneration
Committee of HSBC Holdings plc. It includes a fixed
component and a variable component. The fixed
component is determined in accordance with market
practices with the help of specialist consulting firms.

The variable component is determined on the
basis of a number of objective performance indica-
tors covering financial aspects (profit before tax, cost
efficiency ratio, return on risk-weighted assets, etc.) and
non-financial aspects (respect of professional ethics,
reputational risk, customer relationship quality, brand
reputation, recommendations and market share, talent
management, implementation of strategic decisions,
etc.). These indicators are analysed in comparison with
the previous year or relative to the budget for the year.
To these criteria, is added, henceforth, an appreciation
of personal behaviour with regard to the Group’s values
that are dependability, openness, listening, courage
and integrity.

The variable component also takes account of
market practices and, if necessary, changes in regula-
tions. In accordance with the HSBC Group’s defer-
ral rules, this variable component is paid partly in
non-deferred and partly in deferred remuneration and
partly in cash and partly in shares.

Award of shares

In 2011, Executive Directors benefited from the
allocation of bonus shares in HSBC Holdings plc in
accordance with the HSBC Group’s general policy
of systematically awarding shares instead of stock
options since 2006. The HSBC Group awards various
categories of bonus shares:

— Group Performance Shares, which are subject to
performance criteria and are awarded to Executives
of the HSBC Group;

— Restricted Shares, which are not subject to specific
performance criteria but which are definitively
awarded to employees still with the HSBC Group
at the end of a two or three-year period, which is
the period in force for France.

* Available on www.hsbc.comlInvestor Relations/Financial information.

With respect to 2011, no HSBC France Executive
Directors, except Stuart Gulliver who does not receive
any remuneration from HSBC France, has received any
Group Performance Shares. They did receive Restricted
Shares, for which the only criterion is to be with the
company after a period of two or three years.

Supplementary pension scheme

The Executive Directors of HSBC France have a defined
benefits supplementary pension scheme. This plan
guarantees members a pre-determined absolute sup-
plementary pension income based on their length of
service. In the event that the beneficiary dies, 60 per
cent of this pension is payable to the surviving spouse.
It is increased every year in line with the average rate
applied to French State pensions.

At 31 December 2011, Christophe de Backer had
accrued pension rights representing 8 per cent of his
fixed 2011 salary and 4 per cent of his total 2011 cash
remuneration. At 31 December 2011, Jean Beunardeau
had accrued pension rights representing 5 per cent
of his fixed 2011 salary and 3 per cent of his total
2011 cash remuneration. At 31 December 2011, Gilles
Denoyel had accrued pension rights at HSBC France
representing 26 per cent of his fixed 2011 salary and
13 per cent of his total 2011 cash remuneration.

The provision corresponding to the present value
of these HSBC France pension commitments has
been recorded in the HSBC France accounts at
31 December 2011, for an amount of EUR 3.4 million.

It should be noted that in the context of his
resignation as Chief Executive Officer, endorsed by
the Board of Directors on 10 January 2012, Christophe
de Backer has lost all his rights under this pension plan.

Remuneration

Stuart Gulliver, Chairman of the Board of HSBC
France, does not receive any compensation or fees
from HSBC France and is not a beneficiary of the
HSBC France supplementary pension scheme. He has
an employment contract with another company of the
HSBC Group and has access to a pension fund of the
HSBC Group. Consequently, the information regard-
ing the remunerations received by Stuart Gulliver,
whatever their kind (fixed remuneration, differed
variable remuneration in shares and benefits in kind)
are available in the Annual Report and Accounts*
of HSBC Holdings plc (pages 256 to 274) or in the
Annual Review* published by HSBC Holdings plc
(pages 36 to 47).

The remuneration of Christophe de Backer, CEO
of HSBC France, Jean Beunardeau, Deputy CEO of
HSBC France, and Gilles Denoyel, Deputy CEO of
HSBC France are detailed below.
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Regarding employment contracts, the Corporate
Governance Code published by the AFEP and the
MEDETF considers that the withdrawal of the Executive
Directors’ employment contract does not apply to
unlisted subsidiaries. Therefore, it is considered that
this recommendation does not apply to HSBC France,
which is an unlisted subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc.

Lastly, the Executive Directors are also provided with
a company car, with the exception of Jean Beunardeau
who uses a car made available to him by the company
for his professional needs.

The remuneration of Executive Directors below is
presented in accordance with the AFEP and the MEDEF
Corporate Governance Code as applied by HSBC
France, as well as the AMF recommendations of
December 2008*. The published information concerns
remuneration paid by HSBC France, the companies
it controls and the companies that control it (the
HSBC Group).

Summary of compensation and options and shares awarded to each Executive Director (Table 1)

2010 201
Amounts due Amounts due

Amounts in respect Amounts in respect
(in euros) paid in 2010 of 2010 paid in 2011 of 2011
Christophe de Backer
Chief Executive Officer?
Compensation (detailed intable 2)................... 1,086,605 1,294,461 1,293,592 605,736
Value of the options awarded (detailed in table 4)...... - - - -
Value of the shares awarded (detailed in table 6)'...... 1,000,000 1,087,783 1,087,783 -
[ ] 1 2,086,605 2,382,244 2,381,375 605,736
Jean Beunardeau
Deputy CEO?
Compensation (detailed intable 2)................... 275,000 1,186,154 694,595 1,162,439
Value of the options awarded (detailed in table 4)...... - - - -
Value of the shares awarded (detailed in table 6)...... - 1,030,653 1,030,653 812,439
[ ] 1 275,000 2,216,807 1,725,248 1,974,878
Gilles Denoyel
Deputy CEO*
Compensation (detailed intable 2)................... 666,745 716,745 754,190 691,390
Value of the options awarded (detailed in table 4)...... - - - -
Value of the shares awarded (detailed in table 6)" ..... 320,000 350,000 350,000 430,800
Total . ... e e e e 986,745 1,066,745 1,104,190 1,122,190

1 With the exception of those awarded to C de Backer in 2011, as the HSBC France Executive Directors are not awarded Group Performance Shares (see above

page 27), this line shows the shares without performance conditions.

2 Deputy CEO until 31 January 2010 and Chief Executive Officer from 1 February 2010 to 10 January 2012.
3 Deputy CEO from 1 February 2010 then Chief Executive Officer from 10 January 2012.

4 Deputy CEO from 1 February 2010.

* Table numbers refer to table models provided by the Autorité des Marchés Financiers in its 22 December 2008 recommendation
concerning information to be provided in registration documents concerning Directors’ compensation.
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Detailed breakdown of compensation paid to each Executive Director (Table 2)

2010 201
Amounts due Amounts due

Amounts in respect Amounts in respect
(in euros) paid in 2010 of 2010 paid in 2011 of 2011
Christophe de Backer
Chief Executive Officer’
Fixed remuneration...........c.oiiiiiiiinnnnnnnn. 600,000 600,000 600,000 600,000
Variable remunerationincash..............ccovon.. 480,000 687,856 687,856 -
Director's fees. ....ovuuieii i e -2 -2 -2 -2
Benefitsinkind......... ... i i i 6,605° 6,605° 5,736° 5,736°
Total . ... e e 1,086,605 1,294,461 1,293,592 605,736
Jean Beunardeau
Deputy CEO*
Fixed remuneration............ciiiiiiiiniinnnnn 275,000 275,000 350,000 350,000
Variable remunerationincash................coovut. - 344,295 344,295 324,976
Deferred variable remunerationincash............... - 566,859 - 487,463
Director'sfees. .....oviviii i i -2 -2 -2 -2
Benefitsinkind......... ..o i i - - - -
Total . ... e e e e 275,000 1,186,154 694,595 1,162,439
Gilles Denoyel
Deputy CEO®
Fixed remuneration..........coiiiiiiiiiininnnnnns 365,000 365,000 400,000 400,000
Variable remunerationincash....................... 300,000 350,000 350,000 287,200
Director' s fees. ..o vvi ittt e i e e s -2 -2 =2 =2
Benefitsinkind. ...ttt 1,7453 1,7453 4,190 3 4,190 3
Total . ... e e e 666,745 716,745 754,190 691,390
1 Deputy CEO until 31 January 2010 and Chief Executive Officer from 1 February 2010 to 10 January 2012.
2 Renounced the payment of his fees by HSBC France (see page 32).
3 Company car.
4 Deputy CEO from 1 February 2010 then Chief Executive Officer from 10 January 2012.
5 Deputy CEO from 1 February 2010.
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Share options awarded during the year to each Executive Director by HSBC France

and any company of the HSBC Group (Table 4)

Value of the
shares under Number
the method of options
Number of the used for the awarded
plan and date Type of consolidated during the Period of
of award options accounts year Exercise price exercise
None (see page 27).
Share options exercised during the year by each Executive Director (Table 5)
CCF options exercised in 2011
Number
of options Exercise price
exercised EUR/share Date of award Expiry date
None.
HSBC Holdings plc options exercised in 2011
Number
of options Exercise price
exercised EUR/share Date of award Expiry date
None.
Shares awarded to each Executive Director in 2011 in respect of 2010 (Table 6)
HSBC Holdings plc shares*
Value of the
shares under
the method
Number used for the
of shares consolidated Date of
Date of award awarded accounts Vesting date availability
Christophe de Backer.................. 15.03.2011 136,511 EUR1,031,783 15.03.2013 15.03.2015
for 66% and for 66% and
15.03.2014 15.03.2016
for 34% for 34%
Christophe de Backer.................. 23.06.2011 8,448 EUR56,000 15.03.2016 Retirement
for 100%
GillesDenoyel. .....covviviiiiinnnnn.. 15.03.20M 46,307 EUR350,000 15.03.2013 15.03.2015
for 66% and for 66% and
15.03.2014 15.03.2016
for 34% for 34%
JeanBeunardeau.............. ... iutn 15.03.2011 81,817 EUR618,392 15.03.2013 15.03.2015
for 66% and  for 66% and
15.03.2014 15.03.2016
for 34% for 34%
JeanBeunardeau..................... 15.03.20M 54,544 EUR412,261 15.03.2011 15.09.2011
for 100% for 100%

*  With the exception of those awarded to C de Backer in 2011, the HSBC France Executive Directors were not awarded shares subject to performance conditions,

(see page 27).

Performance shares which became available for each Executive Director (Table 7)

Date of award

Number of

shares which

became
available

during

the year

Vesting
conditions

None.
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10 highest awards of options to employees who are not Executive Directors

and 10 highest exercises of options (Table 9)

Number
of options
awarded/ Average
exercised exercise price Date of award Expiry date
CCF options awarded during the year, by the issuer
and by any company of its group to its ten employees
whose number of awarded options is the highest ....... None
HSBC options awarded during the year, by the issuer
and by any company of its group to its ten employees
whose number of awarded options is the highest ....... None
CCF options exercised during the year by the ten
employees and former employees whose number
of exercised shares is the highest ..................... None
HSBC options exercised during the year by the ten
employees and former employees whose number
of exercised shares is the highest ..................... 79,983 6.02 02.05.2003 01.05.2013

Other information required by the Corporate Governance Code (Table 10)

Compensation

or benefits
due or that
may be  Compensation

Executive Director HSBC France due upon due under
Function supplemen- termination terms of
First appointed Employment tary pension or change non-compete
Term ends contract’ scheme? in duties agreement
Christophe de Backer Suspended Yes No No
Chief Executive Officer?
1 February 2010
20124
Jean Beunardeau Suspended Yes No No
Deputy CEOS®
1 February 2010
20147
Gilles Denoyel Suspended Yes No No

Directeur Général Délégué®
1 March 2004
20147

See page 28.
See page 27.

Resignation on 10 January 2012.
Deputy CEO since 1 February 2010 then CEO since 10 January 2012.
Deputy CEO since 1 February 2010.

NOoOoabhwN =

Directorship renewed by the Annual General Meeting held on 11 May 2010.

Directors’ fees

The maximum amount of Directors’ fees payable
each year was fixed at EUR 600,000, as decided by
the Annual General Meeting of 21 December 2007.

Following a review of the level of Directors’ fees
paid, which had not been reviewed since 2005, and of
sector practices, and in view of the increased amount
of work required from Directors and members of the
Board Committees, the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee proposed to the Board of Directors to
increase Directors’ fees.

Deputy CEO until 31 January 2010 and CEO from 1 February 2010 to 10 January 2012.

Hence, in its meeting on 15 February 2011, the
Board of Directors decided to increase individual
fees, in respect of the financial year 2011, as follows:

— each Director receives an annual flat fee of EUR
27,000 at the conclusion of the Annual General
Meeting;

— the additional annual flat fee paid to Board
Committees members amounts to:

* EUR 12,000 for the members of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee,
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* EUR 14,000 for the Chairman of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee,

« EUR 18,000 for the members of the Audit and
Risk Committee,

« EUR 30,000 for the Chairman of the Audit and
Risk Committee.

Furthermore, within the HSBC Group, it is custom-
ary for Directors representing HSBC and Executive
Directors to renounce Directors’ fees from HSBC Group
companies. This recommendation has been implemented
by the Executive Directors of HSBC France and its
subsidiaries.

In 2011 (in respect of 2010), Christophe de Backer,
Jean Beunardeau, Peter Boyles, Gilles Denoyel, Stephen
Green and Philippe Pontet renounced the payment of
their fees. It has to be noted that, according to this rule,
Stuart Gulliver does not receive any fees from HSBC
France for his office of Chairman of the Board of
HSBC France.

Moreover, in order to comply with the rules applied
by the HSBC Group, the Directors’ attendance record
is not taken into account in calculating Directors’ fees.

Net total Directors’ fees to be paid in May 2012
in respect of 2011 amount to EUR 0.37 million, in
comparison with the EUR 0.29 million paid in 2011
in respect of 2010.

Directors’ fees and other compensation paid to non-Executive Directors by HSBC France, the companies
it controls and the companies which control it (the HSBC Group) (Table 3)

Directors’ fees Directors’ fees Other Other
paid in 2010 in paid in 2011 in compensation compensation
respect of 2009 respect of 2010 paid in 2010" paid in 2011

Executive Directors of HSBC Group companies
Peter Boyles®. . ... s EURS822,1842 EUR725,104
Stuart Gulliver34. . ... e - - GBP3,905,000 GBP6,602,000
Philippe Pontet.......coiiiiii i - - EUR976,756 = EUR1,016,514
Directors elected by the employees
EvelyneCesari .....ooviiiiiiiiiii i EUR22,000 EUR22,000
Michel GauduffeS. ..o EUR22,000 EUR22,000
Thierry Jacquaint®. ...t EUR22,000 EUR22,000
Philippe Purdy®........... .. oo EUR22,000 EUR22,000
Independent Directors
Paul Dubrule® . ... ... EUR5,500 - - -
Philippe Houzé . ... ... ..o EUR32,000 EUR32,000 - -
IgorLandau. ......cviiiiii i i EUR22,000 EUR22,000 - -
Anne Méaux® ... .. e - - - -
Thierry Moulonguet”. ........iiiiiiiii i iiinnnns EUR35,250 EUR44,500 - -
Marcel Roulet .......viiiiii it e et e e eneenen EUR47000 EUR28,250 - -
Peter Shawyer. ... e EURS875008 EUR1072008 - -
BrigitteTaittinger ....... ... EUR22,000 EUR22,000 - -
Jacques\Veyrat” ... .ot e e e e e EUR16,500 EUR29,500 - -

1 Fixed and variable remuneration and benefits in kind.

2 From 1 February 2010. Chief Executive Officer until 31 January 2010.

3 Emoluments shown are paid by other HSBC Group companies in respect of their executive functions within the Group.

4 Does not receive any compensation or fees from HSBC France. See page xx.

5 Directors’ fees paid to a trade union organisation.

6 Appointment ended on 27 May 2009.

7 Appointment on 27 May 2009.

8 Of which EUR 27,750 paid by HSBC France, excluding withholding tax.

9 Appointment on 31 October 2011.

Conflicts of interest

To the bank’s knowledge, there is no conflict of interest
between the duties of Board members, including
Executive Directors, with respect to the issuer and
their private interests and/or other duties.

For information, it has to be noted that Stuart
Gulliver is Chairman of the Board of HSBC France
and, from 1 January 2011, Group Chief Executive of
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HSBC Holdings plc, which owns 100 per cent of HSBC
Bank plc, itself owning 99.99 per cent of the issuer. Since
this date, he has not held any office with HSBC Bank plc.

Article IV-2 of the Board of Directors’ internal rules
states that any Director who has a conflict of interest
must report it to the Board and must abstain from voting
on any corresponding motion, and that the Chairman
may invite the Director not to attend the discussion.



Board of Directors’ internal rules

The Board of Directors’ internal rules were first estab-
lished in 1996, and have been updated several times.
The latest adjustments, which were submitted to the
Board in its meetings on 15 February and 22 November
2011, concerned the Audit and Risk Committee and
mainly aimed to:

— change the name of the Audit Committee to the
Audit and Risk Committee following the addition of
risk procedures and management to the Committee’s
responsibilities in November 2010;

— combine the responsibilities of the Audit and Risk
Committee in two separate categories: Audit and
Risk, in order to facilitate identification;

— make changes to the duties of the Audit and
Risk Committee in order to maintain a scope of
responsibility in keeping with that of the Audit
Committee and Risk Management Committee of
HSBC Holdings plc.

These rules specify the Board’s main duties:

— todiscuss all issues relating to its legal and regulatory
obligations and those arising from the company’s
articles of association,;

— to determine the general direction of the company’s
activities and ensure that it is followed.

In addition, the rules confer certain duties on inde-
pendent Directors sitting on the Board of Directors of
a 100 per cent-owned subsidiary as follows:

— to discuss the strategy adopted by HSBC France;
— to oversee its implementation;

— to approve strategic investment and divestment
plans and all transactions liable to have a significant
impact on earnings;

— to oversee and control material risks;

— to ensure the quality of information provided to the
shareholder and to the market through the financial
statements and the Annual Report;

— to protect the reputation of the HSBC Group
in France.

The Board’s internal rules define the procedures for
conducting Board meetings and providing information
to the Board. They indicate the main duties and
arrangements for exercising the functions of Chairman
and Vice-Chairman, and the main duties of the Chief
Executive Officer. Furthermore, the Board’s internal
rules define, in accordance with the HSBC Group
rules, the duties, powers and responsibilities of the
Audit and Risk Committee and the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee (as stipulated above in

the parts related to these Committees’ assignments).
They also incorporate a code of conduct to be
followed by the Directors of HSBC France, setting out
their rights and duties. Lastly, they define intervention
rules on the HSBC Group listed securities for
HSBC France Directors.

Self-assessment

In accordance with AFEP/MEDEF recommenda-
tions concerning assessment of the Board of Directors,
HSBC has implemented a self-assessment process. The
assessment was conducted internally in the first half
of 2011, under the responsibility of the Nomination
and Remuneration Committee and on the basis of
Directors’ answers to a detailed questionnaire. The main
themes raised concerned the running and composition
of the Board and its Committees, their effectiveness,
the information available to Directors to perform their
duties, relations between the Board and the bank and
ways of improvement from Directors’ point of view.

After analysis, a summary of answers given was
presented to the Board in July 2011 by the Chairman
of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee. The
assessment process showed that Directors had a posi-
tive opinion of how the Board is run, as a more than
99 per cent-owned subsidiary of the HSBC Group. In
order to respond to the wishes expressed by Directors
concerning training, a training day intended for inde-
pendent Directors focusing on strategy and the various
business lines was held on 1 July 2011. In addition,
an integration day will now be organised following
the appointment of a new independent Director and
proposed to independent Directors already in office.

The Board’s assessment procedure will be carried
out regularly and the next one is due to be conducted
by an external party.

General Meeting

Meetings are open to all shareholders. They are
convened and transact business in accordance with
the provisions of the law and regulations in force.
According to article 22 of the Articles of Association,
all shareholders, whatever the number of shares they
own, are entitled to attend General Meetings and to
take part in the deliberations, personally or through a
representative, provided their shares are paid up in full for
payments that are due and are registered on an account
in their own name not later than midnight, Paris time, of
the third business day preceding the General Meeting.
However, the author of the notice to attend has the option
at all times to reduce this period of time, as he so sees fit.

All shareholders can also vote by correspondence using
a form which can be sent to them in accordance with the
conditions specified by the notice to attend the Meeting.
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The Board of Directors can decide that shareholders
will be allowed to take part and vote in all General
Meetings by video conference or by any means of
telecommunications making it possible to identify them
in accordance with the legal and regulatory provisions.

Restrictions on the CEO’s powers

The CEO has the widest powers to represent the
company in all circumstances within the limits of its
corporate objects and subject to those powers expressly
conferred by law on the collective body of shareholders
and the Board of Directors.

In this respect, the Board of Directors has delegated
its powers to issue bonds to Christophe de Backer (Chief
Executive Officer), Jean Beunardeau and Gilles Denoyel
(Deputy Chief Executive Officers) and the Heads of the
fixed-income and forex markets. At present, there are
no specific restrictions on the Chief Executive Officer’s
powers, but in practice, decisions involving the orienta-
tion of company activities are submitted to the Board
of Directors for approval. These powers were modified
on 10 January 2012 to take into account changes in the
Senior Management.

The Chief Executive Officer has delegated certain
powers to the Deputy Chief Executive Officers and
Senior Corporate Vice-Presidents, who may in turn
delegate some of these powers to agents holding general
powers of attorney reporting directly to them.

These powers concern:
— representation of the bank;
— banking operations;
— bank-related operations;
— litigation.

Delegated powers must be exercised within the
bounds of the person’s responsibilities and in accord-
ance with the HSBC Group principles and practices.
A person with delegated powers may not individually
commit HSBC France to sums above EUR 1,500,000.

There are specific delegated powers concerning credit
and market risk, for which the CEO delegates his powers
(see “Authorisation limits and approval procedures”).
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The general framework of internal control
and risk management

Context

HSBC France has implemented a comprehensive
and sound system of internal control and procedures
adapted to the organisation and its various activities
in order to:

— ensure optimal execution of its operations;

— control all types of risk to which HSBC France is
exposed;

— control the quality and reliability of financial reporting;

— ensure compliance with current laws and regulations;

— ensure compliance with the HSBC Group standards.
Internal control at HSBC France relies on:

— cleararticulation of control levels and responsibilities;

— clear organisation charts and job descriptions with
appropriate delegations of authority and functional
and hierarchical line of report;

— segregation of duties;

— monitoring of the resources dedicated to internal
control;

— risk and control maps covering the entire scope of
HSBC in France;

— comprehensive procedures covering all activities and
more particularly specifying control responsibilities;

— clear outsourcing management policy;

— asound process on new products or services;

— acode of conduct established by the governance
bodies and imposed on all staff;

— the existence of rules, tools and an organisation to
assess, supervise and control the major risks;

— quality, security and integrity of information
systems;

— quality and integrity of accounting and manage-
ment information, based on accounting controls
and an audit trail;

— business recovery plans and IT recovery plans;

— areporting and committee framework ensuring
effective coordination between different levels of
control as well as a summary of assessments for the
executive and decision-making bodies;

— the assessment of this permanent control frame-
work by an independent third-level control (periodic
control).



The diagram below explains the three levels of
control at HSBC France:

— the operational units themselves;

Direct and/or Functional
Line of reporting

e Chief Executive Officer,
HSBC France

¢ HSBC Group Audit

* Audit and Risk Committee

* Board of Directors

¢ Deputy CEO responsible
for permanent control
and risk

¢ Central Operational Risk
and Internal Control

— dedicated second level control teams;

— the periodic control teams, which assess the efficiency

Organisation of the different levels of Internal Control

Third level control

Head of Group Audit
Group Audit France (GAF)
HSBC Group Internal Audit (INA)

Second level control — by function/business line
Business Line ORIC and BRCM teams
Function Internal Control teams

of permanent control.

Frequency

Periodic Reviews
(Cover the entire scope
for 4 years)

Periodic control

Department
¢ Audit and Blsk Committee Market risk  Compliance  Accounting ~ Creditrisk  Operational & Regular permanent
* Board of Directors control control controls control risk control C: controls (monthly,
quarterly, half-yearly, °
etc.) g
o
Reesdiciitompliancs First level control - Operational - é
Controls conducted by staff and overseen by their managers g
o
Permanent control, o
. . . . . on an ongoing basis
o Direct .reportl.ng manag-er Checkl.n.g .off Operations Sup.erw.smn Limit control Etc.
of Business Lines/Functions reconciliation control validation
Permanent control relies both on business lines — accounting function;

and functions with their own ORIC (Operational Risk
and Internal Control) teams and on risk functions, the

whole system being coordinated by the Central ORIC — tax function;

Department.

— IT function;

— legal affairs function;

Risk management is organised into ten risk functions
that have a transverse view across all HSBC France’s
business lines ':

— market function;
— credit function;

— structural interest rate, forex and liquidity risk
function;

— compliance function;

— business continuity function (which is enlarged
since January 2012 to security, fraud, and business
continuity);

— human resources function.

The HSBC Group has implemented an internal
control and risk management framework in reference to
COSO 22, In France, the Deputy CEO in charge of risk
and permanent control (in accordance with regulation
97-02) is also Chief Risk Officer (CRO).

1 The management of each risk by its function is described in detail in the Risk Management section.
2 Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
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HSBC Group Manuals

The GSM (HSBC Group Standards Manual) sets out
the standards that all HSBC Group companies must
observe. It applies to all the HSBC Group’s business
lines all over the world. No dispensation is granted
without the specific agreement of the HSBC Group
Chairman.

All the HSBC Group’s business activities must be
fully documented in manuals or compendia of proce-
dures. Functional Instruction Manuals (FIMs) contain
detailed policies and procedures relating to a specific
function, product or activity, which must be adhered
to throughout the HSBC Group, barring dispensation
granted by the FIM’s owner for the HSBC Group. In
addition, HSBC France and its subsidiaries are required
to document operating procedures and practices in
Business Instruction Manuals (BIMs).

The adequacy and effectiveness of these manuals
have to be reviewed at least once a year; managers are
required to report annually on the implementation
thereof, to confirm that their business activities are
fully covered by them, that they are comprehensive,
and that existing procedures have been reviewed over
the past year.

Handbook and Codes of Conduct

The Handbook features business ethics rules that apply
to all staff, relating to confidentiality, compliance with
laws and regulations and professional integrity. In addi-
tion to these rules, each of the bank’s business lines or
activities has a specific code of conduct and/or com-
pliance manual that collates operational application
procedures relating to staff business ethics and compli-
ance with laws and regulations. Staff members working
in functions regarded as sensitive are also subject to
specific requirements relating to personal transactions.

Internal circulars

Internal circulars are the key vehicle for communicating
internal standards and rules derived from French
regulatory requirements or HSBC Group standards
that apply to several or all HSBC Group structures
operating in France. They are available online on the
HSBC France Intranet, and are listed by nature, type
and recipient. The drafting, circulation and storing of
circulars are governed by precise rules (also formally
set out in a circular) and are regularly updated.

The internal committees

Risks are supervised by a number of dedicated committees, the general organisation of which is shown in the

diagram below.

HSBC France

o HSBC France Audit
o and Risk Committee ‘

A

A

Executive Committee

HSBC France RMM

I

Retail

ExCo

Global Banking
and Markets ExCo

Asset Management
ExCo

Insurance
ExCo

Private Bank
ExCo

36

Financial Risks
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Senior management is kept regularly informed of the
organisation and findings of permanent and periodic
controls, in particular through committees, the following
ones playing a key part in coordinating the control
framework, summarising controls and monitoring risks:

— Risk Management Meeting (RMM);

— Operational Risk and Internal Control (ORIC)
Committees;

— Compliance Committee;
— other specialist committees.

This framework is completed by special committees
in each entity, business line and function in order to
manage, monitor and control the risks specific to each
HSBC activity in France and combining the three levels
of Internal Control.

The Risk Management Meeting (RMM)

The RMM, which is chaired by the Chief Risk Officer
and includes most of the Executive Committee, as well
as managers in charge of risk functions, is an overaching
commiittee overseeing risk management and permanent
control. It meets every month to analyse HSBC France’s
main risks, as established by a previously agreed agenda.

The RMM reports functionally to its European
equivalent in the HSBC Group (European Risk
Management Committee) through its minutes and
with the participation of the Chief Risk Officer. All risk
assessments presented to the RMM are also used by
HSBC France’s Audit and Risk Committees. The RMM
covers all entities operating in France.

The RMM makes use of the work of a series of
dedicated committees and summarises their findings.
In particular, these committees include:

— for credit risks:

* the Risk Management Committees dedicated
to each Global Business (Retail Banking and
Wealth Management, Commercial Banking,
Global Banking and Markets);

— for market, liquidity and global interest rate risks:
¢ the Market Risk Committee,
* the ALM Committee (“Balance Sheet ALCO”);
— for “non-financial” risks:
» the Legal and Tax Risks Committee,
e the Compliance Committee,
* the Accounting Permanent control Committee,

* the People Risk Committee, for risks relating to
human resources,

e the IT Committee,

* the Major Risks and Security Committee,

» the HSBC France central ORIC (Operational
Risk and Internal Control) Committees (ORIC
CRO-COOs Committee and plenary ORIC
Committee);

— special committees:

* the Complex and/or Structured Deals Approval
Committee,

¢ the Product Examination Committee.

A report on ressources dedicated to second level
controls is submitted to the RMM on a regular basis
to check their adequacy in terms of skills and number.

The HSBC France central ORIC (Operational Risk
and Internal Control) Committees (ORIC CRO-
COOs Committee and plenary ORIC Committee)
Management and supervision of permanent control, as
defined by regulation 97-02, is the responsibility of the
HSBC France ORIC Committee CRO-COOs (Chief
Risk Officer — Chief Operating Officers).

Its rules, drawn from those of the HSBC Group, are
set out in a ToR (Terms of Reference) and have been
adapted to the requirements of regulation 97-02. They
are reviewed annually.

The committee meets on a quarterly basis under the
chairmanship of the CRO.

The aim is to ensure that HSBC France’s operating
permanent control and risk management framework
meets the requirements of the Autorité de contréle
prudentiel and the HSBC Group.

Within this framework, it is the committee’s respon-
sibility with regard to operational risk:

— to analyse the operational risks presented by the
various business lines and risk functions (in particular
mayjor risks) by validating or adapting the controls
proposed as necessary with a view to reducing
the risks;

— to review the progress made in action plans, in
particular those relating to risks deemed the most
critical;

— to review major incidents (actual or potential losses
and “near misses”) in terms of the amount or type
of incident, as reported by the businesses;

— to review the compliance of the operational risk
framework in respect of regulatory requirements
and the HSBC Group requirements (as defined
in the GSM, the FIM or Group Circular Letters);
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— to review cross-functional issues relating to opera-
tional risk management or methodological issues
(such as levels of criticality, reassessment of risks
after completion of action plans), define and then
periodically review operational risk monitoring

indicators.

The ORIC CRO-COOs Committee comprises:

— COOs (Chief Operating Officers) of HSBC France
businesses (Retail Banking and Wealth Management,
Commercial Banking, HSBC Technology Services,
Global Banking and Markets, Asset Management,

Private Banking, Insurance);

— Heads of the main risk functions;

— the Head of Internal Audit, Head of Group Audit

France (GAF);

— the Central ORIC (DCIRO) team, which coordinates

the committee and acts as secretary.

Committees

Retail: Retail Banking and
Retail Banking and Wealth Management —
Wealth Management — Commercial Banking
Commercial ORIC Committee
Banking

Retail/Operation: HTS ORIC Committee

HTS

Asset Asset Management ORIC
Management Committee

Insurance Insurance ORIC Committee

Global Banking
and Markets

Global Banking and Markets
ORIC Committee

Private Banking Private Banking ORIC

Committee
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HSBC France ORIC Committee
Plenary Quarterly
Businesses - Interim

The work of the ORIC CRO-COOs Committee is
based primarily on the summary of the work of the
HSBC France’s internal control and operational risk
management teams Committee, named HSBC France
plenary ORIC Committee, which combines all internal
control and operational risk management teams of
HSBC France businesses and functions, in the presence
of the Head of Internal Audit.

The HSBC in France plenary ORIC Committee
meets quarterly a few days before the ORIC CRO-COOs
Committee. Discussion of the issues raised allows for a
summary of the highlights, which constitutes the sup-
porting material for the ORIC CRO-COOs Committee.
The operating rules of the HSBC in France plenary
ORIC Committee are described in a specific ToR,
which is reviewed annually.

A summary of the committee’s work and findings
is sent periodically to the Risk Management Meeting
and to the Audit and Risk Committee of the HSBC
France group.

Risk Management Meeting

Committees

Accounting Accounting Permanent Control
Committee

Compliance Compliance Committee

Credit Risk Management Committee

IT HTS IT ORIC Committee

Legal Legal and Tax Risk Committee

Tax Legal and Tax Risk Committee

Liquidity, structural
interest rate, forex

Balance sheet ALCO
Market Market Risk Committee
Human Resources

People Risk Committee

Business continuity Major Risks and Security Committee



Each business line has an ORIC committee, which
convenes at least once quarterly. The permanent
members of the business line’s ORIC committee include
at least one manager of HSBC in France’s executive
body or the main entity of the business lines and the
managers of the various functions contributing to the
risk and permanent control framework. A Central
ORIC representative attends the committee’s meetings.

Each risk function holds a monthly or quarterly
permanent control committee meeting, chaired by
the function’s manager, and attended by the function’s
members and experts, business line and Central ORIC
representatives and, for some of them, the Deputy CEO
in charge of risks and permanent control.

The Compliance Committee

The Compliance Committee convenes once quarterly
under the chairmanship of the Chief Executive Office
of HSBC France, in the presence of the Chief Risk
Officer in charge of risks and the Executive Committee
members responsible for the business lines. The role of
this committee is twofold: it makes decisions relating
to the coordination of the compliance control system,
and reports to Senior Management about how the
system is working, any incidents and the corrective
measures applied.

Permanent control

Principles

Permanent control is primarily based on controls carried
out by the managers responsible for each activity. The
purpose of these controls is to ascertain that the activity
is conducted in accordance with all internal and external
rules and is up to standard. The key responsibility for
permanent control falls to the managers of the various
business lines and functions, who must ensure that
level-1 controls are conducted in a proper manner. This
organisation complies with the HSBC Group Standards
Manual (GSM), that “controls should be considered as
fully embedded in the activities”.

In addition to first level controls, HSBC France’s
permanent control is based on a series of procedures,
coordinated by the Deputy Chief Executive Officer in
charge of permanent control. These comprise primarily:

— the Central Operational Risk and Internal Control
Department (DCIRO), in charge of coordinating
permanent control procedures. The DCIRO oversees
the work carried out by the ORIC (Operational
Risk and Internal Control) and BRCM (Business
Risk and Control Management) teams within the
businesses and reports hierarchically to the business
line heads, as well as level-2 control teams within
specialist risk functions (excluding Compliance).
The DCIRO is also responsible for monitoring and

summarising permanent control tasks devolved on
the 10 risk functions.

The hierarchical positioning of this department
matches the organisational structure recommended
by the HSBC Group as a whole, which combines
coordination of permanent control framework
(internal control) and supervision of operational
risk framework within a single central team;

— the businesses’ internal control and operational
risk teams, responsible for coordinating permanent
control for the business line heads to whom they
report directly, who in turn are primarily responsible
for risk control, which should be fully integrated
into the management of activities;

— the ten risk functions in charge of specific risks
(Accounting, Compliance, Credit, Tax, IT, Legal,
Markets, Human Resources, Business Continuity
Plan, Structural interest rate, forex and liquidity).

In particular, the Compliance function is responsi-
ble for ensuring that all HSBC France group entities
control the risk of non-compliance as defined in
article 4 p) of regulation 97-02. Pursuant to article
11 of the regulation, the Chief Compliance Officer
ensures the consistency and efficiency of compli-
ance control;

— and lastly, a number of committees that examine
the results of controls and the main incidents.

In addition to its internal periodic control frame-
work, and with a view to complying with the provisions
of the 2006 American Sarbanes-Oxley law (SOX),
the HSBC Group has implemented a framework for
documenting and assessing internal control, with regard
to the processes and operations involved in drawing up
financial statements.

HSBC France’s Finance Department is responsible
for coordinating all SOX measures and summarising
their results.

Twice a year, the “SOX 4 Way Meeting”, chaired by
the Chief Financial Officer, and primarily comprising
the Statutory Auditors, the Periodic Control Officer
and the Chief Technology & Services Officer, reviews:

— any deficiencies revealed by SOX control measures
(documentation and “self-assessment” of business
lines and function within the scope);

— the result of tests run by the Statutory Auditors;
— the progress made in action plans.

At each quarter, HSBC France’s Audit and Risk
Committee is informed of the results of controls carried
out for SOX compliance purposes and of progress made
in the action plans.
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The ORIC framework

The Operational Risk and Internal Control (ORIC)
Department is responsible for coordinating perma-
nent control and for providing a forward looking and
transverse overview of risks. This department oversees
operational risk management and supervises the internal
control work of the ORIC teams of the various business
lines and departments with which a functional link has
been formed.

Central ORIC keeps an up-to-date reference frame-
work of permanent control and particularly ensures a
comprehensive coverage of risks.

This organisational structure, based on the model
adopted by the HSBC Group, also meets specific French
regulation requirements (regulation 97-02 in particular).

The Central ORIC Department team works closely
with the businesses’ internal control and operational risk
management teams, as well as the various specialist risk
functions; its role is to consolidate and harmonise, cover-
ing all entities or structures reporting to HSBC France
on key issues such as reviews of risk and control maps,
the design and monitoring of action plans, elaboration
of stress scenarios, incident declaration, monitoring
the introduction of risk indicators, and even reviewing
control plans, coordinating the formal definition of key
controls and the contents of reports.

This team also acts as an interface with the HSBC
Group, particularly on the European level. Notably, it is
involved in the consolidation and dispatch of required
reports, as well as disseminating instructions and best
practices.

The functional relationship between the ORIC
Department and businesses’ ORIC and BRCM teams
or internal audit officers is based on the following four
principles:

— monthly bilateral meetings between the Central
ORIC Department and the internal control and
operational risk management teams of the busi-
nesses and functions, at which the subjects discussed
include developments in activity and risk trends,
progress made in the annual control programme,
major incidents (actual or potential losses and “near
misses”), protection of information, etc. At least
once a year, risk mapping (in particular operational
risk) is more specifically reviewed, as is the draft
control programme for the following year, and an
overall assessment of the resources dedicated to
permanent control;

— ORIC'’s participation in the committees, which
include:

* the ORIC committees of the business lines,
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* the specialised risk function committees (Legal
and Tax Risk, Compliance, IT, Permanent
Control, Finance, etc.),

¢ the Audit Committees of HSBC France and its
subsidiaries;

— the business line and function ORIC teams’ submis-
sion of reports to Central ORIC, such as risks and
controls maps (on an ongoing basis and at least
once a year), support documents and minutes of
the Audit Committees of HSBC France subsidiaries,
annual contributions on internal control and risk
management for the reports to be submitted to the
Prudential Supervisory Authority (articles 42 and
43 of regulation 97-02);

— other “meeting points:

* dedicated groups (methods, indicators, risk sce-
narios, etc.),

* training and awareness-raising schemes (tech-
nical and regulatory watch, “workshops” and
seminars, etc.).

Enhancement of operational risk framework con-
tinued throughout the course of 2011, with a number
of highlights:

— the ORION system was rolled out at the end of the
year, replacing the former GORDON tool. In addi-
tion to managing operational incidents, ORION is
designed to become the sole risk management tool
for risk maps, action plans and risk and control
monitoring indicators;

— risk maps transformation, in accordance with the
HSBC Group’s RCA (Risk and Control Assessment)
methodology continued in 2011, depending on the
extension of scope defined with the HSBC Group.
Note that all risk maps relating to other activities
will move gradually to RCA format to allow for
consistency and record in the ORION system;

— annual tolerance operating losses are now set by
the business lines according to their risk appetite.
Internal control and operational risk management
teams are responsible for coordination and the
overall consistency of the process;

— in terms of general governance, the organisational
structure of the plenary ORIC Committee and the
Use Test questionnaire were reviewed in autumn
2011 in order to optimise their effectiveness;

— the project for enhancing governance and proce-
dures relating to information security was largely
completed. As a result, the level of risk at the end
of the year had improved significantly;



— procedures for managing outsourcing risk, con-
cerning both third-party service providers and
other HSBC Group entities, have been reviewed
extensively;

— aRisk Management Convention and regular meet-
ings to raise awareness about topical issues or risk-
related matters (Lunch & Learn) were organised for
all employees of the bank’s risk functions.

Compliance function

The HSBC France group’s permanent control frame-
work of the risks of non-compliance is coordinated by
the Compliance Department. Since March 2006, all
compliance personnel within the HSBC France group
report to the Compliance Department so as to ensure
full independence of the compliance function from
operational activities, as required by regulation 97-02.
The HSBC France group’s compliance control frame-
work and the internal organisation of the Compliance
Department are set out in two general implementation
circulars, which are updated regularly.

The Chief Compliance Officer is responsible for
compliance control at HSBC France, according to
Atrticle 11 of the aforesaid regulation, and for coordi-
nating the HSBC France group’s compliance control
framework. In addition, the Chief Compliance Officer
also acts as the Compliance Officer for HSBC France’s
Investment Services (RCSI) according to article 313-4 of
the AMF General Regulations. The Chief Compliance
Officer reports to the Deputy CEO in charge of risks.

The Compliance Department is responsible for
overseeing control of the risk of non-compliance,
as defined by article 4 p) of regulation 97-02, for all
HSBC France group entities. Although his scope of
intervention in that capacity extends to all measures
applying to banking and financial activities, supervising
due observance of regulations in certain specific areas
devolves on other risk functions in the HSBC France
group, at level one, which have the necessary expertise
and means (accounting standards, capital ratios, control
of major counterparty risks, recommendations on the
security of information system, etc.). In these specialised
areas, compliance is controlled within the framework
of the HSBC France group’s ORIC (Operational Risk
and Internal Control) Committee, to which the risk
functions are accountable for the smooth running of
the control framework in place and for any identi-
fied weaknesses and failures thereof, as well as at the
Risk Management Meeting (RMM), which is attended
by the Chief Compliance Officer. The Compliance
Department’s area of competence does not extend
to enforcing rules outside the sphere of banking and
finance, which are supervised by specialised entities of
HSBC France (labour and social security law, regula-
tions on the safety of people and property, etc.).

Identification of non-compliance risks

The Compliance Department relies in particular on the
Legal and Tax Department’s monitoring of legislative
and regulatory changes and developments in case law
that will have an impact on the HSBC France group,
their analysis of such changes and definition of their
methods of application.

The analysis of non-compliance risks is documented
in risk assessments listing the laws, regulations, profes-
sional rules and the HSBC Group internal rules that
apply to each business line or activity, and the proce-
dures and controls that ensure compliance with these
rules. Non-compliance risks affecting the HSBC France
group’s activities concern the following areas in par-
ticular: the struggle against money laundering, terrorist
financing and corruption, compliance with codes of
conduct relating to customer interests, protection of
the integrity and transparency of financial markets,
professional secrecy and the protection of personal
data, business ethics and the prevention of conflicts
of interest. Compliance risk maps are updated at least
every six months.

Compliance review procedures

The HSBC France group has for several years now had
specific procedures in place to review compliance, in
accordance with the provisions of articles 11-1 to 11-3
of regulation 97-02.

With regard to risks relating to new products and
services, as well as to significant changes to existing
products, current procedures call for predefined and
formal due diligence to be performed by the business
lines and control functions concerned, including the
Compliance Department, to ensure that all risks occa-
sioned by the new product or service are duly analysed
and taken into account. For that purpose, most of the
business lines have set up bodies specifically to review
commercial initiatives. At the HSBC France level, new
products and services that meet certain criteria are also
subject to prior approval by the Product Examination
Committee, which is chaired by the HSBC France CEO,
and for which the Compliance Department serves as the
secretariat. The Compliance Department is responsible
for ensuring that the products comply with both legal
and regulatory requirements and HSBC Group stand-
ards, and that the Committee’s requests and decisions
are taken into account before the products are launched.

Controlling compliance of operations generally relies
on recurrent controls carried out by the Compliance
Department and internal control services, as well as on
control duties performed by Compliance Department
teams (called compliance reviews) aimed at ensur-
ing due observance of regulatory provisions and the
applicable internal rules within a particular activity.
New products or services approved by the Product
Examination Committee undergo a formal ex-post
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review within less than 6 months of their launch, coor-
dinated by the internal control teams, to ensure they are
marketed under the same conditions as those initially
proposed to the Product Examination Committee, and
that the related risks were fully comprehended during
the approval process.

Overseeing the activities and results

of compliance control

Operational oversight of the compliance control frame-
work and follow-up on any identified discrepancies
relies, first of all, on periodic and specific reporting
procedures in the Compliance channel. The Compliance
Officers of each HSBC France group entity prepare a
quarterly report on legal and regulatory compliance for
the activity within the scope of his or her responsibility
and sends this report to the Head of Compliance for
the business line concerned.

Compliance exceptions are the subject of a report
prepared by the Compliance Officer of the relevant entity
that is passed on to the appropriate level of the compli-
ance function. Action taken to remedy these incidents
is then monitored on a regular basis using a dedicated
tool called IRIS (Integrated Regulatory Information
System). As part of its consolidated approach to the
risks of non-compliance, the Compliance Department
also centralises and follows up on the recommendations
issued by the supervisory authorities after their intervention
in the HSBC France group entities.

The system’s mode of operation and the main identi-
fied non-compliance risks are reviewed by dedicated
control authorities, consisting of compliance representa-
tives and operational managers.

Organisation of accounting

Accounting control procedures

The Finance Department is responsible for the proper
application of the HSBC France group’s accounting
principles and accounting control procedures. It defines
the procedures and controls to be applied under the
responsibility of each legal entity’s accounting depart-
ment. This more particularly concerns accounting
and reconciliation procedures designed to verify the
existence and validity of balance sheets, off-balance
sheet statements and income statements.

The Finance Department maintains accounting
control manuals featuring procedures and instructions,
which comply with French accounting standards.

Oversight of the accounting and regulatory audit
trail is formally defined in a number of procedures
and documents relating to the accounting architec-
ture of HSBC France and in the “Datawarechouse”.
These procedures are formally drafted in the Finance
Department by the teams of the “Standards, MOA
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and Tools”, “Accounting, Reporting and Regulatory
Affairs” and “Accounting Controls” Departments.
These are documents of varying natures relating to
accounting tools and interfaces, accounting charts,
certification of the financial statements, statements of
user requirements, methods of operation for the audit
trail, etc. The updating of this documentation is part
of the annual review of the procedures and circulars
of HSBC France, steered by the audit teams of Group
Audit France (GAF).

The main accounting principles applicable within
the HSBC Group in France are available for consul-
tation by all accounting departments on the HSBC
France Intranet. These principles are based essen-
tially on the French Commercial Code, the fourth
European Directive, IFRS and all CRC texts and
recommendations.

In addition to specific accounting and financial
publications, circulars are sent to the accounting and
financial staff of HSBC France and its subsidiaries
in order to standardise the level of knowledge and
understanding of accounting standards in the group.

This system aims to ensure the effectiveness and
quality of internal controls over the preparation of
accounting and financial information throughout the
HSBC France group.

Organisation of accounting production

All business units have a finance function that reports
monthly to the Finance Department. Most reporting
documents are produced monthly and on both a non-
consolidated and consolidated basis.

These departments are responsible for drawing up
budgets and action plans in line with guidance provided
by Senior Management. As it is responsible for manag-
ing accounting, the Finance Department organised
a number of meetings in 2011 to discuss the budget
procedure, certification of the financial statements and
Sarbanes-Oxley measures.

HSBC France’s accounting architecture is based on
event-driven operating systems. At the end of each day,
an interpreter converts the events into journal entries
in the accounting system.

The operating systems are comprised of specialised
applications devoted to a particular activity (loans,
credit, securities transactions, foreign exchange transac-
tions, etc.). Some transactions, which are not managed
by these systems or which are not ordinary events (taxes,
provisions, etc.) are entered into the accounting system
using secure manual data entry tools under “Sundry
transactions”. Like the other operating systems, they
send events to the accounting interpreter, thereby ben-
efitting from the controls already in place.



HSBC France’s banking operations are heavily
automated using internally and externally developed
software systems to provide consistent, reliable and
timely processing of information. The systems are tested
by developers before user acceptance tests are carried
out. Specific internal training programmes are designed
to ensure that users fully understand the new process.

The introduction of IFRS means that accounting
systems are being adapted to allow HSBC France and
its main subsidiaries to produce financial statements
compliant with both French GAAP and IFRS. The
HSBC Group’s integrated System 9 consolidation
software produces IFRS-compliant consolidated
financial reporting statements that also meet all the
requirements of the Autorité de contréle prudentiel and
the parent company.

The introduction of a financial and balance sheet
datawarehouse in early 2005 has facilitated reconcilia-
tion and ensures that accounting, financial, regulatory
and management reports are consistent with financial
accounting. The datawarehouse stores data from both
HSBC France and its subsidiaries. It contains various
types of data: accounting data, inventories, or detailed
breakdowns of carrying values depending on the infor-
mation required for internal and external disclosure.
Consistency controls have been established within the
datawarehouse, which feeds the System 9 consolidation
software and is used to produce the various French
regulatory reports via the Evolan Report software.

In early 2008, the accounting and regulatory services
developed a tool to make use of the audit trail produced
by HSBC France’s information system, in particular
the “datawarehouse”. This tool makes it possible to
track down the initiating event of a transaction in the
operating system. Furthermore, since mid-2009, this
tool has been in place for the accounting audit trail
and used for financial statements (balance sheet and
income statement) and for the SURFI “Situation”
(financial position) and “Compte de Résultat” (earnings)
statements. The tables that have been put in place and
tested allow for the production of the book-keeping
vouchers for all the aforesaid statements contract by
contract on demand. Archiving procedures have been
specified; financial position statements available online:
M (current month), M-1, M-2, MAR (quarterly), JUN
(half-yearly), SEP (quarterly), DEC (annual). The
other financial position statements remain stored in
the databases and are available on demand (36 months
of history).

Accounting production controls

HSBC France’s financial control environment is based
on routine controls such as basic reconciliation, audit
trails and spot checks by financial control staff.

According to the HSBC Group’s rules, HSBC France
draws up a monthly certificate of accounting reconcilia-

tion which is sent to the HSBC Group Finance Division.
This certificate attests that all accounts are properly
reconciled and summarises accounting reconciliation
certificates provided by the various accounting and
financial departments of HSBC France and its subsidi-
aries. This monthly reporting is based on the principle
that each general ledger account is assigned to a specific
person who is responsible for its reconciliation and
signs the corresponding accounting certificate. This is
the responsibility of the subsidiary and the Head of the
Accounting and Finance Department. Any irregularities
revealed by the reconciliation certificate are used as a
basis for corrective action by the entities concerned.
The Finance Department’s accounting control service
conducts reviews in HSBC France departments to
ascertain due application of control procedures and
the quality of the supporting documents.

In addition, the SOX team — part of the Finance
Department — has access via a HSBC Group database
to the audit points of Group Audit France (GAF) and
Global Business Lines and Functions and Europe Audit
(IAF). This enables it to follow up the SOX recom-
mendations issued by periodic controls across the entire
accounting and financial scope.

Statements to the supervisory authorities that
contain accounting information are prepared directly
by the operational departments and subsidiaries. Each
accounting or finance officer examines and validates
the information. Financial reports are submitted to
the Chief Financial Officer and Executive Committee
of HSBC France and, before the financial statements
are published, sent to the HSBC Group’s Finance
Department for presentation to the HSBC Group
Management Board and HSBC Bank plc’s Executive
Committee.

Within the HSBC France group, financial control is
decentralised at the operational department and subsidi-
ary levels. Operational departments and subsidiaries
report monthly to their own management and to the
Finance Department. The CFO presents the results to
the Executive Committee each month and reports to
the HSBC France Board of Directors.

The Audit and Risk Committee examines the quar-
terly, interim and annual financial statements submitted
to the Board of Directors.

In order to comply with the American Sarbanes-
Oxley Act (SOX) of 2006, HSBC France’s management
must carry out an in-depth assessment of the internal
control procedures used in drawing up financial state-
ments. The most significant processes in this respect are
thus the subject of detailed documentation and specific
controls, supervised on a regular basis as part of the
quarterly review system. These detailed analyses of flows
of transactions to accounts help improve audit trail
control. Weaknesses identified by such controls must
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be corrected as soon as possible and a dedicated team
has been set up to oversee and coordinate all such work.

The Audit Department also contributes to these
controls with independent tests relating to Sarbanes-
Oxley (SOX) controls. The Statutory Auditors conduct
an annual review of the work carried out on behalf
of the HSBC Group Auditors, who in turn give their
opinion on the SOX 404 report prepared by the manage-
ment of HSBC Holdings plc. The Statutory Auditors
are therefore involved in each quarterly review of SOX
risks and audit SOX processes at the end of the year.

Each quarter, HSBC France’s Audit and Risk
Committee is informed of the results of controls carried
out for SOX compliance purposes and of progress made
in the action plans. A certificate signed by the CEO, the
CFO, and the Head of Internal Audit is sent twice a
year to HSBC Bank plc, attesting to the effectiveness of
financial internal control procedures and where appro-
priate specifying any weaknesses undergoing correction
as identified by those in charge of assessing controls.

Periodic controls

In accordance with regulation 97-02, periodic controls
aim to ascertain the compliance of operations, the levels
of risk actually incurred by the bank, due observance of
the procedures and the efficiency and appropriateness
of the permanent control frameworks, by means
of independent investigations conducted by central
agents qualified for this purpose. This periodic control
framework applies to the entire company, including

subsidiaries.

In 2011, the HSBC Group’s Internal Audit depart-
ment began to undergo major changes (“INA 13” plan),
resulting in particular in the gradual creation of global
teams, each of which is responsible for covering the bank’s
main business lines and functions, which are now also
globalised. Within this new framework, HSBC France’s
periodic controls are carried out sometimes directly by the
HSBC Group Internal Audit Department (INA), some-
times by Group Audit France (GAF), and sometimes by
both together. The terms of their respective intervention
and collaboration are set out in an agreement signed on
25 March 2011, subsequently reflected in April 2011 in

a new HSBC France Audit Charter.

Audits conducted by INA within HSBC France are
carried out via three separate departments specialising

in the areas listed below:

“Global Businesses and Functions and European

Audit”, named “IAF”, in charge of auditing:
* Global Banking and Markets,
* Insurance and pension expenses,

* Asset Management and Private Banking,

44

*  ALM (Assets/Liabilities Management), working
capital requirements, accounting and financial
control, tax situation,

e central functions,
* the Europe region;
— “Risk Audit”, named “IAG”, in charge of auditing:
« credit risk for large corporates,
*  Commercial Banking,
* Retail Banking and Wealth Management,

» operational risk and permanent control proce-
dures (ORIC);

— “HTS Audit”, named “TAH”, in charge of auditing:
* application and project developments,

e infrastructures and IT systems and
communications,

* banking transactions, security and fraud and
control of information risk.

The audits conducted by GAF covered — in addition
to INA or in association with INA — entities, themes
or projects able to meet regulatory requirements for
exhaustive control of all of HSBC France’s activities.

Although the organisational structure of periodic
controls has changed, its end purpose remains the same:
to check and assess the quality of risk management and
control systems by ascertaining both due observance
of national regulations applicable to the audited area
and the correct application of standards and procedures
in force within the HSBC Group. In the hierarchy of
HSBC Group controls, Internal Audit is the “third
line of defence”, intervening after the business lines
themselves and the permanent control teams in relation
to “Operational Risk and Internal Control” (ORIC).

Periodic controls also ensure the degree of risk control
of the audited entities or processes, by examining the
permanent control framework as a matter of priority and
ascertaining due implementation of the recommendations
made by prior internal or external audits (conducted by
the Regulators or the Statutory Auditors).

Audit work is done in accordance with the HSBC
Group’s audit standards, as set out in particular in
the Group Audit Standards Manual (GASM). The
GASM is updated a number of times a year, and the
consolidated version should be re-read by auditors at
least once a year and its recommendations implemented
during each audit.

In addition, the HSBC Group’s auditing standards
are set forth, in GAF, in internal procedures or appro-
priate operating procedures. The reference framework
formed by all these documents is used by the audit



teams to conduct their audits. This corpus was exten-
sively overhauled and enhanced in 2011, particularly
in accordance with recommendations following the
intervention of the Autorité de contréle prudentiel (ACP)
in 2010 concerning HSBC France periodic control
procedures.

The audit approach is based on an assessment of
all risk components specific to each auditable item
(entity, theme or project), and is implemented with
the Audit Information System (AIS) tool developed
by the HSBC Group. In 2011, HSBC France’s audit
plan was drawn up in close collaboration between GAF
and INA, drawing primarily on the results of the “Risk
Calculator” tool, one of the key components of this
system, which classifies auditable items according to the
degree of risk to which they expose the bank. Themed
audits were also performed, either at the request of the
HSBC Group or due to specific events affecting the
life of the bank. Changes in audits or bank structures
require periodic and documented reviews of the Risk
Calculator, needed to ensure its operational consistency
and coverage of the entire risk scope.

Since 2011, audit reports have been given two grades:

— one pre-existing grade concerning the quality of
controls (“Control Risk Grade”) implemented
by the audited item, based on an either/or choice
(Satisfactory/Not satisfactory);

— another new grade reflecting Internal Audit’s
assessment of control of the audited item’s risk
(Management Awareness Grade — MAG) by its
management team. This is designed to provide,
with the support of the audit, “Management Self-
Identified Issues” (MS-IIs), designed to reflect the
degree of understanding of the risks to which the
activity in question is exposed and action plans
implemented to stem these risks. The MAG is
established on the basis of a three-ratings scale
(Acceptable / Needs improvement / Inadequate).

This dual assessment and the corresponding report
are sent to the person responsible for the audited item,
who is then responsible for implementing the audit
recommendations, as well as any recommendations
made by the supervisory authorities or the Statutory
Auditors. All audit reports are sent to the bank’s Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Risk Officer, Compliance
Officers and ORIC managers.

Audit recommendations are monitored rigorously:
quarterly progress reports must be sent to GAF by each
audited entity until they have been fully implemented,
at which time they are formally closed.

The periodic control teams review these progress
reports on implementation of high and medium risk
recommendations and approve the audited entities’
responses to any recommendations on high risks,

drawing on the evidence provided or, if necessary,
carrying out further tests themselves. The process is
supported by a tool that automatically sends audited
entities reminders of their obligations seven weeks in
advance, then closely monitors implementation times.
Audited entities can report directly on progress made
in implementing audit recommendations by using the
Audit Issues Database (AID) feature of the AIS tool.

High or repeat risk recommendations, as well as
those for which the implementation deadline is more
than six months (high or medium risk), are subject to
a monthly report by the Periodic Control Officer to the
Risk Management Meeting (RMM), and a quarterly
report to the HSBC France Audit and Risk Committee.
In addition, since April 2011, in accordance with ACP
recommendations, the Periodic Control Officer also
presents high risk recommendations made by global
audit teams relating to HSBC France that were opened
or closed during the past quarter.

The set of procedures referred to in this report constitutes
the basis of HSBC France’s internal control system.
Senior Management is responsible for overseeing the
systems with support from the internal control function,
particularly to ensure consistency.

Following major efforts throughout the HSBC France
group, Senior Management now has the resources to
comprehensively assess the quality of internal control.

Stuart Gulliver
Chairman

Paris, 22 February 2012
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Chairman’s report on corporate governance and internal control
and risk management procedures (continued)

Statutory Auditors’ report prepared in accordance with article L. 225-235
of the French Commercial Code, on the report prepared by the Chairman of the Board

This is a free translation into English of a report issued in French and provided solely for the convenience of English-
speaking readers. This report should be read in conjunction with, and is construed in accordance with, French law and
professional auditing standards applicable in France.

Year ended 31 December 2011
To the shareholders,

In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of HSBC France, and in accordance with Article L. 225-235 of the French
Commercial Code (“Code de Commerce”), we hereby report on the report prepared by the Chairman of your
company in accordance with Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code (“Code de Commerce”) for the year
ended 31 December 2011.

It is the Chairman’s responsibility to prepare, and submit to the Board of Directors for approval, a report on the
internal control and risk management procedures implemented by the company and containing the other disclosures
required by Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code (“Code de Commerce”) particularly in terms of the
corporate governance measures.

It is our responsibility:

— to report to you on the information contained in the Chairman’s report in respect of the internal control
and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of the accounting and financial
information; and

— to attest that this report contains the other disclosures required by Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code
(“Code de Commerce”), it being specified that we are not responsible for verifying the fairness of these disclosures.

We conducted our work in accordance with professional standards applicable in France.

Information on the internal control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of
accounting and financial information

These standards require that we perform the necessary procedures to assess the fairness of the information provided
in the Chairman’s report in respect of the internal control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation
and processing of the accounting and financial information. These procedures consisted mainly in:

— obtaining an understanding of the internal control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation
and processing of the accounting and financial information on which the information presented in the
Chairman’s report is based and existing documentation;

— obtaining an understanding of the work involved in the preparation of this information and existing documentation;

— determining if any significant weaknesses in the internal control procedures relating to the preparation and
processing of the accounting and financial information that we would have noted in the course of our
engagement are properly disclosed in the Chairman’s report.

On the basis of our work, we have nothing to report on the information in respect of the company’s internal
control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial
information contained in the report prepared by the Chairman of the Board in accordance with Article L. 225-37
of the French Commercial Code (“Code de Commerce”).

Other disclosures
We hereby attest that the Chairman’s report includes the other disclosures required by Article L. 225-37 of the
French Commercial Code (“Code de Commerce”).

Paris-La Défense and Paris, on 20 April 2012

KPMG Audit BDO France — Léger & Associés
Department of KPMG S. A. Michel Léger
Pascal Brouard Partner
Partner
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Sustainability

Management of Corporate sustainability

At HSBC Group, it is recognised that environmental,
social and economic issues are critical to the long-term
success as a business. For HSBC, corporate sustainability
means achieving sustainable profit growth so that HSBC
can continue to reward shareholders and employees,
build long-lasting relationships with customers and
suppliers, pay taxes and duties in those countries where
it operates, and invest in communities for future growth.

HSBC France applies the same commitment to
sustainability issues, integrating HSBC Group principles
and practices to all its activities.

Sustainability within the HSBC Group

Climate finance

Banks intermediate between savings and lending, driving
economic growth. The HSBC Group helps individuals
manage their patrimony over their lifetime, companies
grow by enabling them to access financing and equity
and facilitating trade, and governments meet the needs
of their nation. The HSBC Group aims to build long-
term customer relationships around the world through
the provision of a consistent and high-quality service
and customer experience. The HSBC Group uses the
benefits of its scale, financial strength, geographical
reach and strong brand value to achieve this.

HSBC is also in a strong position to contribute to
a more sustainable world through its support of the
international growth of climate business — the goods
and services which will help the world move to a low
carbon economy. The HSBC Group has established
central and regional climate business teams who look
at the opportunities which will come about as a result
of technology and a changing climate.

Operational environmental efficiency

The HSBC Group focuses its environmental initiatives
primarily on addressing and responding to issues
associated with climate change, including energy
use, water and waste management. This issue has
the potential to materially affect its customers and,
by extension, its long-term success, introducing new
risks to business activity. At the end of 2011, the HSBC
Group committed to a series of targets stretching
through to 2020, which will further reduce the Group’s
impact on the environment.

Community investment

The HSBC Group has a long-standing commitment to
the communities in which it operates. Many of HSBC
key markets are emerging economies. The HSBC Group
operations bring benefits to HSBC host countries
through tax contributions, and to local people and

businesses through employment, training, purchasing
and investment. Beyond HSBC core business, the
HSBC Group aims to encourage social and economic
opportunity through community investment activities.
The HSBC Group’s focus is on education and the envi-
ronment because HSBC believes they are essential
building blocks for the development of communities
and are prerequisites for economic growth. In 2011,
the HSBC Group donated USD 96 million to com-
munity investment projects and HSBC France donated
EUR 2.3 million.

Employee issues

“Employee engagement” describes employees’ emotional
and intellectual commitment to their organisation and
its success and is critical to the long-term ability of the
HSBC Group to deliver the highest quality of financial
services. The HSBC annual Global People Survey
measures and benchmarks attitude and engagement.
In 2011, 66 per cent of colleagues in France said they
were satisfied with the actions HSBC is taking to embed
sustainability into the way it runs its business (see
“stakeholders” Dialogue page 48).

Sustainability governance

The Corporate Sustainability Committee, a committee
of the Board of HSBC Holdings plc, is responsible
for advising the Board, Committees of the Board
and the Group Executive Management on corporate
sustainability policies, including environmental, social
and ethical issues.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Sustainability
Committee, which are reviewed annually, are available
at www.hsbc.com/boardcommittees.

Sustainability at HSBC France

Governance

In order to launch and effectively implement this
strategy in France, in 2008, HSBC France created
a Sustainability Department, which is overseen by
the Chief Executive Officer. It has § members and it
coordinates the implementation of action plans which
have been developed in conjunction with the relevant
business area.

The business area representatives meet once every
quarter within the Sustainability Committee to monitor
the progress or any delays in the deployment of this
strategy.

In 2009, the bank in France reinforced this system by
setting up a committee dedicated to managing the direct
impact of the business. This Committee is responsible
for coordinating with HSBC Group action plans to
manage the group overall environmental footprint.
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Sustainability (continued)

In 2010, HSBC France created a Diversity
Committee, which is responsible for dealing with
issues related to diversity and for proposing action
plans to the France People Committee. The aim of
this Committee is to enable the Senior Management
of HSBC France to track and manage all issues related
to Human Resources with a strategic impact, on a
monthly basis.

Finally, in 2011, a Corporate Sustainability Finance
Committee was set up, following the organisational
model of the HSBC Group’s Climate Business Council,
in order to share the decisions taken with directors of
business lines across the HSBC Group and to identify
any local opportunities related to climate business.

Work and reports

To help it develop its activities, HSBC France par-
ticipates in the work of the ORSE (Observatoire de la
Responsabilité Sociale de I’ Entreprise) and is a member
of the Orientation Committee of the IMS-Entreprendre
pour la Cité network. These two independent institutions
work with their member companies, stakeholders from
civil partnerships and their transnational counterparts
in order to more clearly understand the issues and
identify good practices in the area of corporate respon-
sibility. HSBC France also sits on the Board of Heads
of Corporate Sustainability — C3D, an independent
organisation which helps raise the voice and opinion of
Heads of Corporate Sustainability of large and medium
companies and organisations in France.

Finally, in order to take its progress into account,
since 2011, HSBC France has published the Revue de la
Fondation HSBC pour I’ Education (HSBC Foundation
for Education Review), and publishes a report on sus-
tainability each year, at the same time as the report
published by its parent company, HSBC Holdings plc.
In France, these reference documents are available
exclusively over the Internet at the following address:
http://www.hsbe.fr/rapportsdd.

The role of HSBC France in the economy
and in support of corporate sustainability

Territorial, economic and social impact
of HSBC France's activities

HSBC France profit distribution

(in millions of euros) 2011 2010
Net cash outflow for taxes ........ 323 586
Distributions to shareholders

and non-controlling interest . . ... 118 720
Wages and benefits.............. 998 1,039
General operating expenses ...... 558 615
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Relations with individuals or organisations
interested in the company'’s activities

“Stakeholders” Dialogue

An initial meeting between HSBC key stakeholders was
organised in March 2011, one year before the declara-
tion of the HSBC Group in France concerning this
type of dialogue was made mandatory (article 225 of
the “Grenelle II” law). That meeting brought together
a panel of 10 people from environmental, labour and
corporate organisations, academic and SRI experts and
economic observers. This initiative showed that there
is a high level of interest in HSBC France’s sustainable
development activities. It also revealed an expectation
about the level of evidence and outcomes expected of
the banking sector, such as assistance for clients and the
level of engagement of the banking sector in making
a positive contribution to the French economy and
addressing its problems.

Listening to individual clients

The results of the satisfaction indicator of personal
clients showed a certain level of confusion among clients
concerning SRI funds, and the need to improve aware-
ness about such products.

Listening to private clients

The HSBC Private Bank clients have been the subject of
a qualitative study, which was conducted to survey their
opinions and expectations concerning philanthropic
services (for further information, see section “2011 —
a review — Private Banking” page 50).

Listening to HSBC employees

Each year, the HSBC Group conducts a survey of
involvement (Global People Survey) among all of its
employees. The results of that survey are then spe-
cifically taken into account in order to improve the
performance of the bank and the involvement of its
employees, which are closely correlated.

In July 2011, 63 per cent of HSBC France’s employees
responded to the Global People Survey. Of those
employees, 23 per cent declared that they are involved
on a volunteer basis in some community investment
activity organised by the Group in France. Those
employees have a rate of involvement in the company that
is 6 points higher than that of the other employees, and
4 points higher than the average for the HSBC Group.

Communications

HSBC maintains specialised partnerships with the
Planet workshops forum and Terra Eco magazine, and
provides information and data concerning its corporate
sustainability policy, and its progress, to a wide variety
of both internal and external partners, to promote a
full dialogue with all stakeholders.


http://www.hsbc.fr/rapportsdd
http://www.hsbc.fr/rapportsdd

Policy concerning subcontractors and suppliers

HSBC requires its suppliers to provide it with
information on their corporate sustainability policy.
A company that is able to justify a specific activity has
a greater chance of being chosen as a supplier for the
Group. Responsible practices and certification ISO
(International Standard Organisation), FSC (Forest
Stewardship Council) or the AFNOR (A4ssociation
Frangaise de Normalisation) diversity label are criteria
that will determine HSBC’s choice. In France, all suppliers
must sign and be familiar with the HSBC Group’s
supplier code of conduct.

Fairness of practices: ensuring the integrity
of activities by means of governance
and compliance

Governance

For HSBC France, corporate governance is funda-
mental to a sustainable organisation. Since it became
part of the HSBC Group, the bank has continued
applying the rules of the Corporate Governance Code
for Listed Companies, even though its an unlisted
company. In accordance with Law No. 2008-649 of
3 July 2008, transposing European Directive 2006/46/
EC of 14 June 2006, the company refers initially to the
Corporate Governance Code for Listed Companies
published in December 2008 and revised in April 2010
by the AFEP and the MEDEF.

However, since HSBC France is a 99.9 per cent
subsidiary of the HSBC Group and its equity securities
are not listed on a regulated stock market, it has been
necessary to adapt certain principles of the Corporate
Governance Code. In some areas, HSBC France applies
rules of corporate governance from the United Kingdom
(the Combined Code on Corporate Governance), which
its parent company, HSBC Holdings plc, applies.

Secondly, as a supplier of financial services, HSBC
France must be careful not to provide any involuntary
support for controversial initiatives. As an integral part
of its development plan, corporate sustainability is a
tool for this strategy.

As at 31 December 2011, the Board of Directors of
HSBC France was made up of 18 Directors, including
2 who carry out duties within the HSBC Group,
4 members who are on the Management Board of
HSBC France, 8 who are independent non-executive
Directors and 4 who are Directors who have been
elected by the employees. In addition, the Board of
Directors is assisted by two committees: the Audit and
Risk Committee, made up of independent non-executive
Directors, and the Nomination and Remuneration

Committee, which is chaired by an independent non-
executive Director. The Board receives regular updates
on corporate sustainability and how the business
is managing its environmental and social impacts.

Compliance

The Compliance function, which was set up at HSBC
France in 2001, is responsible for ensuring that the
businesses’ activities are conducted with integrity and
professionalism, in accordance with the law, regulations
and good practices that are currently in effect in France.
In 2011, specific attention was paid to the investor
protection mechanism, both in terms of following up
on claims and accessing the information that is made
available to clients. The compliance teams worked to
reinforce the anti-corruption mechanism and to set
up a new tool to fight money laundering in the HSBC
France network. In particular, significant modifications
were made to the filtering of interbank flows as part
of the fight against terrorism. The implementation of
these various projects now provides to clients with an
environment that is even more secure.

2011 — a review

Integration in business lines

Branch network

At the end of 2010, HSBC France embarked on an
awareness and integration programme to raise the level
of awareness of management, employee and branch
clients and demonstrate how corporate sustainability
contributes to the performance of the banking relation-
ship on a daily basis.

Two pilot branches were chosen, one in the I/e-
de-France area and the other in the Sud Rhéne-Alpes
region, to participate in the first stage of implementing
this change. Their employees participated in a session to
raise their awareness about corporate sustainability. An
action plan organised around each of the focuses of the
HSBC France’s corporate sustainability strategy, will
be launched in 2012. At the end of this pilot project,
there will be a review to prepare the possible use of this
strategy across the network.

HSBC France is raising the awareness of its employees
and its corporate clientele about the issues related to
corporate sustainability and is continuing to develop
its commercial offer on an ongoing basis in order to
provide its clients with an ethical, responsible and profit-
able approach, in particular by means of promoting its
range of SRI funds.

Client service, client experience and satisfaction

HSBC France meets the HSBC Group’s level of client
service requirements. In fact, HSBC aims to be the
bank of reference in Wealth Management business and
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strives for excellence in the quality of services provided
to its clients, notably Premier and Patrimoniaux services,
which represent its privileged client targets.

A team is dedicated to monitoring client experi-
ence. A “client voice” procedure allows the bank’s
performance in terms of client satisfaction to be
measured monthly and quarterly and twice a year
and compares this data against HSBC competitors.
An investigation into the service quality in branches
is also regularly carried out. Its results (score and opinions
by clients in each branch) are given to the branch
directors, and since 2011, have been included when
calculating the variable remuneration of all branch
employees, as are the results of the mystery visitor
procedure within the network.

In 2011, against a backdrop of financial crisis
and anti-bank sentiment, the satisfaction rate of
HSBC France Premier clients has remained stable all
year long, and the score of Premier Patrimoniaux clients
has continued to advance to reach its highest level in
the last quarter of 2011. This is, in no small part, due
to the efforts HSBC France has made to significantly
increase the quality and reactivity of services provided
to this segment of clientele. HSBC France spent time
identifying the specific needs of these clients and
equipped its advisors with the skills to meet these needs.

In the fourth quarter of 2011, the number of HSBC
France clients who said they were “very satisfied”
reached 55 per cent, placing the bank second in the
market. In the same quarter, 38 per cent of clients
said they have recommended HSBC during the past
two years, making HSBC France the market leader
on this metric.

The number of complaints recorded in 2011 is stable
amongst personal clients, both in branches and in the
head office, and notably down for corporate clients. Up
to 30 per cent of branch and head office complaints
concern pricing (including requests for explanations,
contesting and requests for the reimbursement of fees
and various commissions), 10 per cent of complaints
relate to credit cards (management of utilisation,
fraud, foreign transaction pricing, managing maximum
amounts), 7 per cent to domestic and international
transfers (deadlines, transfer and exchange rate commis-
sions), and 6 per cent of complaints concern real estate
credit, with the management of such strong demand
leading, in some specific cases, to delays or referrals of
signature dates of real estate asset acquisitions.

The number of letters sent to the ombudsman by
the clients is up 10 per cent compared with 2010, and
the number of cases dealt with by the ombudsman
(seisin) is up 6 per cent.

50

Commercial Banking

In 2011, HSBC France launched a financing offer in
partnership with Oséo: the HSBC Prét Vert (green
loan). This device is intended for investments in the real
economy which help to protect the environment and
reduce energy consumption. Reserved for companies of
more than three years, this Oséo/HSBC joint financing
benefits from a partial deferred amortisation and no
guarantee is required on corporate assets.

HSBC France also undertook a number of initiatives
to raise the awareness of its corporate clients and its
own commitment amongst key stakeholders, and to
share best practice:

— Green Dating: monthly sustainable economy meetings
that take place every month at the HSBC France
head office. They allow directors, entrepreneurs,
investors and associations to present their strategy
and discuss a particular theme;

— Les Ateliers de la Terre: for the fifth year running,
HSBC France took part in this international yearly
forum as official partner. It brings together more
than 500 opinion leaders, company directors, politi-
cal managers, scientists and academics. The bank
invites its Commercial Banking clientele;

— Le Club Génération Responsable: this dynamic asso-
ciation accompanies franchise networks with their
corporate sustainability strategies;

— for the third year running, HSBC France took part
in the Pro Durable trade show.

Private Banking

Private Banking has continued to develop its phil-
anthropic service for private clients. HSBC wants to
encourage and support philanthropic endeavours, which
is an integral part of wealth diversification for a growing
number of clients. HSBC helps connect clients with
similar interests and provides the expertise to support
philanthropic initiatives, helping clients to ensure their
giving has a beneficial impact. In the context of this
support, Private Banking offers its clients the chance to
take part in the Rencontres des Philanthropes, an exclu-
sive circle where, every two months, they can discuss
and attend themed meetings with an expert. These
meetings take place during a dinner, at the Group’s
head office in France.

Socially responsible investment (SRI)

Consistent with its commitment in the field of corpo-
rate sustainability, the HSBC SRI offering has been
designed to meet the needs of a broad range of clients:
institutions, asset managers, multi-managers, compa-
nies, associations and individuals. This offering is also
included in the HSBC France fundamental range and
is accessible in the context of life insurance contracts
offered by the group.



SRI amounts outstanding increased, despite
headwinds caused by events in the eurozone and an
overall drop in collections. At 31 December 2011, the
amount outstanding stood at EUR 2.1 billion; this
represents a 15 per cent increase in funds outstanding
compared with 2010, which is explained by the collection
on existing SRI funds, monetary, diversified and equity.
SRI fund HSBC Actions Développement Durable saw
its amounts outstanding grow to 78 per cent, which
reflects the investment of institutional clients and cor-
porate clients (via employee savings plans) and also a
reorganisation of the range of funds presenting similar
investment outlooks and objectives.

HSBC France active participation in the second
edition of the week of the SRI (from 10 to 16 October
2011), working closely with HSBC Global Asset
Management (France), also helped to supply collecting
from SRI funds.

SRI employee savings plans

The global SRI amounts outstanding in employee
savings plans has increased again, amounting to
EUR 129.3 million at the end of 2011 (+8.3 per cent in
one year), over total amounts outstanding in employee
savings plans (SRI and non SRI) of EUR 3.6 billion
(-5 per cent).

In 2011, HSBC France instigated a number of ini-
tiatives to promote and develop the SRI offering in
employee savings plans:

— since 2010, regulations have imposed the existence of
an “equitable” FCPE (corporate mutual investment
fund) in corporate savings plans: HSBC systemati-
cally integrates its “equitable” FCPE SRI into all
corporate savings plans and PERCO (retirement
savings plan);

— integration of two new FCPE SRI into its Elyséo
range (employee savings plan product intended for
companies with up to 50 employees);

— training and regular awareness-raising of 50 financial
experts within the network of professional and cor-
porate account managers;

— launch of the PERCO of HSBC France Asset
Management integrating the SRI labelled offer;

— creation of a dedicated “SRI” space on the public

websitelwww.ere.hsbc.flr.

Global Markets

The cash equity team has organised breakfasts around
extra-financial themes for its asset manager clients
to help them to have a better understanding of their
impact on company value. These events complement
consulting services given to clients by the climate change
department of the HSBC Group Research Management.

Social Investment and microfinance
HSBC France supports micro-finance and accompanies
entrepreneurs from disadvantaged areas:

— in the context of its partnership with ADIE
(Association pour le droit a linitiative économique
— association for the right to economic initia-
tive), HSBC France granted it a line of credit of
EUR 2 million in 2011, which allowed the granting
of 257 micro-credits to entrepreneurs;

— HSBC France has invested up to EUR 1 million
in equitable venture capital funds FinanCités
since 2008, Business Angel des Cités (BAC) up to
EUR 500,000 since 2010 and Citizen Capital up to
EUR 1 million since 2011.

Control and improvment of environmental impacts

2008-2011 objectives

For the 2008-2011 period, HSBC France had set itself
the goal of reducing per full-time employee (FTE) its
energy consumption by 2.8 per cent, direct CO, emis-
sions from building energy consumption by 1.4 per cent,
its water consumption by 5 per cent and its share of
non-recycled waste by 6 per cent. These objectives have
been reached or exceeded with a reduction in energy
consumption of 2.7 per cent, direct CO, emissions
from building energy consumption by 31.6 per cent,
water consumption by 12.4 per cent and non-recycled
waste by 63 per cent.

Carbon footprint

Evolution of the legal framework

In France, decree n°2011-829 was published on 11 July 2011.
This decree relates to the management of greenhouse
gas emissions and the territorial climate-energy plan.
To satisfy these regulatory requirements, HSBC France
brought its reporting into line with the decree.

New positioning of the HSBC Group

Last year, following a review, the HSBC Group decided
that from 2012 the business will no longer be carbon
neutral. HSBC made this decision as the regulatory
environment — and international carbon markets — have
not developed in the way HSBC envisaged. Instead
the HSBC Group will improve the way HSBC deploys
capital by concentrating its efforts internally to perma-
nently reduce its environmental impact.

Obtaining the Attestation de Qualité
Environnementale d’Utilisation (environmental
quality certification for building usage)

In April 2011, the Certivéa organisation issued HSBC
France with the Attestation de Qualité Environnementale
d’ Utilisation (high-performance level) for one of its
headquarter buildings in La Défense. As a result of
this initiative, HSBC France has signed a commitment
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with the building owner and manager to play its part
in controlling its environmental footprint in these
premises. HSBC France is one of the very first occupant
companies to obtain this distinction.

Pollution and waste management

HSBC France’s waste recycling rate has significantly
improved, in part thanks to the installation of paper
shredders. Paper consumption is down thanks to the
joint effort of printers and ongoing digitisation projects.
The dissemination of good practice (printing on both
sides of the paper, use of online tools, etc.) has been
reinforced.

Computer waste has been revalued or recycled by a
computer hardware reconditioning company, a social
enterprise which provides employment to people with
disabilities and young people joining the workforce.

Water fountains have replaced fountains with bottles,
which has saved 5 tonnes of plastic a year.

Sustainable use of resources

Energy consumption and water consumption have
dropped thanks to an optimisation of occupied office
space and when we decided to close one of the central
sites, the bank donated 6 tonnes of furniture to HSBC
employees.

Air travel

The number of kilometres travelled is down in 2011,
however the tonnes of airborne CO, increased due to a
review of the definition of short haul flights, which was
extended to 3,700 km (as opposed to 750 km before).

Employee awareness raising initiatives

During the corporate sustainability week in April 2011,
the HSBC Group in France ran an in-house campaign
to reduce the environmental footprint of individual
workstations and set up a “Climate Challenge”, with
the relay of Climate Champions, to raise the awareness
of environmental good practice. At the same time, an
Intranet subsite “Eco actions” was created, in which the
group listed “12 simple everyday actions that are easy
to adopt and which can make a difference”. Finally,
“the paperless day” was renewed on the occasion of
world environment day, with 700 employees taking
part. This initiative raised enough money to enable
the National Forest Office to sponsor a bee hotel in
the national forest of Retz.

Valuing employees

Remuneration and reward

A pay agreement was signed in November 2011 for
2012. In a highly uncertain economic and financial
context, it allows 92 per cent of HSBC France employees,
across all businesses (excluding employees from the
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Hors Classes category) to benefit from one of the pay
measures adopted. Furthermore, these measures will
support diversity, with a dedicated diversity bonus
which increased by nearly 70 per cent in relation to 2011.

The main measures of the 2012 pay agreement are
as follows:

— all employees whose yearly gross salary is less than or
equal to EUR 60,000 will benefit from a year-round
increase of 1 per cent of their salary. For a full-time
employee, this increase cannot be less than EUR 350;

— the minimum annual salary (basic gross) of employees
will be raised from EUR 22,000 to EUR 23,000 for
the non-executive category and from EUR 32,000
to EUR 33,000 for the executive category;

— afund of EUR 1 million will be dedicated in 2012 to
pursuing the bank’s initiatives regarding equity to:

» favouring professional equity between women
and men whether in terms of pay equity or pro-
fessional promotion,

* reviewing the remuneration of employees having
benefited from a long-term absence — maternity
leave, adoption or parental leave,

* examining and possibly revising employee remu-
neration in the following situations: part time,
disabled, employee representatives, being 50 years
and older and not having benefited from any
selective pay increase in the past 5 years.

In addition to these collective arrangements,
a bonus pot is available to managers to review the
individual situations of their employees, in line
with the HSBC Group’s pay award criteria.

Organisation of working hours

In accordance with the agreement relating to working
hours signed in October 2008, the yearly working hours
of employees are 1,592 hours, not taking into account
the journée de solidarité (day of solidarity).

For employees whose working time is calculated in
hours, working hours are organised according to two
possible methods:

— over a working week of 38 hours, i.e. a day of 7
hours 36 minutes, in the framework of work organ-
ised over 5 week days; the number of rights to RTT
(reduction in number of working hours) days in 2011
was 17.5 days for a week from Monday to Friday
and 21.5 days for a week from Tuesday to Saturday.

— over a working week of 37 hours, i.e. a day of 7 hours
24 minutes, in the framework of work organised over
4.5 week days; the number of rights to RTT days in
2011 was 12 days for a week from Monday to Friday
and 15 days for a week from Tuesday to Saturday.



Executive employees subject to a working time
allowance calculated in days per year are those who
occupy a position involving considerable autonomy in
organising their work schedule, and whose main role
is to run and manage a team and/or whose assignment
requires expertise developed in their business.

The RTT compensatory days of executive employees
subject to a working time allowance calulated in days
per years vary, as for executives, depending on their
work rate over the week.

Corporate affairs: organising social dialogue

and assessment of collective agreements

Provisions of the corporate agreement on terms of
social dialogue, the aim of which is to reinforce means
of social dialogue on reorganisation projects result-
ing from company strategy, were implemented on the
occasion of the examination of the project of merger
of HSBC Private Bank France with HSBC France and
projects under the 2014 Strategic Plan.

At the same time as a review of these projects, the
work carried out with the different employee representa-
tive bodies of HSBC France (Central Works Council,
Works Committee, Employee Representatives and
Committee on Health, Safety and Working Conditions)
led to 591 meetings being held throughout 2011.

Negotiations with trade union representatives saw
the signing of six agreements and two amendments to
existing agreements.

Health and safety

Medical Observatory of Stress

Since 2004, HSBC France has asked its employees in the
Paris region to fill out the questionnaire of the Medical
Observatory of Stress at their periodical medical
check-up. In 2010, this was extended to the regions. An
independent IPRP qualified firm (“Occupational risk
prevention operator”) was asked to process the results.

2010 results show a slight decrease in the average
stress levels in the company. They highlight groups
that report a less favourable psychological experience,
mainly women, employees aged 50-59 and those with
more than 20 years on the job, people who have a journey
time of more than 120 minutes daily, technicians
and employees of the Retail network.

These surveys have made it possible to implement
action plans to enhance an awareness of stress factors
and reduce them by targeted actions in managing work
load and organisation, work station ergonomics, specific
support during organisational changes, appropriate
training courses and consideration of occupational
changes.

Work-life balance

Since the end of 2010, HSBC France has acquired a
telecommuting system which allows an employee to
work from home, if practical. This system is voluntary
and follows the principle of alternating over a given week
between telecommuting for one to three days and working
in the office for a minimum of two consecutive days.

As of 31 December 2011, 361 employees, mainly
in the support functions, have opted for this solution
which is in broad use in the HSBC Group, and their
average satisfaction rating is high. Telecommuting
greatly reduces weekly journey times to work, which
has the additional benefit of reducing the company’s
carbon footprint and helps employees balance their
professional life and their personal lives better.

The bank’s General Management sent a message
on this theme to all executives in February 2011, to
improve the dissemination of good practices: not counting
exceptions and crisis situations, employees must not
be called upon during their holidays, weekends or off
working hours and, except in emergencies, meetings
must not be set before 9 am or after 6 pm.

Training
The year 2011 was marked by:

— deployment of the new MyLearning training
environment in France. Alongside courses giving
employees the necessary skills for their work, this
development has led to a change of culture in
France, as it has placed the employee at the centre of
his own professional development, supported by
his line manager;

— broader deployment of the HSBC Business School,
whose curriculum had been set up in 2010. The
bank’s main business lines all benefit from an
academy where curricula and training actions are
developed to support individuals develop their
strategy and performance, building technical and
behavioural skills and having the necessary knowledge
to meet the legal requirements.

90 per cent of these courses are taught in French.
Corporate and transverse courses in all the banking
business lines teach HSBC’s “open, connected and
dependable” values and practice the expected behaviours
to embed those values. This offer, on the leadership and
personal inter-personal and professional skills part, has
been deeply enriched.

Diversity and equal treatment

In 2011, HSBC France implemented an action plan
clearly oriented towards women’s careers, to encourage
women to access jobs at the highest level of the
company. A priority shared by HSBC Group, which
deployed it globally. In France, the bank has held
conferences on the theme “successful women'’s careers”
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to which 1,200 managerial women were invited. The
company’s talent scouting process also prioritises
women.

As of 31 December 2011, 6 women sat on the HSBC
France Executive Committee, and women account for
48 per cent of managers and 34 per cent of Directors of
points of sale (Branches, Corporate Business Centres
and Corporate Banking Centres).

A new global corporate agreement on Diversity
and Equity has been signed by the social partners of
HSBC France. The bank’s objectives are the same as
previously: equity between men and women in careers
and pay, improve paternity leave and the careers of
disabled employees, and increase the proportion of
women in those levels where they are under-represented.
In this regard, the bank has committed to increasing
the proportion of women at each level of managerial
classification by 4 points in three years. To meet this
objective, the new Diversity agreement provides for the
establishment of a “shared career diagnosis”, which will
track the promotion indicators for men and women
over several years. Special attention is still paid to wage
equity. In 8 years, the bank has devoted EUR 4.9 million
to ensuring pay equality. Over the last 3 years, more
than 2,000 women have received wage increases to bring
their pay into line with male employees.

Seniors: A three-year agreement (2010 to 2012) was
signed in 2009 to help keep employees over the age of
45 in work.

Fighting discrimination: HSBC values meritocracy:
any individual has the same chances of being recruited
and progressing in the company, regardless of their
ethnic or social origins. HSBC France has implemented
an internal awareness campaign on the theme of diver-
sity. At the same time, e-learning for managers has been
updated to make them aware of the impact of stereotypes
and prejudices on everyone’s actions and decisions.

Disability: HSBC France has 287 employees with a
disability. Its disability policy is set out in the corporate
agreement signed in July 2011, which covers 3 themes:

— remaining in work. Each situation is dealt with on
a case basis. In 2011, some twenty pieces of heavy
equipment were installed to facilitate the everyday
working lives of employees with disabilities;

— recruitment: the group works with the Handi-
formabanque and Tremplin associations and with
specialised firms. In 2011, 2 people (out of a total
of 4) on these training schemes were recruited under
an indefinite-term contract. Under the previous
company agreement, the bank set the objective of
10 recruitments, which was exceeded with 11 recruits.

54

In the new agreement, HSBC France has committed
to a minimum 10 recruits under an indefinite-term
contract and 10 in work-study programmes;

— devices for assistance in daily living: In 2011, 268
(+34 per cent) of employees with disabilities, or
close relatives with disabilities benefited from CESU
Disability tickets (checkbook for payments of special
needs for disabled persons such as house keepings,
child care, translator in or from sign language, etc.)
financed by the bank. Also, the new agreement
allocates additional days off to employees with
disabilities or close relatives who are disabled.

Fundamental conventions

of the International Labour Organisation

HSBC France promotes and complies with the
stipulations of the fundamental conventions of the
International Labour Organisation concerning freedom
of association and collective bargaining laws, and also
the elimination of discrimination in employment and
professions.

Employees’ commitment

by awareness and philanthropy

In 2011, HSBC France dedicated nearly EUR 2.3 million
(1.2 per cent of its pre-tax earnings) to charities. About
35 per cent of the group’s employees have conducted
3,742 volunteer missions, representing nearly 18,000
hours, 86 per cent of which was undertaken during
working hours.

The year 2011 was marked by:

— assistance from the HSBC educational foundation,
which continued its action for the 6" consecutive
year. In its 2011 call for projects, the Foundation
wanted to support associations linked with schools.
In all, 37 associations were supported, including 13
new projects. Between June 2010 and June 2011,
5,663 children received benefits from the Foundation;

— implementation of an environmental philanthropic

programme launched in November 2010 by HSBC
France around three objectives:

» educating the young in environmental protection,

* promoting and organising ecological actions in
the field, involving employees and clients,

* supporting research on the impact of climate
change on finance professions;

— successful philanthropy as the driving force of Team

Building, a managerial initiative launched two years
ago. In 2011, 33 teams, consisting of approximately
500 people were involved in individualised actions
proposed or created by the Corporate Sustainability
Department.
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Risk management

All the HSBC France group’s activities involve analysis,
evaluation, acceptance and management of some degree
of risk or combination of different types of risks.

In compliance with the requirements of regula-
tion 97-02, the HSBC France group has strengthened
its permanent control and risk management system as
set out in the Chairman’s report on the internal control
procedures and risk management procedures’.

This control and risk management framework is
structured into ten risk function areas:

— financial risks:
e credit,
*  markets,

o structural interest ratelforex/liquidity risk;
— other operational risks:

o legal,

*  tax,

* information technologies,

* business continuity (which is enlarged since
January 2012 to security and fraud),

*  human resources,
e compliance (set out in the Chairman’s report?),

* accounting (set out in the Chairman’s report?).

FINANCIAL RISK

Credit risk

In the HSBC France group, credit risk management is
overseen by the Credit Risk and Recovery Department
(DRCR). Independently of the business line it relates
to, this department reports directly to the Deputy
CEO in charge of risks, and reports functionally to
the HSBC Group Risk Department Europe.

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss if a customer
or counterparty fails to meet an obligation under a
contract. It arises principally in the lending, trade
finance, treasury and leasing businesses. The
HSBC Group has standards, policies and procedures
dedicated to monitoring and managing risk from all
such activities.

1 See Chairman’s report pages 34 to 45.
2 See Chairman’s report pages 41 to 42.
3 See Chairman’s report pages 42 to 44.
4 See Chairman’s report page 37.

Governance

HSBC Holdings plc is responsible for the design of
credit risk policies and provides centralised oversight
and management of credit risk for its subsidiaries
worldwide. In addition, each HSBC Group entity is
accountable for:

— monitoring exposures to sovereign entities, banks
and other financial institutions. HSBC’s credit and
settlement risk limits for counterparties in these
sectors are approved and overseen by Group Credit
Risk, to optimise the use of credit availability and
avoid excessive risk concentration;

— monitoring intra-group exposures to ensure they
are maintained within regulatory limits;

— controlling cross-border exposures, through the
imposition of country limits with sub-limits by
maturity and type of business. Country limits
are determined by taking into account economic
and political factors, and applying local business
knowledge. Transactions with countries deemed to
be at high risk are considered on a case-by-case basis.

Credit risk management for each of the main busi-
ness lines (Global Banking and Markets, Commercial
Banking, Retail Banking and Wealth Management) is
supervised by dedicated Risk Management Committees
(RMC) which meet monthly, chaired by the Deputy
CEO in charge of risks and permanent control.

Decisions and information concerning credit risk
from the various RMC meetings are reported to the
HSBC France Risk Management Meeting* (held
monthly) as is the case with other risk categories.
Minutes of these committee meetings accompanied
by a summary are then sent to monthly risk committees
organised by the HSBC Group Risk Department
Europe, including the European Wholesale Credit
and Market Risk Management Committee.

RMC meetings, which are attended by Senior
Management, are the main bodies responsible for lending
policy and permanent control for the Credit Function
in the HSBC France group. Their responsibility is to
monitor the DRCR’s and the Credit Function’s activities,
and to define the strategic direction of the HSBC France
group’s policy as part of the HSBC Group’s general
directives. They are informed by the DRCR of the main
lending decisions, the state and development of the
various lending portfolios, the efficiency of the Basel IT
framework it uses to define its lending policy, and the
permanent control results reported.

RMC attendees are informed of any incidents in
the Credit Function and of the corrective measures
taken. A summary of this information is presented to
the quarterly plenary session of the ORIC Committee
(Operational Risk and Internal Control).
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The control framework

The Head of Credit Department (DRCR) is accountable
for the permanent control in the HSBC France group’s
Credit Function.

The DRCR and its members are the hub of the Credit
Function, which had two main local sub-functions
in 2011: the retail network of HSBC France and its sub-
sidiaries (HSBC Private Bank France until 31 October
2011, when it merged with HSBC France, and HSBC
Factoring (France)), and the Wholesale Banking
and the Global Banking and Markets subsidiaries.
To ensure that information flows efficiently to all
levels, controls are managed and adapted to the staff
involved in the Credit Function according to pre-
established intervention thresholds for monitoring,
provisioning, level of credit authority, etc.

Controls are performed by dedicated internal
controllers who carry out second-level work on
the Credit Function (internal control teams within
DRCR, Retail network or subsidiaries, the Commercial
Banking Monitoring and Surveillance Department,
the Personal Banking and Wealth Management
Surveillance Department or Global Banking and
Markets Surveillance Department, the Credit review
team), but also on agents who also carry out first-level
operational activities (credit managers, credit analysts,
branch managers and relationship managers).

Any significant failure relating to the Credit Function
is reported to the Head of permanent control of the
Credit Function.

Tools

In compliance with regulation 97-02, the DRCR has set
up a system to cover all risks: generic risks inherent in
lending activities have been listed in a risk map covering
the entire Credit Function, and corresponding controls
have been defined.

This map sets out the required checks and reports
required by the various participants and their frequency.

This structure is complemented by a permanent
control framework for the central coordination of Basel
IT lending, involving:

— data quality (quality of the data used);
— Basel I monitoring (assessment of Use Test);
— compliance with governance rules for models.

Internal control procedures are updated annually
and validated by the Head of permanent control in the
Credit Function. They are also updated whenever a
major change is made requiring the revision of controls
or coverage of new risks.
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Description of lending procedures

Lending powers

The power to grant loans is limited to those holding
lending powers. Beneficiaries are notified in writing
according to precise standards. Powers are allocated
to individuals by name and not position. There is no
lending committee: decisions are made individually.

HSBC France’s CEO holds powers granted by HSBC
Bank plc. He has delegated his powers to the Deputy
CEO in charge of risks and permanent control and to
the Chief Credit Officer who, for amounts in excess of
these limits, refer applications to the HSBC Bank plc
Credit Department for approval and, above a certain
threshold, to the HSBC “Group” (HSBC Holdings plc)
Risk Department for an absence-of-objection statement
(“concurrence”).

The Head of Credit has in turn partly delegated his
powers, depending on counterparty quality as deter-
mined by Basel II ratings. The main recipients of these
powers are:

— DRCR members in charge of lending decisions;
— the CEOs of the HSBC France subsidiaries;
— direct line managers of the retail network.

A holder of lending powers is able to grant loans in
compliance with the HSBC Group and HSBC France
group lending directives.

The credit risk measurement

and monitoring framework

The objectives of the monitoring and control of lending
are:

— to anticipate adverse changes in our counterparties
in order to enable us to take all steps to safeguard
the interests of the HSBC France group;

— to pinpoint within the branch network the main
areas of risks according to the main risk indicators;

— to conduct credit reviews in the branch network.

The identification, measurement, monitoring and
control of credit risk are carried out in compliance
with the HSBC Group directives (Group Standards
Manual and Functional Instruction Manuals), local
directives (Business Instruction Manuals) and the policy
laid down by the RMC risk management committees
(Global Banking and Markets, Commercial Banking
and Retail Banking and Wealth Management).

Everyone involved in the lending process is part
of credit risk control; everyone involved in the decision-
making process is accountable.



However, the responsibility for overseeing a loan falls
mainly on the entity that granted the loan. Furthermore,
the management structure in that entity must play its
part in monitoring and managing credit risk.

Second level of controls are carried out by dedicated
credit risk monitoring staff and the credit review team
which uses the risk-based approach to select entities to
be audited and to select the loan samples to be analysed,
according to an audit cycle lasting a maximum of three
years for Wholesale Banking and Corporate Business
Centres (CBCs), and a maximum of four years for the
rest of its scope. At the request of the Deputy CEO
in charge of risks, the team may carry out one-off
assignments relating to various credit-related matters.
Reviews other than monitoring reviews are carried out
on the ground.

Credit quality’

The HSBC Group’s credit risk rating systems and
processes differentiate exposures in order to highlight
those with greater risk factors and higher potential
severity of losses. For individually significant exposures,
risk ratings are reviewed regularly and amendments
are implemented promptly when necessary. Within the
HSBC Group’s retail portfolios, risk is assessed and
managed using a wide range of risk and pricing models.

This risk rating system is based on the probability
of default and loss estimates, in accordance with the
internal rating methods required by the Basel II frame-
work for calculating regulatory capital.

Guarantees received and other mitigating credit
risk factors

The HSBC Group entities are required to implement
guidelines on the acceptability of specific classes of
guarantees received or credit risk mitigation and
determine valuation parameters. Such parameters are
expected to be cautious, regularly reviewed and sup-
ported by empirical evidence. Security structures and
legal covenants are subject to regular review to ensure
that they continue to fulfil their intended purpose and
remain in line with local market practice.

Loans and advances?

Securities received are an important factor in mitigating
credit risk. It is however the HSBC Group’s policy to
ensure that customers have the resources to repay their
loans rather than to rely on securities. In certain cases,
depending on the customer’s standing and the type of
product, facilities may be unsecured.

The principal types of security are as follows:

— in the personal sector, mortgages over residential
properties;

— in the commercial and industrial sector, pledges on
the business assets being financed;

— 1in the commercial real estate sector, pledges on the
properties being financed;

— in the financial sector, pledges on financial instru-
ments such as debt securities and equities in support
of financial transactions;

— in the credit sector, credit derivatives? including
credit default swaps (CDS) are also used to manage
credit risk in the HSBC Group’s loan portfolio.

The HSBC France group does not disclose the fair
value of collaterals held as security on unpaid but not
depreciated loans and advances or depreciated debts,
as it is not available.

Other securities*

Other securities held as guarantees for financial assets
other than loans and advances are determined by the
structure of the instrument. Debt securities, treasury
and other eligible bills are generally unsecured with
the exception of Asset-Backed Securities (ABS) and
similar instruments, which are secured by portfolios
of financial assets.

Derivatives>

The ISDA (International Swaps and Derivatives
Association) master agreement or, in France, the
FBF (Fédération bancaire frangaise) contracts is the
HSBC Group’s preferred agreement for documenting
derivatives activity. It provides the contractual frame-
work within which dealing activity across a full range of
over-the-counter products is conducted, and contractu-
ally binds both parties to apply close-out netting across
all outstanding transactions covered by an agreement if
either party defaults or if other pre-agreed termination
events occur. It is common, and the HSBC Group’s
preferred practice, for the parties to execute a Credit
Support Annex (CSA) in conjunction with the ISDA
master agreement. Under a CSA, collateral is passed
between the parties to mitigate the market-contingent
counterparty risk inherent in the outstanding positions.

Deposit accounts

Settlement risk on multiple transactions, particularly
those involving securities and equities, is substantially
mitigated through assured payment systems or delivery
versus payment mechanism.

1 See the Consolidated financial statements, Note 33 Risk Management page 151.
2 See the Consolidated financial statements, Note 30 Assets charged as security for liabilities and collateral accepted as security for assets

page 145.

3 See the Consolidated financial statements, Note 13 Derivatives page 119.
4 See the Consolidated financial statements, Note 33 Risk management page 147.
S See the Consolidated financial statements, Note 2 | pages 97 to 99 and Note 13 pages 119 to 123.
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Risk management (continued)

Concentration risk’

HSBC France puts the greatest emphasis on the quality
and integrity on its risky assets base (including off-
balance sheet commitments) and has introduced strict
safeguards to avoid undue concentration of risk.

Risk diversification is a core principle within the
HSBC Group. Risk concentration can come in a number
of forms, including: a large concentration on a single
counterparty, excessive commitment to geographical
areas or business sectors, as well as from risk deriving
from a lending portfolio that is too concentrated or
that has correlated exposures.

The LCEP document (Large Credit Exposure Policy)
sets out the policy of the HSBC France group on con-
trolling Large Risks, and it also forms part of the policy
of HSBC Bank plc, HSBC Holdings plc and meets
the requirements of the French banking regulator, the
Autorité de contréle prudentiel.

The purpose of the LCEP is to ensure that:

— all HSBC France subsidiaries scrupulously adhere to
both current policy and local regulatory requirements
on large lending commitments in the jurisdictions in
which they operate, and that they also apply the rules
established by the local supervisory organisations;

— there is an appropriate framework procedure by
which large commitments and concentrations of
risk can be monitored and controlled;

— commitment to one individual borrower, or to a
group of closely connected borrowers, should not
become excessive in comparison to the capital base
of HSBC France or HSBC Bank plc;

— the portfolio of risky assets should not contain
an excessive concentration or large correlated
commitments;

— commitments to geographical areas or business
sectors should be strictly monitored to ensure that
risky assets are diversified;

— reports to the Boards of Directors of HSBC France
group subsidiaries, to HSBC France group Senior
Management, and to the Boards of HSBC Bank plc
and HSBC Holdings plc, and also to all supervisory
bodies are compliant, consistent and in line with the
HSBC Group policy.

To facilitate effective oversight and control,
HSBC France, HSBC Bank plc and HSBC Holdings plc
all hold centralised databases of information into which
commitments are entered and by which they ensure that
LCEP requirements are satisfied. At DRCR level, the
risk concentration is monitored using the supervision

software programs, CARM and Vigirisk, which recover
the authorisations and the balances outstanding from
the operational systems and prepare monitoring reports.

Concentration risk by counterparty
Risk exposure limits are classified into three categories:

— category A: all loans recognised on the balance sheet
and trade facilities such as guarantees and standby
letters of credit;

— category B: off-balance sheet treasury risks such as
currency and interest rate swaps;

— payment: principally intraday risk on payment com-
mitments and foreign exchange business with or in
the name of our customers.

Commitments to a single counterparty or group of
counterparties, excluding financial institutions and
central governmentsl/central banks

* Requirements of the HSBC Bank plc and the
Financial Services Authority (FSA)

No exposure (total of categories A and B) may exceed

25 per cent of applicable capital, individual company

or consolidated, of HSBC Bank plc without the prior

agreement by the FSA.

To ensure that HSBC Bank plc complies with the
FSA and LCEP requirements:

— authorisations (total of categories A and B), for
HSBC France on the same counterparty or the same
group of counterparties, in the normal course of its
business may not exceed 25 per cent of HSBC France
consolidated capital;

— HSBC France must obtain approval from HSBC
Bank plc before taking additional authorisation
exceeding 25 per cent of HSBC France consolidated
capital.

There may be occasions or transactions exceeding this
total (to a maximum of 50 per cent of HSBC France con-
solidated capital), which are possible on condition that:

— the risk relates to foreign exchange transactions or
interest-rate products;

— the counterparty groups have an acceptable risk
profile, have close relations with the HSBC Group,
and are of significant importance to it;

— the risk is short-term.

If risk exceeds 10 per cent of HSBC Bank plc capital,
it must obtain the approval from HSBC Holdings plc
before a formal commitment can be made to the
counterparty.

1 See the Consolidated financial statements, Note 33 Risk management page 147.
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For LCEP limits, directives are sent by the
HSBC Group and are transposed at DRCR level, then
approved by the Chief Credit Officer and the Deputy
CEO in charge of risks.

A quarterly report on all risks (the total of categories
A and B, and payment risk on an individual basis)
exceeding 10 per cent of HSBC France’s capital must
be submitted to HSBC France Senior Management,
HSBC France Board of Directors, HSBC Bank plc and
HSBC Holdings plc. This quarterly report must also
be submitted to RMC Global Banking and Markets
and to the HSBC France Audit and Risk Committee.

*  Autorité de contréle prudentiel (the French banking
regulator) requirements

HSBC France group’s net weighted risks (as defined
by the Autorité de contréle prudentiel) in the course
of its ordinary business must not exceed 20 per cent
of HSBC France group capital as based on external
investment-grade ratings and internal counterparty
ratings and 15 per cent where the counterparties are
not of investment-grade.

In no case, even if the commitment is compliant
with Autorité de contréle prudentiel requirements, can
any HSBC France group commitment be authorised
if it would result in the requirements of either the
HSBC Group or FSA being exceeded.

In addition to quarterly monitoring, a daily control
procedure has been introduced at relationship manager
level to ensure that no accounts for which they are
responsible exceed the limits.

Commitments to financial institutions

* Requirements of the HSBC Group and FSA
HSBC France’s policy sets risk exposure limits (total of
categories A and B, or a single payment risk) for banks
at a ceiling of 50 per cent of HSBC France’s equity. The
risk exposure of other financial institutions is limited
to 25 per cent of HSBC France’s equity.

Exceptions to this rule must be duly authorised,
documented and reviewed annually and must in no case
result in breaches of the Large Risks Control Policy
applicable to HSBC Bank plc.

A quarterly report of the 50 largest HSBC France
commitments to financial institutions (excluding
non-bank financial institutions) must be submitted to
Senior Management and to the Boards of Directors of
HSBC France, HSBC Bank plc and HSBC Holdings plc.

Sectorial concentration risk

It is an HSBC France group principle to avoid excessive
concentration in any business sector, and to take cor-
rective measures if necessary. The DRCR is responsible
for supervising compliance with this principle.

Some business sectors are governed by their own
Caps and business sector directives laid down by
HSBC France and/or the HSBC Group.

The software application used for monitoring indus-
try concentration risk is Vigirisk, which centralises the
balances outstanding from the various information
systems.

The Caps are monitored quarterly and notified to
Risk Management Global Banking and Markets. Any
modifications to Caps must be approved by RMC
Global Banking and Markets.

Geographical area concentration risk

The overall risk limits for countries and central gov-
ernments/central banks are determined by experience,
current events and local knowledge as well as by the
latest political, economic and market information.
Consideration of the duration of the exposure is also
very important in setting overall limits.

The amount of risk (the total of categories A and B)
other than in local currency, for a central govern-
ment/central bank located in a country that does not
have a nil-weighting may not exceed 25 per cent of
HSBC France’s capital without the prior approval of
the Autorité de contréle prudentiel.

The exposure risk on countries, central governments
and central banks is monitored by the HSBC Group
Risk Department, which establishes all overall limits.
Overall limits for single countries are revised at least
annually or at short intervals depending on circum-
stances. These limits are monitored continuously and
adjustments may be made at any time.

A quarterly report on country cross-border risk
exposure (categories A and B grouped) in excess
of 10 per cent of HSBC France capital is given to
Senior Management and the Board of Directors of
HSBC France, HSBC Bank plc and HSBC Holdings plc.

Market risk

Market risk monitoring system

Details of the system for monitoring market risk are
set out in a circular specifying the mechanisms that
apply to the various levels of market risk mandates,
the governance applicable for authorisation processes,
the role of each party and committee involved, and
control methods.

The risk management policy determined by
HSBC France Senior Management oversees market
risk by global limits, which it reviews, and also validates
the proposals made by Market Risk Management in
Market Risk Committee.
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Risk management (continued)

The HSBC Group assigns these global limits to
HSBC France using the process described in the section
on Wholesale and Market Risk (see page 62). These
global limits are divided by business line and translated
into operational limits within each entity by the Market
Risk Managers.

These global limits are defined in terms of lists of
authorised instruments, underlying assets, markets
and maturities, Value at Risk limits, sensitivity levels,
maximum loss and stress tests. They are revised at
least once a year by the Market Risk Committee. The
committee can amend them as required.

The process for allocating market limits and the
permanent market risk control system as a whole
involve a number of people from the HSBC Group
and HSBC France, as well as special committees, the
roles of which are set out below.

Types of limits’
The maximum exposure and risk that HSBC France
intends to bear are defined in a set of limits.

Local mandate limits, or Room Mandates

The HSBC Group annually allocates HSBC France and
HSBC Bank plc Paris Branch a local room mandate per
entity. It covers the most significant limits in terms of:

— Value at Risk, overall, total trading, sub-limits of
VaR on interest rates, foreign exchange, equities;

— sensitivity to risk factors including option factors
(interest rates, government curve, inflation, volatil-
ity, exchange rates), and various “spread” factors;

— Exposure At Default (EAD) by bond issuers;

— maximum daily and monthly losses, referred to as
“max-loss”;

— instruments authorised, by maximum maturity,
market/currency and pay-off category.

A “one pager” summary version for each Entity
Mandate (HSBC France and HSBC Bank plc Paris
Branch) is submitted for approval by the Deputy
CEO in charge of risks and reviewed annually at the
HSBC France Market Risk Committee.

There is also a more detailed version of each Entity
Mandate, with greater granularity.

The limits set by the HSBC France Market Risk
Committee

Annually, this Committee reviews and sets “one pager’
entity mandate limits for HSBC France and HSBC

l

Bank plc Paris Branch on the recommendation of the
Head of MRMaC France (Market Risk Management
and Control).

In addition, the HSBC France Market Risk
Committee lays down VaR and max-loss limits for the
main activities of the HSBC France Global Banking
and Markets fixed-interest desk: Balance Sheet
Management-Money Market (BSM-MM), Balance
Sheet Management-Treasury Market (BSM-TM),
Vanilla Rates and Structured Rate Products. Any
substantial modification to the types of instruments
authorised, their maturities and the type of markets
traded on must also be submitted for prior approval
by this committee.

Operational limits

Market Risk Management and Control (MRMaC) issues
the Room Mandate limits for HSBC France and HSBC
Bank plc Paris Branch as detailed operational limits
or “desk mandates”. These limits are allocated to each
Business Unit (Management Unit) and, if necessary,
broken down by sub-business. They cover the following
indicators:

— sensitivity to risk factors including option factors
(interest rates, government curve, inflation, volatility,
exchange rates), including various “spread” factors;

— instruments authorised:
* by maximum maturity,
* by pay-off category;
— additional limits governing specific activities.

These limits are set to be consistent with the
VaR limits allocated by the HSBC France Market
Risk Committee and with those allocated overall to
HSBC France.

Governance at the HSBC Group level

Wholesale and Market Risk (WMR)

In the HSBC Group, market risk supervision is carried
out within the Wholesale and Market Risk Department.
Its Head reports to the HSBC Group Chief Risk Officer.
This department is responsible, via the Market Risk
Management and Control (MRMaC) entity, for alloca-
ting risk limits to the various HSBC Group entities by
means of Site Entity Room Mandates once they have
been approved by the HSBC Bank plc ALCO and
RMM bodies. Similarly, this department is responsible
for monitoring exposure at the HSBC Group level and
for authorising temporary limits. The Wholesale and
Market Risk has a European dimension.

1 See the Consolidated financial statements, Note 13 Derivative instruments page 119 and Note 29 Maturity analysis of financial assets

and liabilities page 143.
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Europe Middle-East Africa Market Risk
Management and Control: MRMaC EMEA

The Head of MRMaC EMEA, who reports directly
to Global Head MRMaC and to European Head
Wholesale Credit and Market Risk, supervises the
Room Mandates review process. He submits them for
review by WMR. He is the functional superior of the
Head of MRMacC France.

HSBC France bodies and persons responsible
for market risk monitoring

The HSBC France Market Risk Committee

Its task is to supervise all market risks, to ensure that
appropriate controls exist and to approve the main
rules included in the supervision system.

The HSBC France Market Risk Committee is
chaired by the Deputy CEO in charge of risks and meets
monthly. It includes the heads of the main business lines
concerned by these risks and the main heads of the asso-
ciated control functions: the Head of MRMacC France,
the Head of Quantitative Risk and Valuation Group
(QRVG) and the Global Banking and Markets Chief
Operating Officer. The following are also members
of the HSBC France Market Risk Committee: the
Global Banking and Markets Finance Officer, the
Counterparty Traded Risk (CTR) Officer and the
Global Banking and Markets Product Control Officer.

MRMacC France acts as secretary of the committee.

The HSBC France Market Risk Committee reviews
summary risk and results indicators, analyses any
significant events observed during the previous month,
including any breaches of “one-pager” mandate limits,
(see page 62 “Types of limits”), instructs requests for
permanent limits, and reviews temporary limits.

The committee also validates changes to calculation
methods and risk measurement methods relating to
secured funds.

All entities generating market risks must apply for
renewal or extension of limits annually.

The Risk Management Meeting

The minutes of the Market Risk Committee are attached
to the monthly RMM file, during which the Global
Banking and Markets Chief Operating Officer (see
below) establishes the main points to be raised in terms
of market risk.

The Global Banking and Markets Chief Operating
Officer

The Global Banking and Markets Chief Operating
Officer is responsible for permanent control of market
risks, as defined by regulation 97-02. In this function,
he reports to the Deputy CEO in charge of risks.

The following departments report to him: MRMacC,
QRVG, Product Control, ORIC of Global Banking
and Markets. His mission is to ensure that the market
risks monitoring system is consistent and effective. He
is responsible, along with the MRMacC, for notifying
Senior Management of the situation and changes in
market risk exposure. In particular, for this purpose he
and the heads of the MRMaC France control functions
arrange regular meetings to keep the Deputy CEO
in charge of risks informed. These are attended by
the Heads of QRVG, CTR and Global Banking and
Markets Product Control.

In general, the Global Banking and Markets Chief
Operating Officer or, in his absence, the Head of
MRMacC France, is accountable for providing com-
ments and explanations to Senior Management on
any significant breach of the “max-loss” and the limits
(HSBC France One pager Room Mandate or addi-
tionally set up by Market Risk Committee) or on any
position that he considers appropriate to draw Senior
Management’s attention to.

Market Risk Management and Control

Within Wholesale and Market Risk (WMR), MRMaC
designs, develops and implements the market risk
management policy. This in particular covers:

— permanent monitoring of market risks;

— the development and implementation of procedures
complying with regulatory requirements and with
best practices;

— allocation of market risk limits within the
HSBC Group compatible with the HSBC Group’s
strategy and risk appetite;

— approval of new products;

— consolidation of exposure at HSBC Group level to
market risks and Value at Risk (VaR) calculations.

The Head of MRMaC France reports directly to the
Global Banking and Markets Chief Operating Officer
and functionally to MRMaC EMEA.

The Head of MRMaC France is a member of the
HSBC France Market Risk Committee, the HSBC
France Balance Sheet ALCO and the HSBC France
Capital Management Committee. He takes part in the
periodic Senior Management information meeting
organised by the Chief Operating Officer of Global
Banking and Markets to the HSBC France Audit
and Risk Committee.

MRMacC is made up of two teams: the Market
Risk Management (MRM), a team of 8 people, and
the Market Risk Control (MRC), a team of 18 people.
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Risk management (continued)

Market Risk Management (MRM)

Market Risk Management (MRM) defines market
risk mandate limits, deals with breaches of limits and
exceptional situations, analyses positions, monitors
intraday positions as a function of market movements,
analyses the appropriateness of risk metrics (sensitivity,
VaR, stress scenarios), defines and prepares a summary
analysis of market risks for Senior Management, is
involved in improving risk monitoring procedures
and implements new indicators, as required by market
developments.

The MRM team prepares the annual review of Room
Mandates and, after in-depth analysis and approval
from the HSBC France Market Risk Committee,
submits it to WMR for approval via the Head of
MRMaC EMEA.

}

Market Risk Management then defines “one-pager’
and detailed Room Mandates, together with the desk
mandates that apply to each business unit or manage-
ment unit.

Market Risk Control (MRC)

The Market Risk Control teams are responsible on a
day-to-day basis for checking adherence to all of the
various market risk limits, regardless of the level of
the market risk mandate and the nature of the limit in
question. They report any breaches of these limits and
also any consumption in excess of a warning threshold
set at 80 per cent of the limit. They are responsible for
reporting on weekly stress tests. They also carry out
the backtesting.

The backtesting compares the ex ante calculated VaR
figures with ex post daily P&L (Profit & Loss) figures.
This comparison tests the ability of VaR to control
the expected P&L variations and therefore helps assess
the quality of the internal model. Any shortcomings
in the VaR model will particularly come to light if the
day’s P&L figures exceed 99 per cent VaR or where
VaR systematically and overwhelmingly exceeds daily
P&L figures.

Backtesting is carried out both on profits and losses,
using extreme quantiles (1 per cent and 99 per cent) of
theoretical VaR distributions. The “backtesting viola-
tion” exceptions are reported and analysed.

The model is backtested by taking 99 per cent,
one-day VaR figures and comparing them with daily
results determined from changes in market prices
assuming constant positions. Backtesting is done daily.
Its results are reviewed monthly in a special HSBC Group
committee and notified quarterly to the regulator.

The Market Risk Control structure is in line with
that of the business lines.

A dedicated team produces and distributes
HSBC France’s consolidated market risk reports
for Senior Management Paris and the HSBC Group
Consolidation. The team is also responsible for
producing the various periodical summary statements
required for both internal needs (RMM pack, annual
reports, etc.) and external needs, such as supervisory
authorities.

Market Risk Control reports hierarchically to the
Head of MRMacC France and functionally to the Head
of Global MRC.

Quantitative Risk and Valuation Group (QRVG)'
Models developed by the front office research team
are used in managing, valuing and assessing the risks
of some derivative products. These models as well as
VaR models are validated by an independent, specialist
unit, the Quantitative Risk and Valuation Group
(QRVG). Its manager reports on a local level to the
Head of MRMacC France and functionally to the Head
of QRVG EMEA.

Valuation Committee

(formerly Parameters Committee)

Reporting to the Head of Product Control, it includes
QRVG, Product Control and MRMaC members, and
representatives of the financial functions of Global
Banking and Markets and front office representatives. It
meets within the first two weeks of the following month
for discussion between all parties of the parameters
of the models used by the front office. Also examined
during these meetings are changes in the main calibra-
tion and price control indicators. A review is carried out
of operations that are specifically modelled in Front
Office/Back Office systems: “booking” by the custodian,
specific features not modelled in the systems.

This committee also examines the methods for
calculating provisions.

Conclusion
HSBC France’s market risk mandate for 2011 was a
continuation of that adopted in 2010, with a gradual
reduction in risk metrics relating to the most volatile
risk factors.

Throughout 2011, HSBC France continued to play
a major role as a platform for the HSBC Group in
eurozone government bonds and euro-denominated
derivatives.

Particular attention was paid to monitoring positions
on eurozone government bonds, which continued to
be the main drivers of movements in capital markets
earnings in 2011.

1 See the Consolidated financial statements, Note 13 Derivative instruments page 119 and Note 33 Risk management, page 147.
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Usage of the main limits was relatively high
throughout 2011, reflecting the substantial increase
in risk-factor volatility.

Exposure to the debts of various eurozone
countries, particularly those of peripheral countries,
was reduced steadily during the year. Interest-rate
movement sensitivity limits, which measure P&L
volatility, were reduced as a result.

In the first half of 2011, HSBC France operated
with a minimum multiplier to calculate its regulatory
capital requirement. The sudden amplification in
market movements, at the start of the second half,
led to several exceptions being recorded in relation
to VaR backtesting, which resulted in the multiplier
used to calculate the regulatory capital requirement
being increased close to its maximum.

Interest-rate risk

Structural interest-rate risk is managed centrally by
the ALM Department (DGFB) which is part of the
Finance Department and corresponds to the structural
interest-rate risk in the Commercial Banking business.

This structural interest rate risk affects banking
operations and structural components of the balance
sheet and does not affect market operations. The main
objective of HSBC France structural rate risk manage-
ment is to suppress the sensitivity of net income to
interest rates by managing the fixed interest rate gap
(imbalance between expected fixed interest inflows and
outflows by maturity ranges).

Structural interest rate risk arises mainly from the
changes in disparities between future returns on assets
and future costs of liabilities stemming from variations
in interest rates. Analysis of this risk is complicated, as
a result of the need to make assumptions, partly due to
the options available to borrowers on some products,
for instance early repayment of property loans, but also
because of the behaviour of depositors with regard to
balances that by contract are withdrawable on demand,
such as current accounts. When necessary, behavioural
features, which are different from contractual features,
are assessed to determine the actual underlying interest
rate risk.

Governance

The body responsible for monitoring risks is the Balance
Sheet ALCO which is headed up by the DGFB which
reports to the Risk Management Meeting. The Balance
Sheet ALCO, which meets every month, brings together
the main heads of business lines and support functions
concerned by ALM. It examines risk indicators prepared

1 See page 119.

by the Finance Department and analyses all significant
changes in the financial and regulatory environment
relating to these risks.

Its duty is to supervise balance sheet risks in a
systematic manner, to ensure that appropriate
controls exist, to approve on an annual basis the main
management rules and limits included in the supervision
framework and to regularly monitor each behaviour
assumption and the interest rate liquidity and foreign
exchange risk positions. HSBC France analyses many
indicators monthly, on a consolidated basis, for efficient
interest rate risk monitoring. These include static gaps,
calculating the sensitivity of results, stress scenarios, etc.

Any incidents observed during structural interest
rate, liquidity and forex risk management processes
and the corrective measures taken are presented to the
Balance Sheet ALCO on a quarterly basis.

The DGFB coordinates the work of the TALCO
Committee which meets monthly to supervise struc-
tural interest-rate risk management in the Commercial
Banking retail businesses. The TALCO meeting minutes
and all the above mentioned interest-rate risk indica-
tors are submitted monthly to Balance Sheet ALCO
for approval.

Interest-rate risk measurement and supervision
system (and methods)

The interest-rate risk assessment process is performed
monthly and is based on Commercial Banking busi-
nesses interest rate gap analysis. Each month, a gap is
calculated reflecting assumptions on changes in assets
and liabilities, based on which hedges are set up.

Actually on the basis of information produced indi-
rectly by the central systems and/or reports provided by
the entities, DGFB measures and supervises structural
interest-rate risk on an individual entity basis, where the
risk is significant and on a consolidated basis for the
other entities. Centralising the process enables DGFB
to manage risk in the best way possible and to lay
down rules for transferring this risk to the department
responsible for markets activities (Global Markets).

The net interest rate risk exposure is transferred
to dedicated trading books managed by the trading
room through a series of internal deals (cash or swap)
between the business units and the trading room. Net
exposure is managed through the use of derivatives to
close the market positions. The breakdown of derivative
instruments by types of contract used is set out in Note
13 of the Consolidated financial statements'.

The structural interest-rate risk management model
sets out a framework of operational limits to be adhered

The principal accounting policies relating to derivatives are presented in Note 2 | of the Consolidated financial statements pages 97 to 99.
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to in deciding upon new hedging transactions. As such,
the new gap after hedging must ensure that the staggered
residual exposure is kept to within the limits.

A principal management tool for the structural
interest-rate risk is the control of the interest-rate
sensitivity of the projected net margin under varying
interest rate scenarios. In addition, following simulation
work carried out to comply with Basel II pillar 2
requirements on the Economic Value of Equity, each
month, HSBC France also measures the impact on
equity of an across-the-board rise or fall of 200 basis
points.

Risk is measured and hedging transactions are
carried out centrally by the DGFB: these activities
rely on a set of formalised controls. The process for
the execution and accounting justification of hedging
transactions has been documented, key controls have
been identified and certificates drawn up according
to the HSBC Group standards, in accordance with
Sarbanes-Oxley Act.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is defined as the risk that HSBC France
does not have sufficient financial resources to meet
its obligations as they fall due, or will access to such
resources only at an excessive cost. This risk arises from
mismatches in the timing of cash flows. Funding risk
(a form of liquidity risk) arises when the liquidity needed
to fund illiquid asset positions cannot be obtained on
the expected terms and when required.

The objective of the HSBC France’s liquidity and
funding management framework is to ensure that all
foreseeable funding commitments can be met when due,
and that access to the wholesale markets is co-ordinated
and cost-effective. To this end, HSBC France maintains
a diversified funding base comprising core retail and
corporate customer deposits and institutional balances.
This is augmented with wholesale funding and portfolios
of highly liquid assets diversified by maturity which are
held to enable HSBC France to respond quickly and
smoothly to unforeseen liquidity requirements.

HSBC France maintains strong liquidity positions
and manages the liquidity profiles of its assets, liabilities
and commitments with the objective of ensuring that
its cash flows are balanced appropriately and that all
its anticipated obligations can be met when due.

HSBC France adapts its liquidity and funding risk
management framework in response to changes in the
mix of business that it undertakes, and to changes in
the nature of the markets in which it operates. It also
seeks to continuously evolve and strengthen its liquidity
and funding risk management framework.
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HSBC France’s liquidity risk is managed centrally
by the ALM Department (DGFB) which is part of the
Finance Department. The liquidity steering committee,
chaired by the DGFB, closely monitors the liquidity
risk measuring systems and coordinates short-term
management. This committee, which is a sub-committee
of the Balance Sheet ALCO, is attended monthly by
those responsible for carrying out operations (Balance
Sheet Management), preparing reports and monitoring
(Finance Department). This committee is tasked with
managing liquidity ratios, preparing the funding plan,
looking into alternative sources of funding and handling
any matters relating to liquidity.

Policies and procedures

The management of liquidity and funding is primarily
undertaken locally in HSBC France in compliance with
practices and limits set by the RMM and the Balance
sheet ALCO. It is the HSBC Group’s general policy
that each banking entity should be self-sufficient when
funding its own operations.

Liquidity risk is monitored by tracking a number of
indicators which are updated monthly for the liquidity
steering committee and for Balance Sheet ALCO. These
indicators are as follows:

— monitoring the French liquidity ratio, as required
by French regulations;

— producing FSA regulatory reports;

— projecting cash flows per various stress scenarios
and considering the level of liquid assets necessary
in relation thereto;

— monitoring balance sheet liquidity and advances to
core funding ratios against internal and regulatory
requirements;

— maintaining a diverse range of funding sources;

— managing the concentration and profile of debt
maturities;

— managing contingent liquidity commitment expo-
sures within pre-determined caps;

— maintaining debt financing plans;

— monitoring depositor concentration in order to
avoid undue reliance on large individual depositors
and ensure a satisfactory overall funding mix; and

— maintaining liquidity and funding contingency plans.
These plans identify early indicators of stress condi-
tions and describe actions to be taken in the event
of difficulties arising from systemic or other crises,
while minimising adverse long-term implications
for the business.



Primary sources of funding'

Current accounts and savings deposits payable on
demand or at short notice form a significant part of
HSBC France’s funding, and the HSBC Group places
considerable importance on maintaining their stabil-
ity. For deposits, stability depends upon preserving
depositor confidence in the group’s capital strength and
liquidity, and on competitive and transparent pricing.

Thereby, in 2011, given the improvement of its liquid-
ity gap — core deposit increasing from EUR 21.2 billion
at 31 December 2010 to EUR 24.3 billion at
31 December 2011 — HSBC France has issued a limited
amount of EUR 1.9 billion of senior EMTN.

Pursuant to the objective of diversifying its sources
of funding, HSBC France led in 2011 the transformation
of its French Covered Bonds structured programme
into HSBC SFH (France), a “Société de Financement de
I’Habitar” fully regulated by the ACP. The outstanding
amount of “Obligations de Financement de I’Habitat”
held by the structure as of 31 December 2011 stands
at EUR 1.9 billion.

HSBC France’s participation in the European
Central Bank’s 3-year LTRO fits in with the conservative
and cautious funding policy of HSBC France, which
prior to the operation respected all of its regulatory
and internal ratios. HSBC France has subscribed
for EUR 5 billion out of total participation of
EUR 1,012 billion.

The management of liquidity risk
HSBC France uses a number of major measures
to manage liquidity risk, as described below:

French regulatory ratio

HSBC France monitors the one month French regula-
tory ratio, as required by French regulators. Banks are
required to maintain this ratio greater than 100 per cent
at all times, to make sure that their liquid assets are
sufficient to cover their liabilities as they fall due. It is
calculated for HSBC France on a stand alone basis and
each subsidiary subject to it makes its own calculation.
In 2011, the average liquidity ratio of HSBC France on
a stand alone basis was 122 per cent, compared with
124 per cent in 2010.

Advances to core funding ratio

HSBC France emphasises the importance of core cus-
tomer deposits as a source of funds to finance lending
to customers, and discourages reliance on short-term
professional funding. This is achieved by placing limits
on banking entities which restrict their ability to increase
loans and advances to customers without correspon-
ding growth in core customer deposits or long term debt
funding. This measure is referred to as the “advances
to core funding” ratio. Advances to core funding ratio

limits are set by the RMM and the Balance sheet ALCO.
The ratio expresses loans and advances to customers
as a percentage of the total of core customer deposits
and term funding with a remaining term to maturity
in excess of one year. HSBC France would meet any
unexpected net cash outflows by selling securities and
accessing additional funding sources such as interbank
or collateralised lending markets. In 2011, the average
“advances to core funding” ratio was 101 per cent,
compared with 105 per cent in 2010.

The HSBC Group also uses measures other than
the advances to core funding ratio to manage liquidity
risk, including projected cash flow scenario analyses.

Stressed one month coverage ratio

The stressed one month coverage ratio is derived from
these scenario analyses, and expresses the stressed cash
inflows as a percentage of stressed cash outflows over
a one month time horizon. HSBC France is required
to target a ratio of 100 per cent or greater. In 2011,
the average “stressed one month coverage ratio” was
107 per cent, compared with 104 per cent in 2010.

Projected cash flow scenario analyses

HSBC France uses a number of standard projected
cash flows scenarios designated to model both group-
specific and market-wide liquidity crises, in which the
rate and timing of deposit withdrawals and drawdowns
on committed lending facilities are varied and the ability
to access interbank funding and term debt markets and
generate funds from assets portfolios is restricted. The
appropriateness of the assumptions under each scenario
is regularly reviewed. In addition to the HSBC Group’s
standard projected cash flow scenarios, HSBC France
designed its own scenarios tailored to reflect specific
local market conditions, products and funding bases.
Limits for cumulative net cash flows under stress
scenarios are set for each banking entity.

Both ratio and cash flow limits reflect the local
market place, the diversity of funding sources available
and the concentration risk from large depositors.
Compliance with entity level limits is monitored and
reported regularly to the RMM.

Contingent liquidity risk

In the normal course of business, HSBC France provides
customers with committed facilities, including com-
mitted backstop lines to conduit vehicles sponsored by
the group and standby facilities to corporate customers.
These facilities increase the funding requirements of
HSBC France when customers choose to raise draw-
down levels over and above their normal utilisation rates.
The liquidity risk consequences of increasing levels of
drawdown are analysed in the form of projected cash
flows under different stress scenarios.

1 See the Consolidated financial statements, Note 29 Maturity analysis of financial assets and liabilities page 143.
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Foreign exchange risk

As HSBC France is part of the HSBC Group, its
exchange rate positions are limited. Foreign exchange
trading positions arising from banking operations are
systematically transferred to the Trading Room which
manages exchange rate risk according to the limits set
by Market Risk Committee.

There is also an exchange rate risk on equity due to
investments in foreign currency that are not hedged by
financing in foreign currency. This exposure, termed
as “structural”, corresponds to net investments in
subsidiaries, branches or associated companies for
which the euro is not the functional currency.

HSBC France’s investments in foreign subsidiaries
are small in amount. The structural foreign exchange
exposure is mainly linked to these subsidiaries’ profits
retained in reserves. This exposure and the sensitivity
of capital ratios to variation in exchange rates are
monitored by the Balance Sheet ALCO.

HSBC Holdings plc terms this risk as “structural”,
and monitors it through exposure and capital adequacy
sensitivity indicators calculated by the Finance
Department. The analysis of these ratios is presented to
the Balance Sheet ALCO on a quarterly basis.

Capital management'’
(audited information except where stated)

In compliance with the European Union’s Banking
directive, the Autorité de contréle prudentiel (ACP —
French banking regulator) requires each bank and
banking group to maintain a specific ratio of total
capital to risk-weighted assets. Data on capital adequacy
are sent to the ACP that lays down the minimum capital
adequacy requirements for the HSBC France group.

Governance

The Board of Directors has the ultimate responsibility
of managing HSBC France group’s capital base. A
number of committees help the Board of Directors
in this role. These are the Executive Committee, the
Risk Management Meeting (RMM), the Balance Sheet
ALCO, the Capital Management Committee (CMC)
and the governance and supervision of resilience tests
committee (SOC). Within the Finance Department,
the Capital Management Department helps to enhance
co-ordination between the various aspects of capital
management. These are regulatory reporting, capital
adequacy planning, assessment of resilience to stresses
and management of sources of capital.

Methods

The HSBC France group’s capital resources policy is
to conserve its capital base through the diversification
of its sources of capital and efficient allocation of
capital. The HSBC Group ensures that at all times
it maintains a prudent relationship between its total
capital, as measured according to the criteria used by
the ACP for supervisory purposes, and the varied risks
of its business.

Regulatory capital

The HSBC France group capital is divided into
two tiers. Tier 1 capital comprises only common
equity as no hybrid securities eligible for inclusion
in additional Tier 1 capital have been issued by the
HSBC France group. Core Tier 1 capital is comprised
of shareholders’ funds attributable to the group and
minority interests, after adjusting for items reflected
in shareholders’ funds which are treated differently for
the purposes of capital adequacy (mainly cash flow
hedge reserves, reserves arising from revaluation of
property, unrealised gains arising on the fair valuation
of instruments held as available-for-sale and the credit
spread on HSBC France’s own debt). The book values
of goodwill and intangible assets are deducted from
Tier 1 capital.

Tier 2 capital, in addition to qualifying subordinated
loans, is comprised of part of the property revaluation
reserves and part of the unrealised gains on the fair
valuation of instruments held as available-for-sale.
To calculate the total amount of regulatory capital,
the carrying value of financial investments in banks
is deducted from these two categories of capital, plus
any items specified by regulations.

Regulatory capital requirements

Pillar 1

Basel II provides three approaches for the calculation of
pillar 1 credit risk capital requirements. The standardised
approach requires banks to use external credit ratings
to determine the risk weightings applied to rated
counterparties, and groups other counterparties into
broad categories to which it applies standardised
risk weightings. The Internal Ratings-Based (“IRB”)
foundation approach, allows banks to calculate their
credit risk regulatory capital requirement on the basis
of their internal assessment of the probability that
a counterparty will default (Probability of Default,
“PD”), with quantification of Exposure At Default
(“EAD”) and an estimate of loss in the event of
default (Loss Given Default, “LGD”), the two latter
being subject to standard supervisory parameters.

1 See the Consolidated financial statements, Note 33 Risk cover and regulatory ratios page 163, and Note 28 Fair value of financial

instruments page 137.
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Lastly, the advanced IRB approach allows banks to
use their own internal assessment of not only PD, but
also the quantification of EAD and LGD. Expected
losses are calculated by multiplying EAD by PD and
LGD. The capital requirement under the IRB approach
is intended to cover unexpected losses and is derived
from a formula specified in the regulatory rules, which
incorporates these factors and other variables such as
maturity and correlation.

To assess its credit risk, with ACP approval, the
HSBC France group has been using, since the end of
2009, the advanced IRB approach for sovereign risk
and bank, corporate and retail exposure, covering the
majority of its business (in 2008, the HSBC France
group used the foundation IRB approach for its cor-
porate exposures). Only a few residual exposures are
still exceptionally assessed using the foundation or
the standardised approach.

Market risks are measured, with ACP approval,
using Value at Risk (VaR) models or standard rules laid
down by the ACP. As regards the counterparty risk,
four calculation approaches are defined by Basel II to
determine exposure values: the standardised method,
mark to market, initial risk and internal model methods.

The HSBC France group uses both the VaR and
standardised approaches to assess market risk, and the
mark to market approach for counterparty credit risk.

Basel II also introduced capital requirements for
operational risk which, again, contains three levels
of sophistication. The capital required under the
foundation approach is a simple percentage of income,
whereas under the standardised approach banks apply
three different percentages of income according to
each of 8 business lines defined by the regulations.
Lastly, the advanced approach uses the banks’ own
statistical analysis and operational risk data modelling
to determine capital adequacy requirements. The
HSBC France group has adopted the standardised
approach.

Pillar 2

The second pillar of Basel II (Supervisory Review and
Evaluation Process) involves both banks and regulators
taking a view on whether a bank should hold additional
capital against risks not covered in Pillar 1. Part of
the Pillar 2 process is the Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process (ICAAP), which is the bank’s self
assessment of risks not captured by Pillar 1. A report on
this assessment, regularly updated, is made to the ACP.

Pillar 3

Pillar 3 of Basel II is related to market discipline and
aims to make banks more transparent by requiring them
to publish more details on their risks, capital and risk
management. The HSBC Group does not publish its
own set of Pillar 3 disclosures in France but these are
included in the disclosures that HSBC Holdings plc
makes available on the investor relations section of
its website.

Regulatory changes

Regulations moved into a new phase in late 2011 with
the introduction of “stressed value at risk” for the
calculation of market risks under CRD3 (Basel 2.5).
The HSBC France group took into account the impact
of this change at end-2011.

Resilience testing

The resilience testing exercises required by the super-
visory authorities assess the impact on capital and
liquidity of very adverse but plausible scenarios, and
so come up with measures to mitigate these effects.
They are also a tool that the bank’s management can
use in its task of managing capital and liquidity, to
enable it to consider corrective measures if the early
signs of such scenarios emerge. The testing programme
carried out by HSBC France in 2011 includes certain
specific scenarios required by Senior Management, the
HSBC Group or its supervisory authority (Financial
Services Authority).
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Regulatory capital position
The table below sets out the analysis of regulatory capital:

Composition of regulatory capital

(in millions of euros) 201 2010
Tier 1:
Shareholders’ funds of the parent company. .......... .. s 4,820 4,832
Non-controlling interests .. ... ... i i et s 48 48
Less: dividends to be paid to the parentcompany ........... ..., - -
Less: items treated differently for the purposes of capital adequacy..................... (192) (99)
Less: goodwill capitalised and intangible assets ............ ... i (364) (367)
Less: deductions in respect of expected losses . .........cc i (75) (99)
Less: investments in credit institutions exceeding 10% of capital........................ (305) (281)
Total qualifyingTier 1 capital . ... ... e 3,932 4,033
Tier 2:
Reserves arising from revaluation of property and unrealised gains

on available-for-sale securities . . ... e 54 70
Perpetual subordinated loan and term subordinated loan.............................. 88 121
Less: deductions in respect of expected losses . ...t (75) (99)
Less: investments in credit institutions exceeding 10% of capital........................ (67) (93)

Total qualifyingTier 2 capital . . ... .ot e i e e e e e - -

Total qualifyingTier 3 capital . . .. ...t e - -

Investments in other banks and other financial institutions. .. .......................... (4) (4)
Other deduUcCtionS . .. ..ot e i et e e e e e e - -
Total capital. . ..o e e 3,928 4,029
Total risk-weighted assets (unaudited) 36,889 33,451

Capital ratios: (unaudited)

Total capital. . ..ot e 10.7% 12.0%
Tier T capital . ... 10.7% 12.1%

The above figures were computed in accordance
with the EU banking consolidation directive and the
ACP prudential standards. The group complied with
the ACP’s capital adequacy requirements throughout
2011 and 2010.

In 2008, HSBC France granted a EUR 650 million
subordinated loan to HSBC Bank plc and as a result,
the 10 per cent of capital limit for such investments
was exceeded; at 31 December 2011, EUR 305 million
was deducted from Tier 1 capital (EUR 281 million at
31 December 2010) and EUR 67 million from Tier 2
capital (EUR 93 million at 31 December 2010).

Tier 1

Taking into account the impact of the deduction of
Expected Loss under Basel II and the deduction of
investments in banks in excess of 10 per cent of capital,
the net change in Tier 1 capital is primarily due to
net profit for the year less the interim dividend paid
(EUR 118 million).
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Tier 2

Taking into account the impact of the deduction of
Expected Loss under Basel II and the deduction of
investments in banks in excess of 10 per cent of capital,
Tier 2 capital decreased mainly due to the discount to
the subordinated debt equalling EUR 33 million.

Risk-weighted assets

The increase in risk-weighted assets is mainly due to the
market risk increase (taking into account the Stressed
VaR following the new guidelines under CRD3).



OPERATIONAL RISKS

Operational risk is the risk of losses arising from short-
comings or failings attributable to internal processes,
employees, IT systems or external events including
those that are unlikely to occur but which present a
significant risk of loss, including the risks of internal
and external fraud.

Identification and management
of operational risks

Governance

The operational risk management framework is the
responsibility of a Central team: the Operational Risk
and Internal Control Department (DCIRO).

This department, which reports to the Deputy CEO
in charge of risks and permanent control, centralises
work relating to the operational risk management and
supervision of permanent control framework.

The operational risk management and control
framework is structured into ten risk functions. The
supervision of the main risk functions is set out below.
The management of the risk of non-compliance and
the accounting risk control framework are described
in the Chairman’s report on pages 41 to 44.

Within this framework, a specific Operational Risk
and Internal Control (ORIC) Committee has been set
up for the entire HSBC France group to conduct regular
reviews of business lines and risks functions operational
risks, the results of controls carried out, and progress
made in action plans implemented to mitigate identified
risks and operational losses.

ORIC Committees within the business lines and risk
functions are responsible for overseeing management of
the entity’s operational risks and permanent controls.

The HSBC France group has procedures covering the
process for the identification, reporting, management,
control and prevention of operational risks, specifying
in particular that:

— operational risk management is first and foremost
the responsibility of managers through how they
run their operations;

— IT systems are used to identify and report opera-
tional risks and generate regular and appropriate
reports;

— identified risks for the entire scope are updated
regularly, at least once a year, in order to identify
any major changes;

— operational losses are collated and reported.

The HSBC Group uses the standardised approach
for calculating the regulatory capital needed to cover
operational risks. To estimate economic capital, the
HSBC Group uses the same concept, but as applied
to certain specific businesses in the HSBC Group’s
structure instead of the 8 business lines of the
regulatory approach. The HSBC Group has, however,
started work centrally on developing an economic
capital model. To date, the HSBC Group has taken
no decision on a possible eventual transition to the
advanced method (AMA) for calculating the regulatory
capital required to cover operational risks.

Identification and risk measurement through risk
and controls mapping

HSBC France and its businesses are exposed to all the
types of operational risks that banks face, particularly:

— risk of mistakes in processing transactions, particu-
larly market transactions;

— risk of fraud, internal and external (in particular
bank card fraud, Internet fraud, fraudulent trans-
fers, etc.);

— risk related to information security;
— risk related to customer relations.

Business-line internal control and operational
risk management teams coordinate work, within
their entities, to identify operational risks liable to
affect their business. In conjunction with the business
head concerned, they analyse and quantify those
risks. This risk map covers the whole operational
risks exposure of the business including the first and
second level of key controls required to monitor these
risks. Action plans are drawn up for all risks identified
as significant according to its grading, and progress
made is monitored by business-line internal control
and operational risk management teams.

Each risk function also lists the risks for which it is
responsible and to which it is exposed in its day-to-day
operations.

To prepare risk maps, internal control and opera-
tional risk management teams in the businesses and
functions comply in particular with the provisions
of the Operations FIM Group manual using, where
appropriate, a process-based approach.

Operational risk and incident analyses and reports
DCIRO prepares monthly reports for the HSBC France
and HSBC Group Senior Management, and
presents summary reports to the relevant bodies (the
HSBC France ORIC Committee, Risk Management
Meeting, and the Audit and Risk Committee).
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These reports in particular cover:

— an executive summary explaining movements on
losses over the past period and the principles of the
operational risks management framework;

— a “heat map” covering indicators of exposure to
each type of operational risk (i.e. excluding credit
and market risk);

— the main incidents in the past period and the
associated action plans.

The reports are prepared from returns made in the
HSBC Group’s GORDON (Group Operational Risk
Database Online Network) incidents reporting package
and since November 2011, in the new ORION system,
which will eventually be used as an Enterprise Risk
Management (ERM) system. This package is a decen-
tralised way of managing the process of identifying
and updating risks, reporting operational losses, and
monitoring the plans of action decided upon for the
purpose of reducing the criticality of risks categorised
as major.

Legal risks and potential litigation

The HSBC France Legal Department (DAJ) is respon-
sible for the HSBC France group’s legal function, and
has analysed and mapped this function’s major risks.

This department helps the various HSBC France
group businesses to prevent and control legal risk and
is in charge of litigation follow-up.

Prevention of legal risks

The DA is responsible for running the Legal and Tax
Risks Committee. This meets quarterly to examine situ-
ations likely to give rise to specific and significant legal
or tax risks. It also runs the Complex and Structured
Transactions Committee, which examines the legal,
accounting, tax and financial, and reputational risks
arising from complex structured transactions. The
DA is also involved in the Products Examination
and ORIC (Operational Risk and Internal Control)
Committees, in the RMM (Risk Management Meeting)
of the HSBC France group, and in due diligence
procedures for market operations, structured transactions
and any new acquisition (or disposal) of an entity by
the HSBC France group.

The DAJ is responsible for managing risks, directly
or indirectly, connected with all contentious matters. It
is involved in dealing with credit files requiring special
management or in default. It also monitors other risks
that might have a legal impact.

Control framework of legal risk

The Legal and Tax Risks Committee, chaired by the
Deputy CEO in charge of risks, meets quarterly to
ensure that the risks framework for legal and tax risks
remains adequate in the face of changes in laws, regula-
tions and organisations. The committee also examines
the monitoring of incidents raised previously, the results
of controls, along with any new incidents and measures
taken. It reports on its activities to the HSBC France
group ORIC Committee.

Each HSBC France subsidiary that is directly
affected by regulation 97-02 draws up a half-yearly legal
permanent control report, signed by a lawyer and the
Head of permanent control of the subsidiary for itself
and the companies it controls. These reports highlight
any significant matters revealed by controls, or any
control deficiencies and proposed action plans to resolve
any incidents observed during controls. Compliance
certificates covering tax obligations and operational
taxes are also prepared twice a year.

At the HSBC France level, the corporate lawyers
responsible for legal risk in the various business lines
prepare continuous legal control certifications which,
taken as a whole, cover all major legal risks identified
for all HSBC France entities in their entirety.

On the basis of these reports and certificates,
HSBC France’s Head of Legal prepares a half-yearly
general certification on the Legal Function’s permanent
control.

The whole of this framework is effective and a
detailed description of it is given in a regularly updated
circular.

Litigation monitoring’

The situation of the risks arising from significant liti-
gation in progress against the HSBC France group is
examined quarterly. It is examined by a committee
chaired by the Deputy CEO in charge of risks and is
made up of representatives of the Finance Department,
the Credit Department and the DAJ. This committee
gives a considered opinion on the basis of which Senior
Management decides upon the amount of the provision
to be charged or written back.

Cases in progress at 31 December 2011 involving
legal risks likely to have an adverse influence on the
HSBC France group net assets are set out below.

Interbank fees relating to electronic cheque
processing (“CEIC”)

In 2002, a number of banks with retail networks,
including HSBC France, forming part of an inter-
branch committee sponsored by the French Banking
Federation, introduced a system of interbank fees

1 See the Consolidated financial statements, Note 36 Litigation page 166.
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applying to the new electronic cheque processing
termed the “Echange d’Images Chéques” (EIC), the
cheque image exchange system.

In March 2008, the French Competition Authority
sent notification of a complaint to the twelve members
of the committee — including HSBC France — for the
introduction of interbank fees when the EIC was set up.

On 20 September 2010, the French Competition
Authority took an unfavourable decision as regards the
scheme introduced in 2002. In substance, it found that
the CEIC constituted an illegal scheme, the purpose
of which included effects on the cost of processing
cheques causing an increase in costs charged on
“major remitter” customers. The banks involved in
setting up this charging system were fined a total of
EUR 384.9 million. HSBC France was ordered to pay
a fine of EUR 9.05 million. HSBC France, together
with the other banks that were fined, except the Bank
of France, decided to appeal this unfavourable decision.

The banks actually contest as much the purpose
as the anticompetitive effect of the CEIC and
argue that it has no significant effect on the costs
of banking services. The banks and HSBC France
in particular further question the method used in
calculating the fines imposed upon them.

On 23 February 2012, the Paris Court of Appeal
overturned the decision of the French Competition
Authority, finding that the authority had failed to
demonstrate a restriction by subject. The Paris Court of
Appeal cleared the banks of wrongdoing and ordered
the repayment of fines paid by the banks. The French
Competition Authority is appealing to the Court of
Cassation against the decision.

Enquiry by the French Competition Authorities

on the interbank fees relating to all means of
payment other than cheques

On 16 April 2009 and 22 September 2010, HSBC France
along with some ten other banks and the GIE Cartes
Bancaires received questionnaires from the French
Competition Authorities on the interbank fees applied
to means of payments used in France. This followed
a complaint made by the “Fédération des Entreprises
du Commerce et de la Distribution” (FCD) due to
the existence, or due to levels considered excessive,
of multilateral or bilateral interbank commissions
related to the usage of means of payment. The French
Competition Authority decided to conduct research
into the practices of the largest French banks and
bank card networks operating in France (Visa Europe,
Mastercard Europe SPRL, Mastercard France,
Mastercard International Inc., the GIE Cartes
Bancaires CB and the GIE Carte Bleue Visa) on inter-
bank fees paid and received for all means of payment
used in France (direct debits, transfers, debit and
credit cards) between 2000 and 2008.

The French Competition Authority, having
expressed, “competition concerns,” with regard to the
GIE Cartes Bancaires, in light of the replies to the
questionnaires as much from the GIE as from the banks,
accepted the opening of commitment proceedings.

On 7 July 2011, the Competition Authority
announced its decision to make the commitments
proposed by the GIE under this procedure mandatory.
To our knowledge, no appeal has been made against
this decision.

As regards interbank fees applied to payment
methods other than cheques and cards, the French
Competition Authority agreed to an undertakings
procedure. On 14 March 2012, it set out its competition
concerns and in response to those concerns, the banks
have drawn up a draft set of undertakings.

The Apollonia case

As about twenty banks, HSBC was led to work during
a limited period of time (from early 2006 to April 2007)
and mainly in one branch, with a financial adviser and
estate agent, Apollonia. The latter offered its clients
(mainly independent professionals) “turnkey” tax effi-
cient products of the “Loueur Meublé Professionnel
(LMP)” (professional lessor of furnished accommoda-
tions) type and for a small number of investors “Loi
Robien” type tax efficient products. Between April 2006
and April 2007, 184 property loan applications were
approved, for a total of EUR 29 million, bearing in
mind that different media have said the total amount
of operations by Apollonia with all banks would be
around EUR 2 billion.

At the end of September 2008, HSBC France became
aware of the use of reprehensible marketing methods
by Apollonia. Moreover, it appeared that most of the
borrowers took out several loans through Apollonia
from various banks without notifying HSBC France.

Five notaries have been indicted for conspiracy to
commit organised fraud, forgery and use of forgeries.
HSBC France is involved as a civil law party, giving
it access to the criminal file. From this, it has become
apparent that a very large proportion of the official
agency authorisations, signed by the buyers giving
authority to sign purchase and sales deeds, were not
properly prepared.

HSBC France systematically brings proceedings
against those investors with loan repayments due but
the hearings are in abeyance because of the criminal
procedure underway. However, in order to settle the
financial aspects of the matter, without waiting for
the outcome of criminal proceedings, out-of-court
settlements have already been reached with some
borrowers and talks are continuing with other borrowers.
Proceedings have also been commenced against the
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notaries involved and their insurer MMA. These
proceedings have also been adjourned.

Adequate provisions have been recorded for the
Apollonia case in the light of information available to
Senior Management.

Euribor enquiry

In October 2011, the European Commission carried
out unannounced on-site inspections of several banks,
including HSBC France, operating in Euribor (Euro
Interbank Offered Rate) derivatives. The European
Commission suspects that employees of the banks
in question may have infringed European laws
prohibiting anti-competitive collusion and com-
mercial practices that restrict competition, through
the possible co-ordination of daily information
used to calculate Euribor. On the same matter,
HSBC France has received requests for information
from the Autorité des Marchés Financiers and the
US Commodities and Futures Trading Commission
(CFTC). HSBC France is providing all appropriate
co-operation, and is not currently able to forsee the
potential outcome of these enquiries given the current
state of information.

To date, as far as HSBC France is aware, it is not
threatened by any other regulatory, civil law or arbitra-
tion proceedings that are in progress or in suspense
against it that might have, or over the last 12 months
have had, any significant effect on the financial situation
or the profitability of the company and/or of the group.

Tax risk

The HSBC France Tax Department (DAF), which is
responsible for the HSBC France group tax risk func-
tion, was set up at the beginning of 2010 by splitting the
former Legal and Tax Department. It reports directly
to the Deputy CEO in charge of risks.

This department assists HSBC France’s various
business lines, along with its subsidiaries, to prevent
and control tax risks.

The department has analysed the major risks in the
function and has mapped them.

Prevention of tax risks

The DAF attends to the Legal and Tax Risks Committee,
which is run by the DAJ, and also to the HSBC France
group Complex and Structured Transactions Committee,
the Product Examination Committee, and the ORIC
(Operational Risk and Internal Control) and RMM
(Risk Management Meeting) Committees.
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Tax risk monitoring system

Each of HSBC France’s subsidiaries, directly covered
by regulation 97-02, prepares tax certificates half yearly
for itself and for the companies that it controls.

On the basis of these certificates, HSBC France’s
Head of Tax draws up a half-yearly general certificate
on the Tax Function’s permanent control.

The whole of this framework is effective and a
detailed description of it is given in a regularly updated
circular.

IT Systems Risk

Missions and scope

HSBC France’s IT Function is divided between
production IT (IT Operations — ITO) and development
IT (Software Delivery — SWD). Their main missions
are to:

— respond to requests from internal partners, integrating
and giving preference, in France, to the HSBC Group
systems and solutions;

— provide internal partners with the level of reliability
that they are entitled to expect given HSBC France’s
market position;

— help implement the HSBC Group’s projects and
services.

These missions are supported by the Change
Delivery, Quality, Change Management, Security and
Fraud, Purchasing and HR Functions, and also fall
within the scope of IT risk supervision.

The missions of the IT Function are covered by the
following HSBC Group manuals:

— Group Standard Manual (GSM): 10.6 Information
Technology;

— Functional Instruction Manual (FIM IT).

The IT risk function aims to implement an IT risk
reduction strategy that is consistent with the informa-
tion system strategy. This strategy also aims to meet
the information system’s confidentiality, integrity and
availability requirements with respect to the bank’s
business lines. IT risk management often involves
standard arrangements such as the IT Recovery Plan
(IRP), data back-up and the Business Recovery Plan
(BRP). However, it is also more extensive, since it
requires implementation of the HSBC Group’s risk
assessment methodology, which is handled in France
by the Internal Control and Operational Risks
Department (DCIRO), and the preparation of a risk
management plan commensurate with the potential
financial damage.



Some risks are managed through the Business
Recovery Plan and the IT Recovery Plan, but the issues
involved in any IT organisation mean that other risks
need to be managed, such as:

— failure to comply with legal obligations;
— human and programming errors;

— loss of expertise relating to projects and/or
technologies;

— unavailability of the information system when
new developments or new third-party solutions
are implemented;

— system and/or code vulnerabilities;

— outsourcing of sensitive functions and processes;
— loss of or damage to audit trails;

— failure of key suppliers in the regulatory sense;

— internal or external fraud.

The IT Function’s permanent control system

The IT Function’s permanent control unit is part of
Internal Control, which itself reports to the General
Secretariat of HSBC Technology and Services (HTS).

The identification of all potential risks and control
objectives in the IT Function complies with the Cobit
method. Under this method, the information system is
mapped on the basis of 34 IT processes. This mapping
is jointly approved by the Chief Operations Officer
of HTS and the Chief Risk Officer of HSBC France,
and is revised annually. As part of this organisation,
the IT Function’s permanent control unit lists IT risks
and co-ordinates the key controls required to manage
each risk, with the support of departmental managers,
who remain responsible for first-level controls on opera-
tional processes and who must apply the key controls
identified.

The IT Function’s permanent control information
(results of control reviews, progress with the control
plan, change in risk reviews and control assessments,
any failures and remedial actions taken) are presented
monthly to HTS’ governance body (Comex) and
quarterly to the IT risk function’s governance body
(HTS ORIC IT Committee). Permanent control work
and results are also reported monthly in the Risk
Management Meeting (RMM) and quarterly in central
ORIC Committee meetings.

To comply with the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the
HSBC Group has set up a permanent control docu-
mentation and assessment framework, co-ordinated by
the Finance Department, relating to the IT processes
involved in preparing financial statements.

Risk monitoring

The IT risk function prepares a control plan on an
annual basis. This plan sets out the key control monito-
ring activities that are performed annually. To ensure
that it remains relevant, it is reviewed and updated on an
ongoing basis depending on changes in the IT Function.

The results of risk assessments and controls form
the basis of the annual control plan. It is approved
annually through an appropriate governance procedure,
validated by HTS’ Head of permanent control, General
Secretariat and management.

Any major IT problem identified through control
monitoring is reported to HTS’ permanent control
management and HSBC France’s permanent control
supervision department (DCIRO).

Information security policy

The information security policy includes information
both in electronic and paper format, and must cover
technological, organisational and human risks.

Risks relating to information security are a central
concern of the HSBC Group and HSBC in France.
To reduce risks in this area, numerous directives have
been adopted and issued to all HSBC Group entities
since 2009.

The security measures applicable within the
HSBC Group are laid out in a set of standards, made up
of various documents such as the Functional Instruction
Manuals (FIM) and the Security Secondary Standards.
These standards apply to all HSBC France employees
and are based on industry best practice, unless they are
more restrictive. Each entity, business or department
is responsible for applying the standards and incorpo-
rating them into the everyday work of their employees.

Information system security is the responsibility of
the Chief Technology and Services Officer (CTSO), who
is a member of the Executive Committee and Head of
the HSBC Technology & Services (HTS) Department.
The CTSO is supported by work done by the dedicated
Information Security Risk (ISR) team.

ISR’s objectives are particularly to monitor the data
security risks borne by the bank, to reduce security risks
to an acceptable and/or accepted level by the Senior
Management (notion of risk appetite), to safeguard
the HSBC brand and its reputation, to minimise losses
arising from the security incidents, to ensure that secu-
rity measures are consistent throughout all entities.

To achieve these objectives, it is necessary to lay
down the data security requirements in local poli-
cies and procedures, to ensure that everyone knows
the data security requirements and that the business
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lines incorporate the data security requirements in
their day-to-day work, to co-ordinate the activities of
Business Information Risk Officers (BIRO), who are the
business-line representatives of ISR and are tasked with
implementing security policies within business lines by
deploying secondary lines of defences for ensuring that
the bank is compliant with the HSBC Group’s safety
standards and, finally, to provide “expert” assistance
on ISR matters to all entities.

The various ISR activities are intended to ensure the
integrity and confidentiality of information belonging
to HSBC and its clients:

— management of accounts allowing users to access
the bank’s applications and operating systems, and
the password management policy;

— application security, to ensure that applications
used within the company have been developed in
accordance with the rules and comply with the bank’s
security policies;

— Dbusiness-line controls, to ensure that business lines
comply with Group policy regarding the treatment
of sensitive data, supported by BIROs;

— infrastructure security, involving penetration tests
and work to ensure the security level of the bank’s
technical infrastructure;

— risks relating to service providers, involving checks
that the services HSBC entrusts to certain partners
are performed with the required level of safety;

— incidents and threats, involving work to manage
threats within HSBC France and any security inci-
dents, including the preparation and monitoring of
remedial action plans;

— communication and training, involving the prepara-
tion of annual communication and training plans
and their implementation.

Fraud prevention

Within the Security and Fraud Risk (SFR), the anti-
fraud unit’s main task is to ensure that the measures
for protecting the group against internal and external
fraud are comprehensive, efficient and appropriate.

This involves:

— preventative action, incorporating special anti-fraud
controls into procedures identified as sensitive to
the risk of fraud;

— detection work, using software or reports for
detecting fraud;

— investigation or enquiry work where internal or
external fraud is identified.
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In terms of governance, fraud prevention requires
coordination between all parties involved: businesses,
internal control and operational risk management
teams, Compliance, Credit and Human Resources.
For this purpose, a SFR representative sits in on all
business-line ORIC Committee meetings. A Major
Risk Committee meets twice yearly, and these meetings
include presentations of anti-fraud measures anticipated
and implemented.

As regards frauds designated as major, there is
a fraud response group that meets in exceptional
circumstances, such as in the event of internal fraud
or targeted attacks on HSBC France client Internet
platforms.

Amongst the activities carried out regularly within
the unit are:

— involvement at an early stage in installing systems
and designing processes to cut down vulnerability
to fraud;

— making employees and clients more aware of fraud;

— analysing trends in fraud and the ways in which
it is carried out, as well as gathering information;

— investigations on the basis of reports received, alerts
generated by systems or other detection methods;

— funds recovery actions;
— support in instigating legal proceedings;

— monitoring corrective actions taken on detecting
a fraud.

Amongst the priority areas covered within this unit
are systems, procedures and controls relating to:

— recruitment of permanent or temporary employees,
including service providers;

— client identification and authentication, whatever
the service channel: Internet, branches, call centres,
mobiles;

— the collection and update of sensitive customer
information in databases;

— instructions in connection with means of payment;

— opening accounts by means of any of the service
channels, in cooperation with Compliance and
Credit Risk Departments;

— the existence of the segregation of duties principle
and of traceability of transactions to deter internal
frauds by whatever process.

In 2011, the focus was on the prevention and
detection of Internet frauds (viruses or remote account
access), with the adoption of software allowing high-
level surveillance of HSBC France clients’ connections.



Rogue trading and counterparty fraud are covered
by the Global Banking and Markets control units and
therefore do not fall directly within the anti-fraud unit
remit. Instead, it becomes involved at the stage of inves-
tigation when an internal fraud has been detected or is
suspected in connection with counterparty risk.

2011 cost of fraud report

The total for internal and external frauds (excluding
bank cards) represents around 10 per cent of the total
of typical operational losses, i.e. EUR 2.4 million. This
total has been fairly stable for three years.

The number of cases in the year was around 1,000,
of which 250 were frauds and 750 attempted frauds.

Frauds carried out by customers

These include “credit” frauds, defined as any deliberate
attempts by clients to mislead the bank: taking out
loans to repay other loans, drawing funds after paying
in cheques or bills that are returned unpaid, and loans
obtained through false documentation.

In 2011, these frauds represented around 75 per cent
of the total by amount.

External frauds

These are frauds committed by third parties against
customers’ accounts or against the bank: opening an
account with identity dissimulation, identity theft
or false documentation, presenting falsified or fake
cheques, fake payment transfers.

In 2011, these frauds represented around 20 per
cent by amount.

The Internet service channel, in particular distance
banking, is considered high risk in terms of fraud;
consequently, the anti-fraud unit is very much involved
in introducing new customer authentication systems
and in controlling Internet fraud.

Internal frauds

These are frauds committed by employees with or
without outside complicity, including frauds committed
by HSBC service providers and HSBC temporary staff.

In 2011, these frauds represented around 5 per cent
by amount. In general, HSBC France sees one to two
large internal frauds per year. 2011 was no exception.

Business continuity

The Recovery Plan

The purpose of the Business Recovery Plan (BRP)
is to ensure that business can carry on or continue
to run at the minimum level considered necessary to
safeguard the interests of the business, its employees
and its customers, in the event of a major disaster or
disruption likely to have a significant impact on the

business of HSBC France and/or of its subsidiaries,
or to produce a significant deterioration in the image
of the business.

The HSBC Group’s Operations FIM (Functional
Instruction Manual) specifies: “Plans to ensure an
appropriate response to major incidents must be in place.
They must set out the measures that the major incident
committees, the crisis committees and the key individuals
must take, both to deal with the immediate crisis and
to oversee the implementation of recovery plans.

A number of events might upset normal working
conditions. Many of them have foreseeable impacts:
understanding them contributes to designing responses
that could contribute to a rapid resumption of business.”

The FIM puts forward a number of scenarios which
closely match those suggested within the French banking
industry groups (Fédération bancaire frangaise (FBF) —
Bangque de France — robustness group). These various
scenarios have therefore been used to analyse the impact
of the HSBC France Business Recovery Plans.

The list of potential incidents covered by the FIM
includes:

— natural disasters — earthquakes, hurricanes and floods;

— disasters of human origin — buildings must comply
with the HSBC Group health, safety and fire standards,
helping reduce fire risk. Evacuation procedures
must be worked out, publicised and tested regularly;

— contagious diseases — for example, SARS and flu
pandemics;

— terrorist attacks — producing explosions in buildings,
designed to attract attention or to cause massive
damage;

— power cuts — sporadic, limited to particular buildings,
or systemic;

— transport problems — prepare plans in advance
when employee transport is critical to carry out
the business;

— fuel strikes — impact on emergency generators;

— kidnapping and hostage taking — special procedures
should be devised for dealing with incidents of this type.

Plans covering major incidents should cover a building,
a city or even an entire country. They are mandatory
wherever HSBC has a significant presence.

HSBC France’s Business Recovery Plans cover the
following FBF scenarios in particular:

— once in a hundred year events;

— accidents, nuclear, radio, biological, and chemical
attacks;

health risks;
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— multiple bomb attacks;

— widespread electricity breakdown;
— general transport strike;

— service provider failure;

— cyber attack.

The HSBC Group standards (GSM section 10.5
and Operations FIM) provide that each department
or entity must have a business recovery plan which is
kept updated and which is tested at least annually (more
frequently in the event of major changes). The plan
must describe how normal activity is to be resumed
after a major incident.

Regulation 97-02 requires that each main establish-
ment should lay down a business recovery plan which
should be updated and should be tested at least once
a year.

Because of the size of HSBC in France and the large
number of its geographical locations and businesses to
be covered, each business, department and subsidiary,
has prepared a Business Recovery Plan appropriate to
its business according to its assessment of the risk of
the unavailability of a property and also of the absence
of all or some of its employees.

Within each of the units, depending on their size, a
Business Recovery Plan coordinator is appointed. He
is responsible for the detailed assessment or control,
drafting and updating of the Business Recovery Plan.
He arranges and carries out technical resources and the
annual tests. He checks the preparation of, or prepares,
areport on the tests and initiates any process or change
or correction needed.

A central structure for organising and managing
these plans (RPCA), located within the Security
Department, ensures that the exercise is comprehensive,
that the plans are held centrally so as to be accessible
by the various departments involved in implementing
them, and that the system is consistent throughout.
This central structure is responsible for organising
business recovery co-ordination committee meetings
and for communicating about organisational, technical
and testing strategies.

All important documents, the detailed Business
Recovery Plans for departments and subsidiaries,
and the necessary technical documents are held in a
central “documents database”, which can be accessed by
authorised employees from all the company’s locations.

The Major Incident Group

The activation of Business Recovery Plans is based on
asystem located at the level of the HSBC France group
Senior Management called GIM (Groupe Incident
Majeur).
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GIM is made up of around twelve operational
managers from the various functions throughout the
group needed to manage a major incident or crisis
(Communication — Human Resources — Property —
Information systems — Markets — Operations — Security —
Logistics).

This committee is chaired by the Chief Executive
Officer of HSBC France and assisted by four special
workgroups (Communication — Human Resources —
Property and Information systems — Business Recovery).
It is activated by an escalating alert process initiated
from a security control station (Technical control post:
operational 24/24 —7/7) and if necessary after evaluation,
triggers all or part of the Business Recovery Plan.

Emergency measures are laid down for managing an
incident from the time it occurs to protect people and
communications and to safeguard and restore property.

The detailed structure of GIM and its workgroups,
the principles and structure established, the description
of the contacts and the escalation process, the contact
details of those involved, and the “reflex” files to be
implemented in case of activation are contained in a
reference document called MIM (Major Incident
Manual) which is continuously updated by the
HSBC France group business recovery manager. This
manual together with a reference card (major incident
card) are provided regularly to the members of the
crisis system.

The resources and fallback site

HSBC France Management have approved an internal-
fallback site solution and authorised the resources for
implementing it.

The main special fallback site, located in a Parisian
suburb, is fitted with shared, general-use workstations,
as well as trading stations.

This secure site is opened and made accessible to
personnel on the decision of GIM at the request of
business lines, validated by the RPCA in the event
of a transport strike or during programmed tests. It
resembles a normal group operations site and is made
up of a number of open plan office areas together with
the necessary technical resources (computer terminals,
telephones, printers, faxes and special equipment —
scanners, specialist readers) to continue carrying out
the business activities decided upon in the appendices
of the Business Recovery Plans.

In the event of a crisis, priority will be given to
Markets, Asset Management, bank transactions
processing and non-production IT facilities managed
by the Information Systems Security Plan (PSI).

All essential activities are covered by Business
Recovery Plans.



Human Resources

Human resources risk management

and control system

HSBC France’s Human Resources Department is
responsible for the permanent control of the Human
Resources (HR) risk of the HSBC France group. For
this purpose, it has mapped the function’s risks to serve
as a basis for the business lines and other risk functions
in preparing their own risk maps in terms of risks arising
from Human Resources.

This mapping includes the risks borne by the depart-
ment itself. The document is updated at least once a
year and is used in support of the annual control plan.

The internal controller also relies on risk indicators
(People Risk Heat Map), which are distributed monthly
at the Risk Management Meeting.

The People Risk Committee was set up in 2009. It meets
quarterly to review the continuing appropriateness of
the permanent control system of the Human Resources
risk function. The members of this committee, other
than the main Heads of HSBC France’s Human
Resources Department, are the Heads of HSBC France’s
subsidiaries’ Human Resources Departments and the
Head of the HR Operations Department, which has
formed part of HTS since January 2011.

The Committee reviews progress on points previously
put forward for improvement, the results of controls
and new plans of action arising from them. It approves
the due diligence and results of post-implementation
reviews of new processes or products. It reports on its
activities to the HSBC France group ORIC Committee.

The committees

Role of the HSBC France People Committee

The purpose of the People Committee is to enable the
main HSBC France Senior Managers (CEO, Deputy
CEO in charge of Global Banking and Markets,
Deputy CEO in charge of risks, and the Head of
Human Resources), on a monthly basis, to tackle all
Human Resources issues of strategic importance, in
accordance with the HSBC Group HR policy and
developments in it. On the subject of compensation,
the People Committee carries out various roles both
on the overall and individual aspects.

Compensation policy
It examines the main thrust of the compensation policy
put forward by HR for France and approves it.

It ensures that this policy fits in with the general
principles of the compensation policy set out by the
HSBC Group for all of its subsidiaries, in accordance
with the specific directives set by the global business lines.

It gives its opinion on whether this policy complies
with local industry standards and the recommendations
of the French bank supervisory bodies (Autorité de
controle prudentiel, Autorité des Marchés Financiers,
Fédération Bancaire Frangaise).

Variable compensation arrangements

It checks that all variable compensation arrangements
in place in the bank’s various businesses are in line
with the general principles set out in the compensation
policy for France, the HSBC Group and the worldwide
business lines and comply with the requirements of the
supervisory bodies.

It reviews the variable compensation packages
awarded either locally or by worldwide business lines
to French staff on the basis of the performance of
each business line, while taking risk and compliance
into account.

It approves the structure of these packages, i.e.
the split between fixed and variable salary, between
immediate compensation and deferred compensation
in application of the HSBC Group rules, particularly
in connection with deferred compensation and local
industry standards on the subject.

Individual awards

It reviews and approves the consistency of remuneration
of population covered by the order of 13 December
2010 (except for the members of the People Committee)
before submitting them to the appropriate HSBC Group
decision-making bodies.

It reviews the business’ 20 highest earners (except
the members of the People Committee) and also the
compensation of the CEOs of the Private Bank and
the Asset Management subsidiaries in conjunction
with the HSBC Group’s decision-making bodies and
the worldwide business lines.

It ensures that proposed individual compensation
packages take account of any individual failures to
meet the bank’s credit risk, compliance and reputation
criteria.

At the end of the meeting, the Committee prepares
a summary of the decisions taken on compensation.
This summary is presented at the Nomination and
Remuneration Committee of the Board of Directors
that follows the “People Committee™.

Role of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee
On the basis of a summary produced by the People
Committee, the Nomination and Remuneration
Committee gives its opinion on the bank’s compensation
policies and practices, ensuring they are consistent with the
HSBC Group policy and that they comply with applicable
local standards. It also ensures that risk management and
compliance issues are taken into account.
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Its scope of responsibility covers all compensation
policies and practices in place within the company,
with a more in-depth review of market professionals
and Executive Directors.

Role of the Risk and Compliance Functions

as regards remuneration policies

The Risk and Compliance Functions are, in accordance
with the HSBC Group rules (Functional Instruction
Manual - FIM and Group Standards Manual - GSM)
referred to for advice on laying down compensation poli-
cies and introducing new variable compensation systems.

Since 2009, situations of failure of compliance and
infringements of internal rules of procedure, identified
by the Risk and Compliance Functions, have been taken
into account when awarding variable compensation.

To strengthen the Risk and Compliance Functions,
throughout the year and especially during the annual
salary review process when individual variable compen-
sation is decided, certain changes were made in 2010.

On a practical level, these functions are responsible,
in their respective fields of operation, for:

— listing, throughout the year, all instances of non-
adherence to compliance rules and/or rules of inter-
nal procedure and/or rules concerning risk;

— notifying the cases listed to the direct manager and
to the manager of the business line involved or to his
deputy and to HSBC France’s Head of Compliance;

— advising the HR managers involved of cases observed
that are likely to lead to disciplinary proceedings;

— listing and summarising all problems of breaches of
compliance regulations and/or internal procedures
and/or risk procedures and notifying them to the
Head of the Risk Function;

— keeping a record of each of the breaches and any
resolution of them;

— if necessary, providing feedback to management for
possibly making changes to the “balanced scorecard”
of the employees involved in the breaches.

Especially during the salary review process, the Head
of Compliance must take part in meetings organised by
the HR Department in the presence of the managers
concerned and the Deputy CEO in charge of risks,
in order to assess the severity of cases on the basis of
information reported by risk functions and the business
line’s summary of that information.

As regards the most significant cases of non-compliance
with rules and/or internal procedures, and/or risks as
identified during the year, managers and the Deputy
CEO in charge of risks must make decisions about:

— the impact (significant, marginal or nil) on the variable
compensation of the employees concerned,
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— whether the “clawback” rule needs to be applied,
cancelling some or all previously awarded shares,
depending on the severity of the event.

After these decisions, the HR Department must
certify that the managers concerned and HR have made
any required adjustments to the variable compensation
of the employee concerned.

If the proposed variable compensation requires
it (above a certain threshold), risk functions may be
asked to contribute to the preparation of a business
case setting out the compliance breach and/or internal
rule breach and its impact on variable compensation.

The Head of Human Resources notifies the People
Committee of the list of decisions giving a summary of
the individual and/or group behaviour that breached
internal rules in terms of risk or compliance.

Dependency

HSBC France is not dependent on any patents, licences
or industrial, commercial and financial supply contracts.

Insurance and risk coverage

The HSBC Group in France is covered by the main
global insurance programmes taken out by HSBC
Holdings plc in London regarding the coverage of the
major risks (fraud, professional liability, directors’ and
officers’ liability).

As regards the specific insurance requirements of its
operations and in compliance with French regulations,
HSBC France organises local insurance programmes
centrally, via its Insurance Department, on behalf of the
HSBC Group in France. In particular, insurance is used
to cover professional liability relating to regulated activi-
ties, public liability, banking risks and the fleet of cars.

Generally, the levels of coverage, retentions and
excesses are:

— 1in line with insurance market conditions, business
areas, practice and legislation;

— appropriate to the value of the assets and the poten-
tial impact on the balance sheets of HSBC France
and HSBC Holdings plc.

The total amount of insurance premiums paid in
2011 represented 0.35 per cent of the net operating
income of the HSBC France group.

Most of the programmes, notably international,
involve the participation of an HSBC Group captive
reinsurance subsidiary.

Broker, insurance and expert partners are chosen in
accordance with a strict selection and solvency super-
vision policy, established and controlled by HSBC
Insurance Holdings plc.
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HSBC France group

(in millions of euros) 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
Profit beforetax .........cooviiininnen.. 59 512 406 1,744 1,051
Profit attributable to shareholders............. 123 454 347 1,764 975
Profit before tax for the HSBC Group’s

operationsinFrance' ................ ... ... 191 628 548 1,853 905

At 31 December

Shareholders’ funds ......................... 4,821 4,832 5,060 5,228 5,064
Loans and advances to customers and banks .. 82,984 95,291 80,485 78,556 88,279
Customers’ accounts and deposits by banks . .. 75,234 86,055 90,373 95,927 93,083
Totalassets. ... 221,390 210,836 213,444 266,025 198,627
Number of employees (full-time equivalents) .. 10,030 10,121 10,350 10,886 14,279
Capitalratios ...
Total capital?. ... 10.7% 12.0% 12.2% 9.6% 9.8%
TierOnecapital?........... ... .. oot 10.7% 12.1% 12.2% 9.5% 8.8%
Cost efficiency ratio. ..., 90.6% 73.0% 73.9% 48.5% 64.3%
The financial highlights are influenced by changes Profit attribuable to Shareholders (in millions of euros)
in the group structure over the five years. The most 1,800 123 454 347 1,764 975
significant changes are as follows: 1500
— 1in 2007: disposal of the participation in HSBC 1,200
Private Banking Holdings (Suisse) SA to HSBC 900
Europe (Netherlands) BV. Acquisition of 50.01 per 600 [ |
cent of the share capital of Erisa and Erisa IARD e
and transfer of these two entities to HSBC Bank 300 — — —
plc Paris Branch; 0
201 2010 2009 2008 2007
— in 2008: disposal by HSBC France of its seven
regional banking subsidiaries; Cost efficiency ratio
— in 2009: disposal by HSBC France of its equity tory 905% 72.0% 73.9% 28.5% 04.3%
derivatives business to HSBC Bank plc Paris Branch; 80%
— in 2010: disposal by HSBC France of HSBC 60% [ | [ | B
Securities Services (France) to CACEIS. o — — -
— in 2011: disposal by Sinopia Asset Management of 20% — — — —
Sinopia Asset Management (Asia Pacific) Limited | || | |
to HSBC Global Asset Management (Hong Kong) 0%
Limited and Sinopia Asset Management (UK) 20m 2010 2009 2008 2007
Limited to HSBC Global Asset Management (UK)
Limited. Disposal by HSBC Private Bank France Shareholders’ funds (in millions of euros)
of LGI to HSBC Private Bank (Luxembourg) SA. 6000 4821 4,832 5.060 5,228 5,064
5,000 - - )
4,000 — — —_— _— I
3,000 | || | | |
2,000 —— | —— —— |
1,000 | | _— _—
0
201 2010 2009 2008 2007

* Published consolidated financial information — HSBC France legal perimeter. In accordance with IFRS as endorsed by the EU.

1 The contribution of France to the results of the HSBC Group’s operations, includes:

— the HSBC France group, including the results of entities legally owned by HSBC France but located outside France (mainly Asset Management businesses held
abroad, CMSL in the United Kingdom), that is to say the legal scope in its entirety, and also the Paris branch of HSBC Bank plc, which is engaged in equity
derivative activities, as well as HSBC Assurances Vie (France) and HSBC Assurances IARD (France), to the exclusion of the costs of funding and the debt on
acquisition recognised by HSBC Bank plc Paris Branch;

- dynamic money market funds in which the HSBC France group has a controlling interest, consolidated since the 1st quarter of 2008.

2 Capital ratios under Basel | until 2007 and under Basel Il from 2008.
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Financial highlights (continued)

HSBC France is rated on its financial performance by three main agencies: Standard & Poor’s, Moody’s and Fitch.

Standard & Poor’s

Moody’s

Fitch

Long-term rating.
Rating revised on

Rating confirmedon ........ ... .. ...l

Outlook .........

Outlook confirmedon............................

Short-term rating
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AA-

29 November 2011
Stable

29 November 2011
A-1+

Aa3

29 August 2011
Negative

29 August 2011
P-1

AA

9 November 2011
Stable

9 November 2011
F1+



HSBC FRANCE

Consolidated financial statements

Consolidated income statement for the year ended 31 December 2011

(in millions of euros) Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
[ =T (=13 A oo o 2 1= 7 2,052 1,671
INtEreSt EXPENSE . . oo ittt e (1,184) (806)
Netinterest inCome . ... .. i e e 868 865
FeB INCOME . . e 1,014 1,004
B BXPBNSE . .ottt it e e (245) (253)
Netfee inCome . .. .. o e 769 751
Trading INCOME. . .o\ttt ettt e e e e et et et (61) 455
Net income from financial instruments designated at fairvalue............... 120 25
Gains less losses from financial investments............... ... ... ... ... ... 52 59
Dividend inCome ... ... it e 6 6
Other operating iNnCoMe . . ...t i et e et et e et 27 188
Total operating income before loan impairment (charges)/release

and other credit risk provisions .. ....... .. ... ... . e 1,781 2,349
Loan impairment charges and other credit risk provisions ................... (109) (122)
Net operatingincome. . ... ... ... .. i e 4 1,672 2,227
Employee compensation and benefits. . ......... ... ... . i i i 5 (998) (1,039)
General and administrative eXpenses .. .......ouuuitiiieine it (558) (615)
Depreciation of property, plantand equipment . ............ ... ..., 18 (49) (52)
Amortisation of intangible assets and impairment of goodwill. ............... 17 (8) (9)
Total operating EXPeNSeS . . . . ... oottt (1,613) (1,715)
Operating profit . . ... ... . i i i e e e 59 512
Share of profit in associates and jointventures............... ... ... ... - -
Profitbefore tax .. ... ... .. ... . e 59 512
B0 Q=2 o 1= 1=1= 7 65 (57)
Net profit of discontinued operations. . .......... ... i - -
Profitforthe period . ......... .. .. .. i e 124 455
Profit attributable to shareholders of the parent company.................... 123 454
Profit attributable to non-controlling interests . ............................. 1 1
(in euros)
Basic earnings perordinary share ........... ... .. i i 9 1.83 6.73
Diluted earnings per ordinary share. . ...ttt 9 1.83 6.73
Dividend perordinary share ......... .o i e 9 1.75 10.67
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Consolidated financial statements (continued)

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year ended 31 December 2011

(in millions of euros) 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Profit for the period .. ... e 124 455
Other comprehensive income
Available-for-sale investments:
— fair value gains/(losses) taken to equity . ........c.oiuiiiiinii i e (52) 81
- fair value gains/(losses) transferred to the income statement on disposal............ (64) (66)
- amounts transferred to/(from) the income statement

in respect of impairment loSSes ...ttt i e e e 5 5
NG OMIE TAXES & v vt ittt e ettt e et e e e e e e 41 (11)
Cash flow hedges:
— fair value gains/(losses) taken to equity ... ... ... 92 45
— fair value (gains)/losses transferred to income statement on disposal............... (25) 17
Bl [ TeTe) o Y= €= D= (26) (22)
Actuarial gains/(losses) on defined benefitplans. .......... ... .. .. o i (5) (4)
Exchange differences. .. ........ .. i e - 1
Other comprehensive income for the period, netoftax............................. (34) 46
Total comprehensive income fortheperiod ............... ... ... ... ... ... ... ... 920 501
Total comprehensive income for the year attributable to:
—shareholders of the parentcompany. . ......... .. i e 89 500
—non-controlling iNterestS . .. ..ot e e 1 1

90 501
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Consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2011

ASSETS

(in millions of euros) Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Cash and balances atcentralbanks . .................. ... .. ... ... 32 4,805 980
Items in the course of collection from other banks .................. 32 806 944
Trading @SSetS. . v vttt e e 12 39,013 53,979
Financial assets designated at fairvalue........................... 598 595
Derivatives ..ot e e e 13 82,738 53,616
Loans and advancesto banks ...........cotiiiiiiii i 28 29,705 37,346
Loans and advances to CUSTIOMErS . ... ittt iiiee e 28 53,279 57,945
Financial investments . ... ..ot e i e e 14 7518 2,588
Interests in associates and jointventures . ............... .. ... ..., 16 6 6
Goodwill and intangibleassets . ............ .. it 17 378 382
Property, plant and equipment ........ ... ... ... i, 18 265 233
(4 1= === =1 £ J 20 1,117 990
Deferred tax @SSets . ... ..uviii ittt it e 23 21 135
Prepayments and accruedincome ................ i, 946 1,092
Assets classified asheldforsale.............. ... .. ... .. i, 20 5 )
TOTAL ASSETS . ..o et e e i e e, 221,390 210,836
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

(in millions of euros) Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Liabilities

Deposits by banks . ....... .. 28 32,338 36,861
CUSTOMEBI @CCOUNTS . ..ttt ittt ittt ettt et ettt e 28 42,896 49,194
Items in the course of transmission to other banks.................. 32 757 851
Trading liabilities .. ...t e e 27 38,258 42,770
Financial liabilities designated at fairvalue. ........................ 21 5,527 5,616
DerivVatives . vt e e e 13 81,681 53,347
Debt securities iNiSSUE . .. oo v it i i e e 28 12,605 14,285
Retirement benefit liabilities .......... ... ..o i i i 5 17 106
Other liabilities . . ... e e e e 22 837 1,225
Current taxation . ..ot e e 25 20
Accruals and deferred income. .. ...t i e 1,215 1,453
Provisions for liabilitiesand charges . .................. ... o out, 24 97 62
Deferred tax liabilities .. .......... o i i 23 2 -
Subordinated liabilities. . ......... ... i i 26 166 166
TOTAL LIABILITIES. . . ... . e e et e et et e et 216,521 205,956
Equity

Calledupsharecapital ... i 31 337 337
Share premium account . . ... ..ottt 16 16
Other reserves and retained earnings . ............cooiiiiiinenn .. 4,468 4,479
TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY. ........... i 4,821 4,832
Non-controllinginterests ........... ... . i 48 48
TOTAL EQUITY ... e e e et et e et e s 4,869 4,880
Liabilities classified as heldforsale ............... ... ... ... .. ... 22 - -
TOTAL EQUITYAND LIABILITIES. . .. ... i 221,390 210,836
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Consolidated cash flow statement for the year ended 31 December 2011

(in millions of euros) Notes 31.12.2011 31.12.2010
Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before tax . ... ... e 59 512
Net profit on discontinued operations ........... ... ... oo, - -
—non-cash items included innet profit . ......... ... ... . i, 32 14 120
—change in operating @ssets . ...ttt s 32 17,215 13,857
—change in operating liabilities. ....... ... . i 32 (13,207) (2,339)
- change in assets/liabilities classified as held for sale (including cash flows). .. - -
- elimination of exchange differences ................ i, (278) (38)
- net (gain)/loss from investing activities ............ ... i (64) (215)
- share of profits in associates and jointventures...................couvn... - -
— dividends received from associates. .. ... e - -
—AX P . .t s 56 (160)
Net cash flows from operating activities............ ... ... . oL, 3,895 1,737

Cash flows (used in)/from investing activities

Purchase of financial investments. .......... ... .. . i (7,396) (1,083)
Proceeds from the sale of financial investments . ........................... 2,515 3,742

Purchase of property, plant and equipment ............. ... ... ... oL, (87) (52)
Proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment.................... (1) 447

Purchase of goodwill and intangibleassets ................... ... ... ...... (9) (6)
Net cash outflow from acquisition of and increase in stake of subsidiaries .. . ... - -
Net cash inflow from disposal of subsidiaries .............................. 13 2

Net cash outflow from acquisition of and increase in stake of associates. ... ... - -
Proceeds from disposal of associates ........... ..o - -
Net cash flows (used in)/from investing activities .. ......................... (4,965) 3,050

Cash flows (used in)/from financing activities..............................

Issue of ordinary share capital. . ........... oo i e - -
Net purchases of own shares. ...t i i i e - -

Increase in non-equity non-controllinginterests . ............... ..., - -

Subordinated loan capital issued . ....... ...t i e - -

Subordinated loan capital repaid . ... i e - -

Dividends paid to shareholders. ......... ... .. it (118) (720)
Dividends paid to non-controllinginterests ............ .. i, - -

Net cash flows (used in)/from financing activities........................... (118) (720)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents . .................... ... .. ... ..., (1,187) 14,069

Cash and cash equivalentsat 1January ...........coiiiiiiiiiiinnnn.n. 30,091 15,993

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents ............... 129 29

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December ................................ 29,033 30,091
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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1 Basis of preparation

a HSBC France has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”) as endorsed by the European Union (“EU”). IFRSs comprise accounting
standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and its predecessor body as well
as interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”) and
its predecessor body. EU-endorsed IFRSs may differ from IFRSs as issued by the IASB if, at any point in time,
new or amended IFRSs have not been endorsed by the EU. At 31 December 2011, there were no unendorsed
standards effective for the year ended 31 December 2011 affecting the consolidated financial statements at that
date, and there was no difference between IFRSs endorsed by the EU and IFRSs issued by the IASB in terms
of their application to HSBC France.

The consolidated financial statements of HSBC France are available upon request from the HSBC France
registered office at 103, avenue des Champs-Elysées — 75419 Paris Cedex 08 or on the website www.hsbc.fr.

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 22 February 2012.

During the year 2011, in addition to the above, the group adopted a number of standards and interpretations,
and amendments thereto which had an insignificant effect on these consolidated financial statements.

HSBC France has not used the option offered under IAS 39 amendment “Financial Instruments Recognition
and Measurement” (“IAS 39”) and IFRS 7 “Financial Instruments: Disclosures” (“IFRS 7”) — “Reclassification
of Financial Assets” (“Reclassification Amendment”). Indeed, the amendment to IAS 39 and to IFRS 7
“Reclassification of Financial Assets — Effective Date and Transition” which clarifies the effective date of the
Reclassification Amendment, has no effect on the consolidated financial statements of HSBC France.

b The HSBC France group’s (the “group”) consolidated financial statements consist of the financial statements
of HSBC France, its subsidiaries, HSBC France’s interests in jointly controlled entities and associates as at
31 December.

Acquisitions

Acquired subsidiaries are consolidated from the date at which control passes to HSBC France until the date on
which this control ends. As allowed under IFRS 1, HSBC France has opted not to restate business combinations
that took place before 1 January 2004, the date at which it adopted IFRS.

HSBC France’s acquisitions of subsidiaries are accounted for using the purchase method. The cost of an acquisi-
tion is recognised at fair value at the date on which HSBC France takes control, taking into account the costs
directly attributable to the acquisition. Identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities are recognised at
fair value at the acquisition date. The difference between the acquisition cost and fair value of the portion of
identifiable net assets attributable to HSBC France is recognised as goodwill if positive and immediately taken
to income if negative.

Consolidation methods

Companies controlled by the group are fully consolidated. Exclusive control over a subsidiary is determined
by the ability to govern the subsidiary’s financial and operating policies in order to benefit from its activities.
Control results from:

— the direct or indirect ownership of a majority of the subsidiary’s voting rights;

— the power to appoint, remove or gather a majority of members of the subsidiary’s Board of Directors or
equivalent governing bodies;

— the power to govern the financial and operating policies of the entity under a statute or an agreement.

The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered
when assessing whether an entity has the power to govern the financial and operating policies of another entity.

Jointly controlled companies are reported using the equity method. HSBC France has joint control over a
company when, as part of a contractual agreement, strategic financial and operating decisions relating to the
company’s activity require the unanimous consent of all the venturers sharing control.
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1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Companies over which HSBC France has significant influence are accounted for as associates. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating decisions of an entity without controlling it.
Significant influence is assumed if 20 per cent or more of an entity’s voting rights are held.

Lastly, HSBC France consolidates distinct legal entities created specifically to manage a transaction or a group
of similar transactions (“special purpose entities™), even if there is no capital link, provided that HSBC France
controls the entities in substance, based on the following criteria:

— the entity’s activities are being conducted on behalf of HSBC France, such that HSBC France benefits from
these activities;

— HSBC France has decision-making and managing powers to obtain the majority of benefits arising from
the entity’s ordinary activities. These powers include the ability to dissolve the entity, to change its charter
or Articles of Association and to veto proposed changes of the Special Purpose Entities’ (SPE) charter or
Atrticles of Association. These powers may have been delegated through an autopilot mechanism;

— HSBC France is able to obtain the majority of the benefits from the entity and may therefore be exposed to
risks arising from the entity’s activities;

— HSBC France retains the majority of the risks related to the entity in order to obtain benefits from its activity.

Elimination of internal transactions

All transactions internal to the HSBC France group are eliminated on consolidation.

Share of the results and reserves of joint ventures and associates

The consolidated financial statements include the attributable share of the results and reserves of joint ventures
and associates owed to HSBC France, based on financial statements updated not earlier than three months
prior to 31 December.

The preparation of financial information requires the use of estimates and assumptions about future conditions.
The use of available information and the application of judgement are inherent in the formation of estimates;
actual results in the future may differ from those reported.

Management believes that HSBC France’s critical accounting policies where judgement is necessarily applied
are those which relate to impairment of loans and advances, goodwill impairment, the valuation of financial
instruments, the impairment of available-for-sale financial assets and deferred tax assets.

In the opinion of management, all normal and recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation
of HSBC France’s net income, financial position and cash flows have been made.
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Future accounting developments

Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB and endorsed by the European Union (EU)

At 31 December 2011, a number of standards and interpretations, and amendments thereto, were issued by the
IASB, which had no effect on the group’s consolidated financial statements or the separate financial statements
of HSBC France as at 31 December 2011. Those which are expected to have a significant effect on the group’s
consolidated financial statements and the separate financial statements of HSBC France are discussed below.

Standards and Interpretations issued by the IASB but not endorsed by the European Union (EU)

* Standards applicable in 2013

In May 2011, the IASB issued IFRS 10 “Consolidated Financial Statements” (“IFRS 107), IFRS 11 “Joint
Arrangements” (“IFRS 11”) and IFRS 12 “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities” (“IFRS 12”). The standards
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013 with early adoption permitted. IFRSs 10
and 11 are to be applied retrospectively.



1 Basis of preparation (continued)

Under IFRS 10, there will be one approach for determining consolidation for all entities, based on the concept
of power, variability of returns and their linkage. This will replace the current approach which emphasises legal
control or exposure to risks and rewards, depending on the nature of the entity. IFRS 11 places more focus on
the investors’ rights and obligations than on structure of the arrangement, and introduces the concept of a joint
operation. IFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries, joint arrangements and associates and
introduces new requirements for unconsolidated structured entities. Based on HSBC France’s initial assessment,
IFRSs 10, 11 and 12 are not expected to have a material impact on the group’s financial statements.

In May 2011, the IASB also issued IFRS 13 “Fair Value Measurement” (“IFRS 13”). This standard is effective
for annual periods beginning on/or after 1 January 2013 with early adoption permitted. IFRS 13 is required to be
applied prospectively from the beginning of the first annual period in which it is applied. The disclosure require-
ments of IFRS 13 do not require comparative information to be provided for periods prior to initial application.

IFRS 13 establishes a single source of guidance for all fair value measurements required or permitted by IFRSs. The
standard clarifies the definition of fair value as an exit price, which is defined as a price at which an orderly transaction
to sell the asset or to transfer the liability would take place between market participants at the measurement date under
current market conditions, and enhances disclosures about fair value measurement. Based on HSBC France initial
assessment, [IFRS 13 is not expected to have a material impact on the group’s financial statement.

In June 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 19 “Employee Benefits” (“IAS 19 revised”). The revised
standard is effective for annual periods beginning on/or after 1 January 2013 with early adoption permitted. IAS 19
revised must be applied retrospectively. Based on HSBC France’s initial assessment, this particular amendment
of IAS 19 is not expected to have a material impact on the group’s financial statements.

In December 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IFRS 7 “Disclosures — Offsetting Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities” which requires the disclosures about the effect or potential effects of offsetting financial
assets and financial liabilities and related arrangements on an entity’s financial position. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on/or after 1 January 2013 and interim periods within those annual periods.
The amendments are required to be applied retrospectively.

Given how recently this standard was issued, it is currently impracticable to quantify the impact of these IFRSs
as at the date of publication of these financial statements.

» Standards applicable in 2014

In December 2011, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 32 “Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities”
which clarified the requirements for offsetting financial instruments and addressed inconsistencies in current
practice when applying the offsetting criteria in IAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on/or after 1 January 2014 with early adoption permitted and are
required to be applied retrospectively.

Given how recently this standard was issued, it is currently impracticable to quantify the impact of these IFRSs
as at the date of publication of these financial statements.

» Standards applicable in 2015

In November 2009, the IASB issued IFRS 9 “Financial Instruments” (“IFRS 9”) which introduced new require-
ments for the classification and measurement of financial assets. In October 2010, the IASB issued additions to
IFRS 9 relating to financial liabilities. Together, these changes represent the first phase in the IASB’s planned
replacement of IAS 39 “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement” (“IAS 39”) with a less complex
and improved standard for financial instruments.

Following the IASB’s decision, in December 2011, to defer the effective date, the standard is effective for annual
periods beginning on/or after 1 January 2015 with early adoption permitted. IFRS 9 is required to be applied
retrospectively but prior periods need not be restated.

The second and third phases in the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 will address the impairment of financial assets
measured at amortised cost and hedge accounting. The IASB did not finalise the replacement of IAS 39 by its stated
target of June 2011, and the IASB and the US Financial Accounting Standards Board have agreed to extend the
timetable beyond this date to permit further work and consultation with stakeholders, including reopening IFRS 9 to
address practice and other issues. The European Union is not expected to endorse IFRS 9 until the completed standard
is available. Therefore, HSBC France remains unable to provide a date by which it plans to apply IFRS 9 and it remains
impracticable to quantify the impact of IFRS 9 as at the date of publication of these consolidated financial statements.
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2 Principal accounting policies

a

Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments except those classified as held-for-trading
or designated at fair value (other than debt issued by HSBC France and related derivatives) are recognised in
“Interest income” and “Interest expense” in the income statement using the effective interest rates of the financial
assets or financial liabilities to which they relate.

The effective interest rate is the rate at inception that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts
through the expected life of the financial asset or financial liability or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to
the net carrying amount of the financial asset or financial liability. When calculating the effective interest rate,
HSBC France estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument but not future
credit losses. The calculation includes all amounts paid or received by HSBC France that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate, including transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts.

Interest on impaired financial assets is recognised at the original effective interest rate of the financial asset
applied to the carrying amount as reduced by any allowance for impairment.
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Non-interest income

Fee income

HSBC France earns fee income from a diverse range of services it provides to its customers. Fee income is
accounted for as follows:

— if the income is earned on the execution of a significant act, it is recognised when the significant act has been
completed (for example, fees arising from negotiating, or participating in the negotiation of, a transaction
for a third party, such as the arrangement for the acquisition of shares or other securities);

— if the income is earned as services are provided, it is recognised as the services are provided (for example,
asset management, portfolio and other management advisory and service fees);

— if the income is an integral part of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument, it is recognised as
an adjustment to the effective interest rate (for example, loan commitment fees) and recorded in “Interest
income” (see Note 2 a).

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established. This is the ex-dividend date for
equity securities.

Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value

Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value comprises all gains and losses from changes in
the fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss. Interest
income and expense and dividend income arising on those financial instruments are also included, except for
debt securities in issue and derivatives managed in conjunction with debt securities in issue. Interest on these
instruments is shown in “Net interest income”.

Trading income

Trading income comprises all gains and losses from changes in the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities held for trading, together with related interest income, expense and dividends.
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c Segment reporting

HSBC France mainly operates in France and manages its business through the following customer groups: Retail
Banking and Wealth Management (including Insurance and Asset Management), Commercial Banking, Global
Banking and Markets and Private Banking.

HSBC France’s operations include a number of support services and head office functions. The costs of these
functions are allocated to business lines, where it is appropriate, on a systematic and consistent basis.

The reporting of financial information by segment required by IFRS 8 is disclosed in Note 10.

d Determination of fair value

All financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value. The fair value of a financial instrument on initial
recognition is normally the transaction price, i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received. In certain
circumstances, however, the initial fair value may be based on current market transactions in the same instru-
ment, or on valuation techniques including only data from observable markets.

Subsequent to initial recognition, the fair values of financial instruments measured at fair value that are quoted
in active markets are based on bid prices for assets held or liabilities to be issued and offer prices for assets to
be acquired or liabilities held at the time. When independent prices are not available, fair values are determined
by using valuation techniques which refer to observable market data. These include comparison with similar
instruments where market observable prices exist, discounted cash flow analysis, option-pricing models and
other valuation techniques commonly used by market participants.

For certain derivatives, fair values may be determined in whole or in part using valuation techniques based on
assumptions that are not supported by prices from current market transactions or observable market data.

A number of factors such as bid-offer spread, credit profile and model uncertainty are taken into account, as
appropriate, when values are calculated using valuation techniques.

If the fair value of a financial asset measured at fair value becomes negative, it is recorded as a financial liability
until its fair value becomes positive, at which time it is recorded as a financial asset, or it is extinguished.

e Reclassification of financial assets

Non-derivative financial assets (other than those designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial
recognition) may be reclassified out of the fair value through profit or loss category in particular circumstances:

— financial assets that would have met the definition of loans and receivables at initial recognition (if the
financial asset had not been required to be classified as held for trading) may be reclassified out of the fair
value through profit or loss category if there is the intention and ability to hold the financial asset for the
foreseeable future or until maturity;

— financial assets (except financial assets that would have met the definition of loans and receivables) may be
reclassified out of the fair value through profit or loss category and into another category in rare circumstances.

When a financial asset is reclassified as described in the above circumstances, the financial asset is reclassified at
its fair value on the date of reclassification. Any gain or loss already recognised in the income statement is not
reversed. The fair value of the financial asset on the date of reclassification becomes its new cost or amortised
cost, as applicable.
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f

Loans and advances to banks and customers

Loans and advances to banks and customers include loans and advances originated by HSBC France, which are
not intended to be sold in the short term and have not been classified either as held for trading or designated at fair
value. Loans and advances are recognised when cash is advanced to borrowers and are derecognised when either
borrowers repay their obligations, or the loans are sold or written off or substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership are transferred. They are initially recorded at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction
costs and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less impairment losses.

For certain leveraged finance and syndicated lending activities, the group may commit to underwrite loans on
fixed contractual terms for specified periods of time, where the drawdown of the loan is contingent upon certain
future events outside the control of the group. Where the loan arising from the lending commitment is expected
to be held for trading, the commitment to lend is recorded as a trading derivative and measured at fair value
through profit and loss. On drawdown, the loan is classified as held for trading and measured at fair value through
profit and loss. Where it is not the group’s intention to trade the loan, a provision on the loan commitment is
only recorded where it is probable that the group will incur a loss. This may occur, for example, where a loss of
principal is probable or the interest rate charged on the loan is lower than the cost of funding. On inception of
the loan, the hold portion is recorded at its fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. However, where the initial fair value is lower than the cash amount advanced, the write
down is charged to the income statement. The write down will be recovered over the life of the loan, through the
recognition of interest income using the effective interest rate method, unless the loan becomes impaired. The
write down is recorded as a reduction to other operating income.
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Loan impairment

Losses for impaired loans are recognised promptly when there is objective evidence that impairment of a loan
or portfolio of loans has occurred. Impairment losses are calculated on individual loans and on loans assessed
collectively. Losses expected from future events, no matter how likely, are not recognised.

Individually assessed loans

Impairment losses on individually assessed accounts are determined by an evaluation of the exposures on a
case-by-case basis. HSBC France assesses at each balance-sheet date whether there is any objective evidence
that a loan is impaired.

In determining such impairment losses on individually assessed accounts, the following factors are considered:
— HSBC France’s aggregate exposure to the customer;

— the viability of the customer’s business model and capability to trade successfully out of financial difficulties
and generate sufficient cash flow to service their debt obligations;

— the likely dividend available on liquidation or bankruptcy;

— the extent of other creditors’ commitments ranking ahead of, or pari passu with, HSBC France and the
likelihood of other creditors continuing to support the company;

— the complexity of determining the aggregate amount and ranking of all creditor claims and the extent to
which legal and insurance uncertainties are evident;

— the amount and timing of expected receipts and recoveries;
— the realisable value of security (or other credit mitigants) and likelihood of successful repossession;
— the likely deduction of any costs involved in recovery of amounts outstanding;

— the ability of the borrower to obtain and make payments in the relevant foreign currency if loans are not in
local currency; and,

— where available, the secondary market price for the debt.
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Impairment loss is calculated by comparing the present value of the expected future cash flows, discounted
at the original effective interest rate of the loan, with its current carrying value, and the amount of any loss
is charged in the income statement. The carrying amount of impaired loans is reduced through the use of an
allowance account.

Collectively assessed loans

Where loans have been individually assessed and no evidence of loss has been identified, these loans are grouped
together on the basis of similar credit-risk characteristics for the purpose of calculating a collective impairment
loss. This loss covers loans that are impaired at the balance sheet date but which will not be individually identified
as such until some time in the future.

The collective impairment loss is determined after taking into account:

— historical loss experience in portfolios of similar risk characteristics (for example, by industry sector, loan
grade or product, etc.);

— the estimated period between a loss occurring and that loss being identified and evidenced by the establish-
ment of an allowance against the loss on an individual loan; and,

— management’s experienced judgement as to whether the current economic and credit conditions are such that
the actual level of inherent losses is likely to be greater or less than that suggested by historical experience.

The period between a loss occurring and its identification is estimated by local management for each portfolio.

Loan write-offs

Loans (and the related impairment allowance accounts) are normally written off, either partially or in full, when
there is no realistic prospect of recovery of these amounts and, for collateralised loans, when the proceeds from
realising the security have been received.

Reversals of impairment

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of an impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objec-
tively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously recognised impairment loss is
reversed to the extent it is now excessive by reducing the loan impairment allowance account. The amount of
any reversal is recognised in the income statement.

h Trading assets and trading liabilities

Treasury bills, debt securities, equity shares and short positions in securities which have been acquired or
incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term, or are part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that are managed together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking, are classified as held for trading. Such financial assets or financial liabilities
are recognised at trade date when HSBC France enters into contractual arrangements with counterparties to
purchase or sell securities, and are normally derecognised when either sold (assets) or extinguished (liabilities).
Measurement is initially at fair value, with transaction costs taken to the income statement. Subsequently, their
fair values are remeasured; all subsequent gains and losses from changes in the fair value of these assets and
liabilities, together with related interest income and expense and dividends, are recognised in the income state-
ment within “Trading income” as they arise.
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Financial instruments designated at fair value

A financial instrument, other than one held for trading, is classified in this category if it meets one or more
criteria set out below, and is so designated by management. HSBC France may designate financial instruments
at fair value where the designation:

— eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise from
measuring financial assets or financial liabilities or recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases;

— applies to a group of financial assets, financial liabilities or both that is managed and its performance evaluated
on a fair value basis and where information about that group of financial instruments is provided internally
on that basis to key management staff; or,

— relates to financial instruments containing one or more embedded derivatives that significantly modify the
cash flows resulting from those financial instruments.

The fair value designation, once made, is irrevocable. Designated financial assets and financial liabilities are recog-
nised at trade date when HSBC France enters into contractual arrangements with counterparties to purchase or
sell securities, and are normally derecognised when either sold (assets) or extinguished (liabilities). Measurement
is initially at fair value, with transaction costs taken to the income statement. Subsequently, the fair values are
remeasured and, except for interest payable on debt securities in issue designated at fair value, gains and losses
from changes therein are recognised in “Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value”.

Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of derivatives that are managed in conjunction with
designated financial assets or financial liabilities are also included in “Net income from financial instruments
designated at fair value”. Interest on these derivatives is also included in this line, except for interest on deriva-
tives managed with debt securities in issue designated at fair value, which is included in net interest income. The
amount of change during the period, and cumulatively, in the fair value of designated financial liabilities and
loans and receivables that is attributable to changes in their credit risk, is determined as the amount of change
in fair value that is not attributable to changes in market conditions.
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Financial investments

Treasury bills, debt securities and equity shares intended to be held on a continuing basis are classified as
available-for-sale securities unless designated at fair value (see Note 2 i) or classified as “held-to-maturity”.
Financial investments are recognised at trade date, when the Group enters into contractual arrangements with
counterparties to purchase securities, and are normally derecognised when either the transactions are sold or
the borrowers repay their obligations.

HSBC France did not hold any “held-to-maturity” investments in 2010 or 2011.

Available-for-sale securities are initially measured at fair value plus direct and incremental transaction costs.
They are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognised in equity in the “Available-
for-sale reserve” until the securities are either sold or impaired. On the sale of available-for-sale securities, gains
or losses held within equity are recycled through the income statement and classified as “Gains less losses from
financial investments”.

Interest income is recognised on such securities using the effective interest method, calculated over the asset’s
expected life. Where dated investment securities have been purchased at a premium or discount, these premiums
and discounts are recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate. Dividends are recognised in the
income statement when the right to receive payment has been established.

An assessment is made at each balance sheet date as to whether there is any objective evidence of impairment where
an adverse impact on estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of assets can be reliably estimated.

If an available-for-sale financial asset is determined to be impaired, the cumulative loss (measured as the dif-
ference between the acquisition cost and the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in the income statement) is removed from equity and recognised in the income statement
within “Loan impairment charges and other credit risk provisions” for debt instruments and within “Gains less
losses from financial investments” for equity instruments.
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If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale increases and the
increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in the income
statement, the impairment loss is reversed through the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in the
income statement on equity instruments are not reversed through the income statement until the sale of this
instrument.

Management is required to exercise judgement in determining whether there is objective evidence that an impair-
ment loss has occurred. Once an impairment has been identified, the amount of impairment is measured in
relation to the fair value of the asset.

The objective evidence required to determine whether an available-for-sale debt security is impaired comprises
evidence of the occurrence of a loss event, and evidence that the loss event results in a decrease in estimated
future cash flows. Where cash flows are readily determinable, a low level of judgement may be involved. Where
determination of estimated future cash flows requires consideration of a number of variables, some of which
may be unobservable in current market conditions, more significant judgement is required.

k Sale and repurchase agreements (including stock lending and borrowing)

When securities are sold subject to a commitment to repurchase them at a predetermined price (“repos”) or are
the subject of a stock lending agreement, they remain on the balance sheet and a liability is recorded in respect
of the consideration received. Conversely, securities purchased under analogous commitments to resell (“reverse
repos”) are not recognised on the balance sheet and the consideration paid is recorded in “Loans and advances
to banks” or “Loans and advances to customers” as appropriate. The difference between the sale and repurchase
price is treated as interest and recognised over the life of the agreement using the effective interest method.

Securities lending and borrowing transactions are generally secured, with collateral taking the form of securities
or cash advanced or received. The transfer of securities to counterparties is not normally reflected on the balance
sheet. Cash collateral advanced or received is recorded as an asset or a liability respectively.

Securities borrowed are not recognised on the balance sheet, unless control of the contractual rights that comprise
these securities is obtained and the securities are sold to third parties, in which case the purchase and sale are
recorded with the gain or loss included in “Trading income”, and the obligation to return them is recorded as a
trading liability and measured at fair value.

1 Derivatives and hedge accounting

Derivatives are recognised initially, and are subsequently remeasured, at fair value. Fair values are obtained from
quoted market prices in active markets, or by using valuation techniques, including recent market transactions,
where an active market does not exist. Valuation techniques include discounted cash flow models and option
pricing models as appropriate. In the normal course of business, the fair value of a derivative at initial recognition
is considered to be the transaction price (i.e. the fair value of the consideration given or received). However, in
certain circumstances the fair value of an instrument will be evidenced by comparison with other observable
current market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables include
only data from observable markets, including interest rate yield curves, option volatilities and currency rates.
When such evidence exists, HSBC France recognises a trading profit or loss on inception of the derivative. If
observable market data are not available, the initial increase in fair value indicated by the valuation model, but
based on unobservable inputs, is not recognised immediately in the income statement but is recognised over the
life of the transaction on an appropriate basis, or recognised in the income statement when the inputs become
observable, or when the transaction matures or is closed out.

Certain derivatives embedded in other financial instruments, such as the conversion option in a convertible bond,
are treated as separate derivatives when their economic characteristics and risks are not closely related to those
of the host contract, when the terms of the embedded derivative are the same as those of a stand-alone deriva-
tive, and the combined contract is not designated at fair value. These embedded derivatives are measured at fair
value with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement. Derivatives embedded in home purchase
savings products (Plan Epargne Logement/ Compte Epargne Logement) are some of the main embedded derivatives
identified by HSBC France, and have therefore been valued using a HSBC France specific model (see Note 13).
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All derivatives are classified as assets when their fair value is positive, or as liabilities when their fair value is
negative. Derivative assets and liabilities on different transactions are only netted if the transactions are with
the same counterparty, a legal right of set-off exists, and the cash flows are to be settled on the same date and
on a net basis.

The method of recognising the resulting fair value gains or losses depends on whether the derivative is held
for trading, or is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the risk being hedged. All gains
and losses from changes in the fair value of derivatives held for trading are recognised in the income statement.
Where derivatives are designated as hedges, HSBC France classifies them as derivatives as either: (i) hedges of
the change in fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or firm commitments (“fair value hedge”™); (ii) hedges
of the variability in highly probable future cash flows attributable to a recognised asset or liability, or a forecast
transaction (“cash flow hedge™); or (iii) hedges of net investments in a foreign operation (“net investment hedge”).
Hedge accounting is applied to derivatives designated as hedging instruments in a fair value, cash flow or net
investment hedge provided certain criteria are met.

Hedge accounting

Following the HSBC Group policy, HSBC France does not use the “carve out” arrangements contained in the
European regulation no. 2086/2004 in relation to the accounting for macro-hedging operations.

As required in IAS 39, HSBC France documents, at the inception of a hedging relationship, the relationship
between the hedging instruments and hedged items, as well as its risk management objective and strategy for
undertaking the hedge. Therefore it is also required to measure, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing
basis, whether the derivatives that are used in hedging transactions are highly effective. Interest on designated
qualifying hedges is included in “Net interest income”.

Fair value hedge

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedging instruments are
recorded in the income statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the asset or liability or group
thereof that are attributable to the hedged risk.

If the hedging relationship no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the cumulative adjustment to the
carrying amount of a hedged item for which the effective interest method is used is amortised to the income
statement over the residual period to maturity. Where the adjustment relates to the carrying amount of a hedged
equity security, this remains in retained earnings until the disposal of the equity security.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow
hedges are recognised in equity. Any gain or loss relating to an ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
the income statement.

Amounts accumulated in equity are recycled to the income statement in the periods in which the hedged item
will affect profit or loss. However, when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a
non-financial asset or a non-financial liability, the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred
from equity and included in the initial measurement of the cost of the asset or liability.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge account-
ing, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity until the forecast transaction is
ultimately recognised in the income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
cumulative gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately transferred to the income statement.
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Net investment hedge

Hedges of net investments in foreign operations are accounted for similarly to cash flow hedges. Any gain or
loss on the hedging instrument relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in equity; the gain
or loss relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement. Gains and losses
accumulated in equity are included in the income statement when the foreign operation is disposed.

Hedge effectiveness testing

To qualify for hedge accounting, IAS 39 requires the hedge to be highly effective. At the inception of the hedge
and throughout its life, each hedge must be expected to be highly effective (prospective effectiveness). Actual
effectiveness (retrospective effectiveness) must also be demonstrated on an ongoing basis.

The documentation of each hedging relationship sets out how the effectiveness of the hedge is assessed. The method
an HSBC France entity adopts for assessing hedge effectiveness will depend on its risk management strategy.

In assessing effectiveness, the changes in the fair value or the cash flows of the hedged item and the hedging
instrument must be expected to, or must almost fully, offset each other. For prospective effectiveness, the changes
in fair value or cash flows must be expected to offset each other in the range of 90 per cent to 110 per cent. For
actual effectiveness, the changes in fair value or cash flows must offset each other in the range of 80 per cent to
125 per cent for the hedge to be deemed effective.

Derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting

All gains and losses from changes in the fair value of any derivative that does not qualify for hedge accounting
are recognised immediately in the income statement. These gains and losses are reported in “Trading income”,
except where derivatives are managed in conjunction with financial instruments designated at fair value, in
which case gains and losses are reported in “Net income from financial instruments designated at fair value”.

m Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the assets have expired; or where
HSBC France has transferred its contractual rights to receive the cash flows of the financial assets and has trans-
ferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership; or where control is not retained. Financial liabilities
are derecognised when they are extinguished, i.e. when the obligation is discharged or cancelled or expired.

n  Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there
is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis,
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

0 Associates and joint ventures

Investments in associates and interests in joint ventures are initially stated at cost, including attributable goodwill,
and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in HSBC France’s share of net assets.

Unrealised gains on transactions between HSBC France and its associates and jointly controlled entities are
eliminated to the extent of HSBC France’s interest in the associate or joint venture. Unrealised losses are also
eliminated to the extent of HSBC France’s interest in the associate or joint venture unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
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Goodwill and intangible assets

Goodwill arises on business combinations, including the acquisition of subsidiaries, joint ventures or associates
when the cost of acquisition exceeds the fair value of HSBC France’s share of the identifiable net assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities acquired. By contrast, if HSBC France’s interest in the fair value of the identifiable
assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an acquired business is greater than the cost to acquire, the excess
is recognised immediately in the income statement.

Intangible assets are recognised separately from goodwill when they are separable or arise from contractual or
other legal rights, and their fair value can be measured reliably.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing, which is undertaken at the
lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. Impairment testing is performed
annually by comparing the present value of the expected future cash flows from a business with the carrying
value of its net assets, including attributable goodwill. Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment
losses, which are charged to the income statement.

Goodwill on acquisitions of joint ventures or associates is included in “Interests in associates and joint ventures”.

At the date of disposal of a business, attributable goodwill is included in HSBC France’s share of net assets in
the calculation of the gain or loss on disposal.

Intangible assets include computer software, trade names, customer lists, core deposit relationships and merchant
or other loan relationships. Intangible assets are subject to impairment review if there are events or changes in
circumstances that indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life, or are not yet ready for use, are tested for impairment annu-
ally. This impairment test may be performed at any time during an annual period, provided it is performed at
the same time every year. An intangible asset recognised during the current period is tested before the end of
the current annual period.

Intangible assets that have a finite useful life (between 3 and 5 years) are stated at cost less amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses and are amortised over their useful lives. Estimated useful life is the lower of
legal duration and expected economic life.
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Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings are stated at historical cost, or fair value at the date of transition to IFRS (“deemed cost™),
less any impairment losses and depreciation calculated to write off the assets as follows:

— land is not depreciated;
— acquisition-related expenses on buildings are expensed in the year in which they occur, as are preliminary costs;

— depreciation of buildings is calculated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives which are
generally between 25 and 75 years.

Equipment, fixtures and fittings (including equipment on operating leases where HSBC France is the lessor) are
stated at cost less any impairment losses and depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the
assets over their estimated useful lives, which are generally between 5 and 10 years. HSBC France holds certain
properties as investments to earn rentals or for capital appreciation, or both. Investment properties are included
in the balance sheet at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in the income statement in the period of
change. Fair values are determined by independent professional valuers who apply recognised valuation techniques.

Property, plant and equipment is subject to review for impairment if there are events or changes in circumstances
that indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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Finance and operating leases

Assets leased to customers under agreements which transfer substantially all the risks and rewards associated
with ownership, other than legal title, are classified as finance leases. Where HSBC France is a lessor under
finance leases, the amounts due under the leases, after deduction of unearned charges, are included in “Loans
and advances to banks” or “Loans and advances to customers” as appropriate. Finance income receivable is
recognised over the periods of the leases so as to give a constant rate of return on the net investment in the leases.

Where HSBC France is a lessee under finance leases, the leased assets are capitalised and included in “Property,
plant and equipment” and the corresponding liability to the lessor is included in “Other liabilities”. The finance
lease and corresponding liability are recognised initially at the fair value of the asset or, if lower, the present
value of the minimum lease payments. Finance charges payable are recognised over the periods of the leases
based on the interest rates implicit in the leases so as to give a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the liability.

All other leases are classified as operating leases. Where HSBC France is the lessor, the assets subject to the
operating leases are included in “Property, plant and equipment” and accounted for accordingly. Impairment
losses are recognised to the extent that the carrying value of equipment is impaired through residual values not
being fully recoverable. Where HSBC France is the lessee, the leased assets are not recognised on the balance
sheet. Rentals payable and receivable under operating leases are accounted for on a straight-line basis over the
periods of the leases and are included in “General and administrative expenses” and “Other operating income”
respectively.

Income tax

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current tax and deferred tax. Income tax is recognised
in the income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in shareholders’ equity,
in which case it is recognised in shareholders’ equity.

Current tax is the tax expected to be payable on the taxable profit for the year, calculated using tax rates enacted
or substantially enacted by the balance sheet date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous
years. Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when HSBC France intends to settle on a net basis and the
legal right to set off exists.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities in the
balance sheet and the amount attributed to such assets and liabilities for tax purposes. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences, and deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax is calculated using the tax rates expected to apply in the periods in which the assets will be realised
or the liabilities settled. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when they arise in the same tax reporting
group, relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority, and a legal right to set off exists in the entity.

Deferred tax relating to actuarial gains and losses on post-employment benefits is recognised directly in equity.
From 1 January 2005, deferred tax relating to fair value remeasurement of available-for-sale investments and
cash flow hedges, which are charged or credited directly to equity, is also credited or charged directly to equity
and is subsequently recognised in the income statement when the deferred fair value gain or loss is recognised
in the income statement.

In 2010, the French Tax “taxe professionnelle” was replaced by a new tax “contribution économique territoriale” (CET)
composed of the “cotisation fonciere des entreprises” (CFE) based on the rental value of taxable property, and the
“cotisation sur la valeur ajoutée des entreprises” (CVAE) corresponding to 1.5 per cent of added-value of the year.

The HSBC France group has treated the CVAE as income tax, in application of IAS 12. Deferred CVAE contri-
butions are accounted for on the basis of temporary differences between the book value of assets and liabilities
and their tax value from a CVAE standpoint.
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Pension and other post-retirement benefits

HSBC France operates a number of pension and other post-retirement benefit plans. These plans include both
defined benefit and defined contribution plans and various other retirement benefits such as post-retirement
health-care benefits.

The costs recognised for funding these defined benefit plans are determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method,
with annual actuarial valuations performed on each plan. Following the HSBC Group policy, HSBC France uses
the option offered by IAS 19 not to defer actuarial gains and losses on the balance sheet and to recognise them
directly in reserves, without being recognised in income. Past service costs are recognised immediately to the
extent the benefits are vested, and are otherwise recognised on a straight-line basis over the average period until
the benefits are vested. The current service costs and any past service costs, together with the expected return
on scheme assets less the unwinding of the discount on the scheme liabilities, are charged to operating expenses.

The net defined benefit liability recognised in the balance sheet represents the present value of the defined
benefit obligations adjusted for unrecognised past service costs and reduced by the fair value of plan assets. Any
resulting asset from this is limited to unrecognised past service costs plus the present value of available refunds
and reductions in future contributions to the plan. All cumulative actuarial gains and losses on defined benefit
plans have been recognised in equity at the date of transition to IFRS.

The cost of providing other post-retirement benefits such as health-care benefits are accounted for on the same
basis as defined benefit plans.

Payments to defined contribution plans and state-managed retirement benefi